ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11



CONTENTS

02 04 06

INTRODUCTION

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS
CEO's introduction
Chairman's overview
Technology
Foreword by the Minister of Science and

08
10
18
26
30
36
48
52
60

KNOWLEDGE DISSEMINATION	74
Journal articles	76
Books and book chapters	88
Intellectual property portfolio performance	
Patents granted	91
Invention disclosures	91
Technology packages	91
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	93
Corporate governance	94
Governance structure	98
CSIR Board members	99
CSIR Board committees	102
Report of the Audit and Risk Committee	105
•	

AUDIT REPORT Report of the Auditor-General	106 106
EXECUTIVE REPORT	108
Executive report	108
Priority areas:	
Building and transforming human capital	112
Strengthening the SET base and performing relevant R&D	113
Transferring technology and skilled	
human capital	116
Financial sustainability, good corporate	
governance and citizenship	117

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	12
Statements of comprehensive income	12
Statements of financial position	12
Statements of changes in equity	12
Statements of cash flows	12
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements	12
Addendum A: Interest in subsidiaries	16
DISCLOSURE OF EXPENDITURE RELATING TO THE 2010 FIFA SOCCER WORLD CUP	
	16

FOREWORD BY THE MINISTER OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



It is my privilege to share some thoughts in the CSIR's Annual Report 2010/11.

The Annual Report provides an opportunity to reflect on the significance of science and technology in South African society – and on the contribution that the CSIR makes in assisting South Africa's transformation into a knowledge-based economy.

My department endeavours to create an enabling environment necessary for the respective science, engineering and technology institutes (SETIs) to make an impact on economic growth and sustainable development for the benefit of the people of South Africa.

As I have stated, my department will continue to devote increased resource and policy support to improve quality, particularly in disciplines and sectors that have the potential to make a contribution to improving our development status, expanding economic growth, and changing the quality of life of individuals and communities.

I am proud of the competence and excellence that exist in our sector. The CSIR is an outstanding example of this. Its research and development contribution to the pursuit of scientific and technological solutions to meet our nation's challenges is impressive.

In the past financial year, the Department of Science and Technology (DST) has focused on four key areas:

- Creating a strong and responsive institutional framework to support the creation of a vibrant national system of innovation;
- Supporting fundamental research and development in all disciplines while also proactively responding to new opportunities;
- Developing our human resources and using these skills to contribute to economic growth and socioeconomic change;
- Using our geographic advantage and international partnerships to build on our local strengths while maximising African and global collaboration.

These areas find further expression and impetus in the objectives and focus areas contained in the DST's ten-year Innovation Plan (2008-2018). I am pleased to observe that the CSIR is strengthening its partnerships with universities, public sector entities and industry researchers on all the grand challenge areas of the Innovation Plan. Government has prioritised twelve outcomes that we hope will help to mobilise all sections of society. Science, technology and innovation have a vital contribution to make to the attainment of all of these outcomes.

The CSIR's work has relevance to high-priority national goals such as speeding up growth and transforming the economy to create decent work and sustainable livelihoods; building economic and social infrastructure; strengthening the skills and human resource base; and advancing sustainable resource management and use.

I know that the CSIR's work supports many of the other priority outcomes that guide the current government. This includes the development of planning tools for municipalities, such as the Toolkit for Integrated Planning, and various information and communications technology-based projects that support enhanced service delivery such as the Wireless Mesh Networking project.

The DST, primarily through the CSIR, also has a key role to play in the 2010 Industrial Policy Action Plan (IPAP). We have included in the current IPAP a focus on R&D-led industrial development.

On an ongoing basis, the IPAP will be improved and refined and it is vital that we strengthen opportunities for R&Dled industrial development across all the focus areas of the CSIR, from the biosciences to ICTs.

I congratulate the CSIR on its sterling work and am pleased to see it responding to my challenge posed during the recent CSIR Real and Relevant conference: for it to play a more strategic and influential role in R&D in South Africa; and to think beyond individual projects - looking at how to play a more catalytic role in the development of industry sectors that will constitute a strong and vibrant 21st century South African economy. These industry sectors include advanced metals such as titanium; advanced manufacturing technologies such as laser; and support to state-owned enterprises.

I would like to thank the CSIR Board and the executive team for their continued support.

Mrs Naledi Pandor

CHAIRMAN'S OVERVIEW

The CSIR's excellent performance in the 2010/11 financial year – despite the challenging global economic situation – again demonstrated a healthy balance between good science and good business.

As a multidisciplinary organisation and in line with its mandate, the CSIR is tasked with generating new knowledge, applying existing knowledge, developing technologies and leveraging these to make a positive socio-economic impact. As such, it continued to respond to the national priorities relating to skills development, improving the quality of life by world-class research, technology and innovation outputs; and contributing to the overall competitiveness of South Africa.

Research focus enhanced

I have indicated in the CSIR's 2009/2010 Annual Report that a major focus for the organisation would be the adoption of an Impact Assessment Strategic Framework as well as the implementation of its Research Impact Areas (RIAs). I am pleased to report that good progress has been made in this regard.

Engagement with stakeholders and thorough assessment of the

organisation's competences resulted in the firming up of its six RIA strategies for the built environment, defence and security, energy, health, industry, and the natural environment (see page 8). The RIAs will ensure closer alignment with stakeholders' needs and a better articulation of the CSIR's value proposition.

The development of the RIAs was guided by the Impact Assessment Strategic Framework developed in 2010 to ensure the optimal impact of the CSIR's research and development (R&D) work. A key feature of the framework is the application of a logic model to design and execute research programmes.

A more visible CSIR

The CSIR executive and I have made a concerted effort over the past year to strengthen the relationships with stakeholders in higher education institutions, government and the public and private sectors. We have had key interactions with partners and potential partners within South Africa, but also in the United States, the United Kingdom, Europe and Australia.

We value the positive relationship with our main shareholder, the Department of Science and Technology, and have regular interactions with the Minister of Science and Technology, Mrs Naledi Pandor – these engagements have been immensely valuable. Her contribution has assisted the CSIR in maintaining focus on key national imperatives, specifically with a view to effect socio-economic impact.

Building on success and good governance

The CSIR applies the same rigour to its governance as it does to its R&D. The organisation is well known for its strong governance framework and ethical leadership. It was, therefore, not a surprise that it again received an unqualified audit report, with complimentary remarks from the office of the Auditor-General with respect to the organisation's financial governance.

Looking forward

Despite global predictions that the 2011/12 financial year will also be economically challenging, the CSIR will continue to provide focus to its high impact research and technologies, backed by an imperative to remain committed to human capital development. This will ask for innovative research and skills management, the optimal leveraging of strategic alliances and continuous engagement with all its stakeholders. The Impact Assessment Strategic Framework will be used to make the organisation's outputs more visible and its value-add better understood and appreciated.

I thank the CSIR executive and staff for their splendid contribution to the success of the organisation and congratulate them on their ethos that is evident in the organisation's R&D work. I would also like to thank the members of the Board for their judicious support.

Action

Professor Francis Petersen

5

CEO'S INTRODUCTION

Performance against organisational priorities

It pleases me to report an outstanding performance from the CSIR in 2010/11.

Human capital development (HCD) is critical for the development of science, engineering and technology (SET) solutions of the highest calibre to improve the lives of South Africans. The CSIR has several HCD programmes in place and actively supports the attainment of higher qualifications through further studies. Thus, the number of permanent staff studying towards Master or PhD degrees increased to 226 in 2010/11 and the number of staff with PhDs increased to 299.

Over the years there has been consistent improvement in our demographic profile, with our research base reaching 52.6% black and 33.2% female.

Publication equivalents increased significantly; 576 were achieved during the past financial year. The publication process mirrors the work done at the CSIR where quality, rigour and relevance determine success.

Royalty income reached R8.62 million. The CSIR's research and development (R&D) has created a number of other opportunities for Intellectual Property licensing. Two examples here include a revolutionary technology platform in the biosciences domain, ReSyn™ Biosciences. This offers new miniaturised, high throughput technologies for bio-separation, diagnostics, DNA sequencing and drug discovery, to name a few application areas. The CSIR's laser cladding system, initially developed for Eskom, is a world-first solution for *in situ* sealing of leaks and repairing cracks in vessels under pressure.

Testifying to the relevance and excellence of our work, the value of Contract R&D increased to R1 175.1 million; despite the economic downturn.

The organisation remains one with excellent business processes and governance. We continue our efforts to achieve a B-BBEE Level 2 rating; and after a number of energy saving initiatives, we achieved a 21.4% reduction in energy consumption.

Over the past year, the organisation has also clarified its SET focus and the manner in which this can contribute to some of South Africa's key development challenges – specifically in the areas of job creation and service delivery.

Greater impact with enhanced focus

We are keenly aware that greater impact can be achieved through better focus of the CSIR's R&D portfolio by aligning key areas with South Africa's national priorities.

This enhanced focus has resulted in six research impact areas (RIAs) that

are guided by global trends, national challenges, CSIR capabilities and our mandate. The RIAs (*see next section for more information*) include:

- The built environment
- Defence and security
- Energy
- Health
- Industry
- The natural environment.

World-class technology, large scientific infrastructure, scientific computing and the CSIR's cross-cutting competencies support the RIAs.

SET to enable job creation

I endorse Professor Petersen's appreciation of the organisation's commitment to respond to national priorities (*Chairman's overview*). Rather than short-term employment-creation projects, our role is to undertake R&D and technology transfer that will stimulate sustainable industrial activity and job creation in the longer term.

Among others, we work closely with the Department of Trade and Industry (**the dti**) on sector responses to the Industrial Policy Action Plan (IPAP).

The CSIR is also hosting the National Cleaner Production Centre on behalf of **the dti**. The centre contributes to the retention of jobs through improved operational efficiencies and profitability.

The CSIR's implementation unit, Enterprise Creation for Development, focuses on establishing new developmental enterprises based on CSIR and other technologies.

Further, the CSIR's R&D programmes could lead to the creation of completely new industries; an example here is our R&D in the beneficiation of titanium.

SET to enable service delivery

The CSIR is able to guide and offer solutions to enhance service delivery in the fields of water supply and management; the provision of sanitation, health, education and electricity; the improvement of roads, housing and waste management; and providing access to information.

I am particularly proud of the positive response to our work in the fight against multi-drug- and extensively drugresistant TB. In this regard, the CSIR has embarked on a project to address the lack of appropriate health infrastructure to prevent cross-infection – a key constraint in the effective treatment and rehabilitation of TB patients and protection of caregivers (read article on page 12).

In another example, to assist authorities and road owners with curbing and preventing the deterioration of road surfaces and repairing potholes, the CSIR compiled technical guidelines on the causes, prevention and repair methods of potholes. These guidelines, made available in December 2010, have been downloaded more than 800 times from December 2010 to March 2011. Training courses on the causes of potholes, their identification and the various repair methods for the different categories of potholes have been held since February 2011 in partnership with the South African Road Federation.

Breaking new ground

Together with our line department, the Department of Science and Technology (**the DST**), the CSIR is braving new research frontiers and amplifying the potential of existing ones. We host the DST's National Centre for Nano-Structured Materials and run DST-funded programmes in synthetic biology. These are emerging areas of research in South Africa.

The CSIR also manages and implements one of the DST's pillars in its cyberinfrastructure strategy, namely the South African National Research Network (SANReN). This high speed and high volume information and communications technology network will greatly benefit researchers and higher education institutions.

In conclusion, let me extend my gratitude for the support and input of our main stakeholder, **the DST** and the Minister of Science and Technology. I would also like to thank my executive and CSIR staff for their contribution to the success of the organisation.

Dr Sibusiso Sibisi

PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS

Focused research for increased impact

The CSIR's mandate calls for the improvement of the quality of life of the people of South Africa. Examples of the beneficial effect of CSIR research, development and innovation (RDI) on the economy, society and the environment that we live in, span more than six decades. But, the enormous development challenges facing the country have resulted in a more urgent call than ever before for relevant science to support national priorities.

In a bid to respond to this call and to even further increase the impact of our RDI so that the lives of South Africans can improve sooner – and in greater measures – the organisation set about sharpening its research and development (R&D) focus.

Considerable progress in this regard has been made in the year under review as a result of comprehensive engagement with stakeholders and rigorous assessments of organisational competences. The identified research impact areas (RIAs) and the specific challenges that will be the focus of our research efforts are outlined in the pages that follow.

Without exception, the organisation will continue to combine its multidisciplinary strength in addressing these challenges: a prerequisite for succeeding to conquer the complex challenges of our time.

Nurturing enabling technologies, emerging research areas

To be able to devise the best possible solutions in the RIAs, the CSIR continues to invest in enabling technologies, scientific infrastructure and the competences of people in a multitude of fields. Nanotechnology, specifically nanostructured materials, is one example of a technology in which the CSIR as well as the Department of Science and Technology, continue to invest. In its first three years, the National Centre for Nano-Structured Materials has made a sizeable contribution to training nanoscientists for the future.

In the same period, a characterisation facility has been established to study nanostructures at an atomic level, which may be used by researchers from around the country. Some of the current work involving nanotechnology includes the development of polymer nanocomposites for smart packaging materials; the development of portable gas sensors for the mining industry; the beneficiation of natural South African nanoclays for use in fire retardant paints to anti-bacterial additives; and the development of specialised nanocomposites for increasing efficiency of photovoltaic cells in solar devices.

Similarly, the CSIR continues to invest in synthetic biology, robotics, photonics and scientific computing.

Improving our planning for impact

In addition to sharpening our research focus, the CSIR also compiled a strategic framework on impact assessment which was approved by the CSIR Board in the year under review. The framework sets out conceptual aspects around defining impact, as well as details on planning, implementing, communicating and assessing impact. In terms of planning for impact, the organisation started using logic models in business plans and in funding decisions during this year.

Featured R&D highlights

R&D projects selected to be featured in this section are at different stages in the innovation cycle: some have already been taken up by the users they were intended for and the 'problem' has been solved, while others are still in the research process, but with a clear vision of the intended impact. We have also attempted to show the scope in the RIAs, from health and the natural environment, to industry and the built environment.

environment

100

F7

91

Ъ



Infrastructure and associated operations are a prerequisite for economic growth and social development. The built environment is a complex system with numerous elements and a number of external factors influencing it. Factors such as migration and urbanisation – by 2013, 70% of the country's people will be living in cities – contribute to overloaded infrastructure, which in turn demands an increase in service delivery.

In line with the South African government's increased focus on the built environment, the CSIR is putting forward its multidisciplinary capabilities to develop innovations and solutions that will improve the built environment in a sustainable manner. To do this, the organisation will focus on:

- Logistics and infrastructure operations
- Transport infrastructure
- Sustainable human settlements
- Information and communications technology, and sensors
- The built environment as a complex system.

Read about the CSIR's health infrastructure research aimed at reducing the risk of patient-to-patient cross-infection and patient-to-caregiver infection relating to drug-resistant TB. The link between infrastructure and economic welfare is evident in the article on how precise data on waves, tides, currents and winds are needed in the context of safe ports, and how this local skills set has become in demand internationally. A third article summarises other important R&D projects relating to infrastructure – specifically pothole repair; bridge management; immovable asset management; improved road design method; and longer-life roads.

CURBING CROSS-INFECTION OF **DRUG-RESISTANT TB** THROUGH HEALTH INFRASTRUCTURE

In brief

South Africa has insufficient health infrastructure to cope with the growing tuberculosis (TB) epidemic. Extensively drug-resistant (XDR) TB now adds to increasing numbers of multi-drug resistant (MDR) TB patients. The CSIR has set out to address the lack of appropriate infrastructure to address TB infection and cross-infection, a key constraint in the effective treatment and rehabilitation of patients.

The challenge

The sheer number of TB cases in South Africa is a stark reality. The country has the highest incidence rate for TB infection in the world and over 70% of TB patients are co-infected with HIV/ Aids. South Africa does not have sufficient health infrastructure to cope with the TB epidemic. This is compounded by the fact that the layout of many of the facilities increases infection with TB.

Drug-resistant TB is a very serious problem in South Africa. MDR-TB can be treated with medication, but at very high costs, while the recovery rate from XDR-TB is very low.

CSIR research

In the country's fight against TB, the CSIR has been instrumental in supporting the design, development and construction of dedicated, long-term accommodation units for drug-resistant TB patients. A key requirement is to reduce the risk of patientto-patient cross-infection and patient-tocaregiver infection.

This project has received at least R92 million from The Global Fund and more than R115 million from seven provincial Departments of Health with a total of nine newly-designed TB facilities being constructed. In addition to guidelines for design, development and construction, the CSIR also provides technical advice and training to the teams at the hospitals to ensure the successful roll-out of the TB units.

For improved quality of life of longterm drug-resistant TB patients, the CSIR guidelines recommend provision of recreational spaces for sports, visitor areas, physiotherapy facilities, a business hub for patients, and classrooms for younger patients.

CSIR architects and mechanical engineers used computational fluid dynamics (CFD) to study and model the airflow in buildings to improve the design for natural ventilation. For improved TB units at hospitals, the CSIR focused on developing low-cost and low-maintenance, yet fully functional, facilities that will contribute to the prevention and control of airborne TB infection.

As the implementing agent on behalf of the national Department of Health, the CSIR also provides technical and financial management. Researchers work with the provincial teams, firstly by teaching them about airborne infection control and recommending design ideas. This is followed by a number of working sessions to fine-tune their designs. The CSIR's research includes CFD modelling to test the designs. In this way, the CSIR aims to empower the teams by giving them an understanding of the dynamics of designing to reduce the risk of airborne disease transmission.

Outcomes

An operational TB unit was inaugurated in April 2011 by Deputy President Kgalema Motlanthe. This is a dedicated, long-term accommodation unit for drug-resistant TB-infected patients at the Catherine Booth Hospital in rural KwaZulu-Natal (KZN). Other units are already in use at Manguzi Hospital (also in KZN), Kopano Hospital



Computational fluid dynamics modelling by the CSIR, with the image illustrating a typical TB unit ward block showing air flow patterns and velocity vectors.



An exploded view of a typical TB ward block showing materials, construction technology and natural ventilation principles that have been applied.

(Welkom, Free State) and Tshepong Hospital (Klerksdorp, North West).

The other five TB units will be ready to accommodate patients with drug-resistant TB before the end of 2011. These units are at Jose Pearson Hospital (Port Elizabeth, Eastern Cape), Nkqubela Hospital (East London, Eastern Cape), Modimolle Hospital (Limpopo), West End Hospital (Kimberley, Northern Cape), and at Bongani Hospital (Hazyview, Mpumalanga). The KZN Department of Health is building additional long-term accommodation units on other sites, based on the Catherine Booth TB unit.



Getting to grips

Incidence and incidence rate: Terms used with disease and TB are incidence (case load) and incidence rate (rate of spread). Incidence refers to the total number of infections in a population, whereas incidence rate refers to the number of new cases occurring in a population per year, usually expressed as cases per 100 000 per year. South Africa, with an incidence rate of 980/100 000 (WHO 2008), has the highest rate of growth of TB in the world. This is far higher than the average for Africa (about 350/100 000) or incidence rates in other high-burden countries such as China or India. Reducing the number of new TB infections through safer health facilities (as it is an airborne disease) can have a major positive impact.

The Western Cape Department of Health recently contracted the CSIR for support with the development of new MDR-TB accommodation at Brooklyn Chest Hospital.

Based on the R&D of this project, CSIR researchers have delivered numerous invited presentations at national and international conferences, and a number of research articles and reports have been published.

In terms of human capital development, the CSIR conducted awareness and training sessions for the professional teams at each of the nine TB units that form part of The Global Fund project, as well as for the new Brooklyn Chest Hospital project. The professional teams consisted of about 20 people per TB unit. Some provincial training sessions had up to 50 participants per session.



A typical MDR-TB block at Modimolle Hospital. South Africa has 0.6% of the world's population, while it has 17% of the world's HIV infections and 11% of the world's TB cases.



Deputy President Kgalema Motlanthe opening the dedicated TB ward unit at Catherine Booth Hospital in KwaZulu-Natal. With him is Dr Aaron Motswaledi, Minister of Health.

In brief

Safe ports, able to handle increasing volumes of cargo tonnage, require precise data on how infrastructure and vessels are affected by waves, tides, currents and winds in harbour areas. Accurate measurements of these influencing factors and modelling of concomitant infrastructure are vital.

The CSIR's coastal engineering and port infrastructure facilities have gained national and international acclaim due to its track record and excellent results, including precise measurements, especially of waves and ship motions.

The challenge

More than three-quarters of the world's cargo is transported by sea, with ports acting as economic gateways. Ports not only play a vital role in facilitating global trade, they also support the competitiveness of national and regional economies. Port owners must be able not only to meet the immediate demands of their customers, but also invest, both in new facilities for future growth, and in safety measures to safeguard expensive vessels and cargo, communities and the environment.

Eight of the 13 southern African commercial ports are located in South Africa, and handle over 90% of South African international trade. The Transnet National Ports Authority (TNPA) owns and manages the infrastructure of South Africa's commercial ports. Annually, there is an increasing demand for these ports to handle ever greater volumes of cargo, thus requiring constant upgrading and extensions.

CSIR research

In the field of port design and maintenance, the CSIR has developed enhanced methods to track breakwater damage linked to storm events by simulating port designs using small-scale physical models. This leads to optimised maintenance programmes. Data obtained are compared to year-onyear recorded wave information, which is especially important in light of global warming and the increased threat of storms.

Over many years, the CSIR has assisted TNPA port engineers and harbour masters with 48-hour wave forecasts for ports and harbours. The real-time service provided by the CSIR to Transnet includes the monitoring of waves, tides, currents and winds. This is achieved through the WaveNet monitoring system (http://wavenet.csir.co.za), a network of wave stations. The real-time data lead to improvements in the efficient functioning and safety of South African ports.

WaveNet obtains data from, among other sources, 'waverider' buoys, which provide environmental data crucial for forecast purposes. An access link was also established for the South African Weather Service, with data available for its daily forecasts.

In addition to the 'waverider' buoys, WaveNet includes base stations on shore for receiving the incoming wave data, displaying the necessary wave information, and transmitting the relevant data to the central server located at the CSIR Stellenbosch offices.

Physical modelling of infrastructure

In its huge model hall, the CSIR's coastal engineering and port infrastructure group regularly builds 2D and 3D physical scale models of actual or planned harbour breakwaters, entrance channels and ports. Physical scale models offer the best way for researching specific harbour elements. The dynamic processes involved can thus be studied, saving costs by identifying solutions to possible problems before actual construction starts. Numerical model



The CSIR team deploying an anti-trawl mooring in the ocean.

studies can also be calibrated by the use of physical models.

The CSIR is regularly commissioned for local projects, such as studies associated with the deepening of the entrance channel at Durban harbour, and extensions to the Port of Cape Town.

International projects

Large projects undertaken for international port authorities account for more than half of this CSIR group's research and development (R&D) contract income. When large R&D projects require physical modelling, the CSIR builds small-scale models to test wave agitation, safety of structures and best efficiencies for safe port operations. Recent initiatives included projects for Abu Dhabi; Qatar; and Australia.

During the past financial year, Australia's Port Hedland project was the most technically challenging one undertaken by the CSIR. The proposed extensions to Port Hedland included an off-shore loading wharf, built in the open ocean. The CSIR undertook numerical and physical modelling, including wave agitation, moored-ship motion and the influence of passing ships.



The Port of Doha, Qatar, was the second biggest project for the CSIR team during 2010. Doha is an inland port, dredged from dry land. Physical modelling conducted for the Port of Doha included studies of wave agitation and breakwater stability.

Following the successes of the CSIR's team with these two international ports, negotiations are already underway between the CSIR and the port authorities of Port Hedland and Doha for further R&D. The proposed expansion of inner harbour facilities for Port Hedland is being discussed. The Port of Doha is looking at commissioning the CSIR to undertake studies relating to a proposed industrial canal to the north of the port.

The CSIR model hall is reckoned to be the fourth biggest facility of its kind in the world. The CSIR has seen significant growth in the specialised field of modelling moored-ship motions, where new software has been developed as well as new measuring techniques. New innovative techniques, using digital imagery, and the size and capability of facilities have helped to keep the CSIR ahead of international competition. In terms of human capital development, students from Stellenbosch University, which is adjacent to the CSIR's facilities, annually do their practical work and obtain mentoring in the CSIR's coastal engineering and port infrastructure group. These include undergraduate and postgraduate engineering students.



Moored model ships set up in the CSIR's physical model hall in Stellenbosch for studying conditions using the Australian Port Hedland model.

CSIR ASSISTS WITH **IMPROVING INFRASTRUCTURE** FROM PLANNING THROUGH TO MANAGEMENT

In brief

Expanding and improving infrastructure such as roads, rail networks, bridges, ports, airports, buildings and other facilities are a national priority to be achieved without forfeiting environmental sustainability. In addition, the effective operation of infrastructure through proper management is crucial for economic welfare.

The provision of infrastructure and associated operations also stimulate growth by increasing the productive capacity of the economy. Social development can take place only with proper provision of basic amenities such as hospitals, schools and housing, together with infrastructure for electricity supply, water and sanitation.

The CSIR conducts relevant research, development and implementation to maintain, improve and manage existing infrastructure, while also assisting with developing cost-effective new infrastructure with a long design life.

R&D solutions for pothole repair

The increasing occurrence and size of potholes pose a serious danger to road users and result in huge costs incurred for vehicle repair. This is compounded by the lack of proactive, routine road maintenance, combined with rainfall seasons and an increase of heavy vehicles on the country's roads. Further, incorrect 'patching' techniques lead to the repeated repair of potholes and their recurrence in the same areas.

In response to the increasing problem of potholes on South Africa's roads, the CSIR set out to use its R&D expertise to find solutions in this area. Researchers undertook literature studies, combined their expertise in infrastructure engineering and the management of roads, and then conducted field investigations of pothole problems in real-life situations. This led to South Africa's first technical guide on potholes, their causes, identification and repair, being published by the CSIR in December 2010.

The guidelines are aimed at road owners and provincial, municipal and consulting engineers, as well as road maintenance supervisors. The CSIR also produced a short, non-technical publication, aimed at decision makers, on the main causes of typical potholes and ways of limiting their formation.

Training courses based on the technical guide and aimed at provincial, municipal and consulting engineers as well as road owners started in February 2011. More than 800 participants attended the training course during the first five months of it being presented. (http://www.csir. co.za/pothole_guides)

Longer-life roads on the cards

In search of longer-life roads, the CSIR and the Southern African Bitumen Association (SABITA) are investigating a cost-effective road materials technology with improved performance. The technology, known as HiMA – high-modulus asphalt – was originally developed by France in the '90s and is used extensively in that country for roads carrying heavy traffic loads.

The use of HiMA for road construction results in roads that last longer and need less maintenance, thus leading to fewer delays for road users. HiMA also decreases the life-cycle costs of roads.

Researchers are developing the technology to suit South African circumstances for use on roads that carry high volumes of traffic. Following extensive research, the CSIR



Shear testing of asphalt samples in the CSIR laboratory. Asphalt is a composite material, consisting of graded mineral aggregate (crushed rock) blended with a bituminous binder. It is commonly used in the construction of road surfaces, airport runways and parking lots.

and SABITA have developed preliminary guidelines for the design of South African HiMA mixes and roads containing HiMA layers.

CSIR system leads to well-maintained bridge infrastructure

Bridges are a major infrastructural asset and need to be maintained regularly. The CSIR recommends inspections every five years and a maintenance strategy over a five-year period, based on a priority list of bridges in need of repair.

The CSIR developed the Struman bridge management system (BMS) in collaboration with a local consulting engineering firm. The system comprises customised and regularly updated software, manuals and training programmes for clients, ensuring that qualified engineers who act as bridge inspectors have a consistent approach in rating the condition of bridges. The advantages of the Struman BMS include that it focuses on actual defects rather than on the overall condition of all bridge elements. Bridges in need of repair are thus prioritised in order of importance.

environment

Locally, the South African National Roads Agency Ltd (SANRAL) has implemented the Struman BMS and the system is used in most provinces. It is also used in Namibia, Botswana, Swaziland, Taiwan and Dubai.

CSIR contributes to better infrastructure management through immovable asset management

With its immovable asset management (IAM) programme, the CSIR provides routine decision-support to infrastructure delivery departments. The aim is to support departments to improve the efficient management of their immovable assets as required by legislation, including the Government Immovable Asset Management Act (GIAMA), 2007 (No 19 of 2007), the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (No1 of 1999, as amended) and related policy and legislation.

Immovable assets are described as land and any immovable improvement on that land, which have enduring value and consist of various types of assets. These include installed machinery and equipment that are integral parts of immovable assets and cover all state-owned and leased assets.

Recent immovable asset management projects include:

 Performance assessment of all immovable assets for the Department of Arts and Culture (2009 - 2010), Department of Defence (2008 -2011), Limpopo Department of Health and Social Development (2005 - 2007), Limpopo Department of Education (2007 - 2008), Mpumalanga Department of Health (2008 - 2010)

- Compilation of user asset management plans for various national and provincial departments (2008 - 2011)
- Immovable asset management policy development and valuation of immovable assets for the Free State Department of Public Works (2009)
- Immovable asset management policy development and strategic maintenance planning for the Mpumalanga Department of Public Works, Roads and Transport (2010 -2011)
- On-going system support and maintenance on the computerised immovable asset management system for the KwaZulu-Natal Department of Public Works.

Improved design and quality of SA roads

SANRAL has commissioned the CSIR to conduct a comprehensive study to evaluate and update the current South African road pavement design method. Due to increased premature road failures and associated traffic congestion, comprehensive work was required, with a substantial financial investment by both SANRAL and the CSIR.

Important parts of the current road design method were obsolete, needing serious revision and updating. Guideline documents, test protocols and equipment for new design and rehabilitation investigation are being modified based on new information generated through this project.

The new road design method will protect the multibillion-rand investment in the South African transport infrastructure through improving the quality of road design by the local road industry. The new method will facilitate the analysis of the current road network condition and the maintenance process. Roads approaching the end of their design lives can thus be identified timeously, allowing for early, light rehabilitation instead of total (and more costly) reconstruction.

The new method encompasses a webbased software application through membership registration, managed by SANRAL, with technical support from the CSIR. It caters for different levels of expertise and design complexity, covering a broad spectrum of roads ranging from national roads to light structures for rural access and urban mobility.







The changing security environment poses significant challenges to R&D. These changes relate to asymmetric warfare, where opponents have completely different capabilities, and to systems warfare, where nodal points in national infrastructure are destroyed. The CSIR believes that it can contribute significantly to the security of South Africa, the region and continent through its science and technology, specifically by focusing on:

- Tactical and strategic situation awareness
- Information security
- Interoperability and standardisation across government departments
- Command, control and coordination

In one example of work in this field, a detection system has been developed to identify threats in South African waters. An example of what is possible in terms of integrating systems is also outlined in the next pages. Also read about CSIR endeavours to merge card readers and biometric fingerprint readers to guarantee secure information and to counter identity theft.

UNDERWATER 3D IMAGING SONAR FOR PROTECTION OF SOUTH AFRICA'S SHIPPING CORRIDORS

In brief

The CSIR has developed technology that aims to protect the shipping corridors around South African ports, harbours and the coastline for both commercial and naval vessels. The underwater sonar produces world-first images showing detailed feature information, at a level not previously achieved with so few sensor elements.

The challenge

Approximately 90% of goods imported into South Africa come by ship. Therefore keeping the shipping corridors and harbours around the country safe from threats is an economical imperative. These threats can take many forms, ranging from the pirates who now roam the coastline of neighbouring Mozambique, to illegal cargo being smuggled underneath the hulls of ships.

Having a comprehensive threat detection system, which is also relatively lightweight and easy to handle, considerably aids the effort of those defending our harbours and ports.

CSIR research

CSIR researchers developed the world's first low element-count three-dimensional (3D) underwater imaging system and built a technology demonstrator that was successfully tested at the underwater test facility of the Institute for Maritime Technology. It is a comprehensive threat detection system that can locate underwater objects in planar imaging (two dimensional), and 3D imaging, as well as detect moving targets.

The system has been shown to produce world-first images with detailed feature information, at a level not previously achieved with so few sensor elements. Conventional imaging systems make use of a two-dimensional planar array of sensors



The ladder (left) in the underwater test facility was scanned by the sonar and resulted in a detailed image (right).

to produce an image of a scene. In the underwater domain the discrete nature of these sensors leads to an extremely high level of complexity and cost.

In a novel approach for the underwater field, the CSIR team developed, over a period of three years, a range of technology building blocks which can achieve the same image using a fraction of the sensors normally required. This should make the system much cheaper than 3D underwater imaging systems currently available and, due to its acoustic properties, of a much higher resolution.

The development of the system builds on the CSIR's experience gained over several years in the field of composite sensor materials and unique signal processing and implementation techniques.

The team moved up the system hierarchy levels to develop a set of transducer arrays that exhibit high levels of acoustic performance. Most notable is the achievement of very broad frequency bandwidth transmission levels and specialised signal processing techniques for both the transmit and receive arrays. These aspects alone opened the door for the concept to be developed to its current state of technology readiness. Whereas conventional acoustic transducers have bandwidths close to 20-30 kHz, the team succeeded in realising a ten-fold improvement in bandwidth, producing transmitting transducers with 200 kHz bandwidths.

These broad band transducers were made, not just as single element devices but also as multi-element arrays, making use of the composite sensor material properties to be able to pattern electrodes directly to a monolithic structure. This achieves a reduction in device assembly complexity and greatly improves reliability.

Outputs

The system has been successfully tested in the South African Navy's facilities in Simon's Town under the watchful eye of Armscor and Naval personnel. The achievement of images showing object feature details and the resolving of objects



placed close together far exceed any system currently available internationally and represent an achievement of significant value to the Navy and other entities concerned with viewing the underwater surrounds of important facilities.

The unique outputs have also attracted the attention of several players in the field of underwater security systems, both locally and internationally.

To take the technology from its current demonstrator phase to commercialisation (and personalised adaptation), several different skills and knowledge sets will be working together, which will further increase capacity-building from a human resources point of view.

Further outputs include:

- Two of the researchers on the team will soon be completing their Master's studies based on the system.
- Two papers on the system have been delivered at the Waterside Security Conference in Denmark (2008) and Italy (2010) respectively, with a further three papers based on the technology used in the system also published at international conferences.

Funding and collaboration

The South African Navy acted as both the main funder and collaborator on the development of the technology, with investment also by the CSIR. The research group collaborated with the University of Cape Town's Professor Andrew Wilkinson to develop the concept for a 3D imaging sonar that could be realised with a low sensor element count.

Several international sonar companies in Europe and Asia have shown interest in funding the further development of the system to a commercialisation phase.



Prototype 3D imaging array showing the high acoustic bandwidth transmitter (vertical) and receiver (horizonta arrays for producing 3D underwater images.

SYSTEMS OF SYSTEMS INTEGRATION FOR REAL WORLD, REAL-TIME BATTLEFIELD SCENARIOS

In brief

To demonstrate its ability to integrate complex systems, the CSIR has integrated the Sensors for Electronic Warfare Engagement Simulation (SEWES) with its Digital Radio Frequency Memory (DRFM) and SigmaHat, the organisation's new Radar Cross Section (RCS) prediction tool. Each of these have been in development for some years. Progress over the past year has demonstrated that complex systems can be successfully integrated at minimal cost.

The challenge

To simulate target tracking, real radars are 'tricked' into tracking simulated targets. However, modern radar systems are developed in such a way that they reject non-realistic target representations. Thus the CSIR had the challenge of increasing the realism of the target that is emitted by the hardware-in-the-loop (HWIL) simulator. This can only be achieved by integrating a high fidelity target response (SigmaHat), a proper scenario controller with realistic scenario dynamics (SEWES) and the hardware that can generate such a realistic target return in real time (DRFM), thus drastically improving the accuracy of the simulation

The more realistic scenarios that can be run. the better prepared the armed forces are for any eventuality.

An integrated system can also assist with personnel training as it provides a virtual environment that allows scenarios to be played out in the real world in real time.

CSIR research

During the past financial year, the CSIR completed its integration of SEWES with the DRFM and SigmaHat.

SEWES is a few-on-few electronic warfare simulation environment with the capability



of creating, performing and analysing scenarios. This facilitates trade-off studies ranging from algorithm level research to doctrine development and evaluation. It is a scalable simulation that allows for a wide range of platforms and entities, consisting of various sensors or effectors, to engage each other in a simulated realistic virtual environment Simulated 'what if' scenarios can be displayed, stored and evaluated while the engagement is visualised in 3D. SEWES' innovative architecture allows it to adapt itself to each scenario's unique requirements and to interoperate with other simulators. Naval, air or ground platforms can be selected; each having its own command and control, and from where all interactions between systems are controlled and time-line behaviour observed. It also allows for faster than real-time simulations, making HWIL testing possible. Models can be modified or added as and when new scenarios present themselves.

The user is offered the freedom to import validated real world parameters, be it positional data, RCS, infrared signature or measured antenna patterns. Generated outputs are export-ready and compatible with other applications, such as 3D display and visualisation tools.

SigmaHat is a radar scattering prediction tool for large complex objects. It can provide estimates of the RCS of naval, air or ground platforms. In the integrated setup, platform-profile information from SEVVES can be used by SigmaHat to calculate the RCS for all target aspect angles in a profile.

The RCS data are then used to extract dominant scattering points of the platform for each frame in the profile. The parameters of these scattering points are exported to SEWES, which integrates the data into the scenario simulation. SigmaHat's real beam image shows the distribution of the platform's scattered field intensity, indicated as varying colour profiles. SigmaHat is based on innovative calculation techniques, which provide a blend of scale, speed and accuracy, perfectly suited to radar and electronic warfare (EW) applications. The DRFM is the hardware closing the loop with the radar under test that responds in real-time to radar signals. The DRFM records pulses received from the radar system, and then recalls the recorded pulses back towards the radar, which now perceives these pulses as reflections from a target.

Traditionally, DRFMs simulate targets as single point reflections with only one pulse



recalled per target. The latest module simulates targets as a collection of point scatterers. It is essentially multiple DRFMs in one. This DRFM illustrates the depth of the CSIR's expertise in high-speed mixed signal hardware, and firmware and digital signal processing. The integration of the DRFM with two software simulators – SEWES and SigmaHat – provides a high-fidelity HWIL environment for radar and EW research and development, such as target classification and deception jamming.

Outputs

The outputs were:

- A successful demonstration of the integrated hardware and software, which was mobile and could be shown locally and internationally.
- A video to capture the integrative effort, as well as to showcase the three simulators in separation and how they

can be combined to form a superior simulator.

 Software and firmware generated to enable integration, both currently and in the future.

Apart from the knowledge generated, the CSIR team realised that integrating complex systems is possible with minimal resources; the result of such an integration can be a marketable offering.

Getting to grips

System of systems integration: A method to pursue development, integration, interoperability, and optimisation of systems to enhance performance in future battlefield scenarios *-Pei, R.S.,* "Systems of Systems Integration (SoSI) - A Smart Way of Acquiring Army C4I2WS Systems," Proceedings of the Summer Computer Simulation Conference, (2000), pp. 574-579.



SigmaHat real-beam image



SEWES scenario simulation



SINGLE DEVICE COMBINES **SMART CARD AND BIOMETRIC CAPABILITIES** FOR SECURE USER AUTHENTICATION

In brief

As piracy and identity theft are committed more frequently, smart card readers have provided enhanced security for businesses and consumers. Manufacturers are developing smart card readers that are highly reliable, compact and provide piracy protection in numerous applications including banking, metering/vending and health. Combined with a fingerprint reader, these gadgets can be used in any form of application requiring high level of trust and security.

The CSIR is looking at intelligent ways of merging both the card reader as well as the biometric fingerprint reader into a single device to provide for unmatched security.

The challenge

In today's complex and ever-changing world, the need for security is paramount. This is especially true when securing and accessing users' personal information, to ensure that only authorised personnel can view or modify private and confidential information.

Therefore, the challenge is to provide a secure smart card reader to enable end-users to address concerns of fraud and identity theft. Currently most smart card readers on the market use Personal Identification Number (PIN) as a means of authenticating users. Although reliable, this technique is no longer considered reliable enough to satisfy security requirements of electronic transactions.

Biometrics is a science which is used to authenticate users based on their unique physiological or behavioural characteristics. No equivalent exists when integrated to a smart card reader as a means of authenticating users. Another challenge of introducing biometrics into smart card readers



revolves around performance issues. The required speed for processing pins is much slower than the speed required for processing biometrics. CSIR researchers are looking into ways of significantly reducing that disparity for the acceptability and competitiveness of the device in the market.

CSIR research

Respectively, smart card and biometric readers are increasingly becoming popular security features for laptop PCs, enabling user authentication, and protecting sensitive information in health care, banking, government and other areas. In this case, the CSIR is looking at intelligent ways of merging both the card reader as well as the biometric fingerprint reader into a single device to provide for unmatched security and authentication for security critical applications.

To meet reliability and security demands,

a system of this nature must comply with international standards including Europay MasterCard VISA peripheral component interconnect (PCI) pin entry device (PED). This additional protection eliminates the capability for a hacker to insert a bug on the connector and extract the secret information.

Outputs

Half way through the development of this device, CSIR researchers already have a prototype that can be used for demonstration purposes.

The prototype consists of an electronic circuit board that has been built to demonstrate a communication between a smart card and a host system (a PC in this instance) through a USB or RS232 link. The prototype also features an LCD display and GSM/GPRS/3G communication link that can be used for



communication and data exchange with remote hosts. The security mechanism implemented at this stage comprises a mutual authentication between the reader and the card which removes any possibility of a hacker fooling the system by using counterfeited or manipulated cards. The group is currently integrating the fingerprint reader solution into the prototype to get the block working as a unit; and the results so far are very promising.

This future technology has huge potential for economic growth. CSIR researchers

are set to become the first South Africans to demonstrate a system that incorporate both a smart card and a biometric fingerprint reader.



CSIR researchers Hippolyte Djonon Tsague (left) and Terrence Moabalobelo fine-tuning the smart card reade

energy





The demand for energy in South Africa is still on the rise; every new home and every new factory need electricity. The challenge of supply is further compounded by the need to drastically reduce the carbon footprint while also reducing the impact on our water resources, as South Africa is a water-scarce country that faces a growing water demand. The CSIR's vision in this respect speaks directly to the challenge of providing technology that will ensure an energy-secure, low-carbon, national economy with a reduced negative impact on water resources. To achieve this, the organisation focuses on:

- High-temperature, concentrating solar power
- Clean coal technology
- Bio-energy
- Batteries and fuel cells
- Decision-support tools

The next two pages feature a project which speaks to the CSIR's vision for the future of energy. Researchers are creating a concentrating solar thermal power station as a small scale research facility. They hope to demonstrate pressurised thermal storage that will allow a gas turbine generator to function when the sun is not shining, and consuming no water in the power cycle.

SOLAR THERMAL RESEARCH FACILITY: FROM DESIGN TO MODELLING AND EXPERIMENTATION

In brief

The CSIR is in the process of creating a concentrating solar thermal power station as a small scale research facility. Successful, timely completion may result in a world first: pressurised thermal storage that will allow the gas turbine generator to run when the sun is not shining. Further, unlike competing concentrating solar technologies, this plant will consume no water in the power cycle. For some of the components of the solar thermal research facility, existing technologies are customised, while some components have to be designed and built at the CSIR. The systems and their integration are modelled to ensure optimal functioning before verifying results through experiments.

The challenge

South Africa faces numerous energyrelated challenges. These challenges are about providing access to electricity to all; securing energy supply in the short and the long term; reducing carbon dioxide emissions; and ensuring that current and future electricity and fuel production does not aggravate water security or availability of arable land. This has led the CSIR to investigate concentrating solar power (CSP). In CSP, sunlight collected over a large area is focused onto a much reduced area using mirror assemblies that move to track the sun. Electrical power is produced when the concentrated light is converted to heat, which drives a heat engine that is connected to an electrical power generator.

The use of a CSP will mean that South Africa's abundance of sunshine is used, greatly reducing carbon dioxide emissions. The choice of a gas turbinedriven system means no water is used either for cooling or for the power cycle; and that both the infrastructure costs and the cost of the electricity generated is lower than competing steam-turbine driven systems. In addition, the power can be generated from distributed plants, which can be built faster and closer to municipal centres than large centralised power stations. The use of thermal storage allows excess solar heat to be harvested and stored for later use when the sun is not shining (it is cheaper to store heat than it is to store electricity).

In this project the CSIR aims to design and build a solar thermal power station to show how a variable or non-guaranteed resource such as the sun, can provide constant, guaranteed power. Successful, timely completion may result in a world first: pressurised thermal storage that will allow a gas turbine generator to run when the sun is not shining. Thermal storage options exist for steam turbine generators but not for gas turbines.

CSIR research

The construction of a solar thermal research facility requires the design and integration of numerous components. A heliostat 'collects' solar radiation, and a heliostat field with numerous heliostats replicates this effect – concentrating it through angling to a single, common receiver. This solar receiver uses concentrated solar flux to raise the gas turbine compressor delivery temperature to 800 - 1000°C. The other components are a gas turbine, modified for solar operation; a tower for the receiver and the turbine; and a high temperature pressurised thermal storage system.

The complexity of multiple systems operating concurrently is the biggest challenge in the execution of the project, and the appropriate application of systems engineering will manage this complexity and will in the end determine whether the system operates optimally and cost-effectively. The team relies heavily



Couries of AL Bademons of sin architects A visualisation of the tower of the CSIR



Predicted load distribution during development of the CSIR heliostat

on techniques such as sophisticated mathematical modelling and optical ray tracing to ensure that every heliostat is angled and positioned perfectly for every changing moment during the day, and to prevent what is referred to as 'spillage', in other words, the maximum radiation in the focal spot not being 'captured' by the receiver.

It also had to be tested for environmental durability, ensuring that it can withstand hailstones and strong winds. In addition to writing an algorithm to predict wind load for every one of the many positions of the heliostats, another algorithm predicts the sun's positions and the range of movement

<u>energy</u>

required by the heliostat to be optimally positioned at all times. The heliostat design specifies low-cost components and simple systems.

To capitalise on existing knowledge, the German Aerospace Centre, DLR, was called upon to design the layout of the heliostat field. This requires the optimisation of the tower height and the individual positions of the many heliostats in the field to minimise mutual shading and blocking, maximising heat collected throughout the year and minimising the combined heliostat and tower infrastructure costs. Shading of a heliostat occurs when another heliostat, moving to track the sun, obstructs incoming sunlight at some time of the day; by contrast blocking occurs when sunlight reflected by the heliostat is obstructed from reaching the target. The site's contours add another level of complexity. Furthermore, the design must guarantee enough power during sunshine hours to simultaneously drive the gas turbine and to build sufficient heat reserve in the storage system.

A gas turbine capable of running on natural gas (which is used commercially in other parts of the world) was commissioned. Rated at 100kW, the turbine is large enough to behave in a manner representative of much larger gas turbine plants and so prove the concept, yet small enough to greatly reduce the capital outlay for the plant. While the turbine can run on solar and diesel in a hybrid model, CSIR researchers hope to operate the system on solar and biogas from sewage, replacing the diesel. The design of the tower, which houses the thermal storage system and the receiver, is in progress. This design has to heed aspects such as the weight of storage to enable running for several hours when the sun is not shining.

Outputs

While the research is ongoing and the facility is in the design phase, good progress has been made in building expertise required for solar power research, with researchers undergoing training in gas turbine combustion and modelling different solar power technologies. In turn the CSIR shared the knowledge it has generated to date at the SolarPaces 2010 conference, by presenting two papers. Four mechanical engineering Master's students – studying the country's only postgraduate course in Concentrating Solar Power at the University of Stellenbosch – spent time working at the CSIR on CSP topics, gaining experience and helping the CSIR achieve research deliverables.

Funding

All work undertaken to date has been funded through the CSIR's parliamentary grant.

Getting to grips

Heliostat: (from *helios*, the Greek word for sun, and *stat*, as in stationary) is a device that includes a mirror, which turns so as to keep reflecting sunlight toward a predetermined target, compensating for the sun's apparent motions in the sky.



A mini-heliostat was installed to check the tracking and control system. Pointing to where the focal beam that is reflected from this single heliostat is concentrated, is Thomas Roos with students from the universities of Stellenbosch and Johannesburg.





- Prevention of HIV, TB and malaria
- Diagnostics for HIV, TB and malaria
- Treatment of HIV, TB and malaria
- Improvement of the health care delivery system

Aptamer technology is regarded by many as an emerging technology that may play a deciding role in overcoming these diseases. Read about the accumulation of skills and equipment in this domain. Another article focuses on the CSIR's high throughput biology laboratory and its advances in miniaturisation which have led to a powerful tool in the quest for treatment of priority diseases.

APTAMER RESEARCH TACKLES CONTINENT'S WORST DISEASES

In brief

The CSIR's research in the development of aptamer-based products for the diagnosis, prevention, target drug delivery and treatment of dreaded diseases facing South Africa and the entire continent endorses the maxim that 'the first wealth is health', (Ralph Waldo Emerson). This research is also positioning South Africa to compete successfully within the dynamic knowledge economy and the burgeoning bio-economy.

The challenge

HIV and TB are two major public health challenges facing South Africa. HIV exacerbates the TB epidemic and vice versa. A need therefore exists to interface HIV and TB research programmes and to develop new tools for prevention, diagnosis and treatment of these infectious diseases.

The Department of Science and Technology (DST) has identified the aptamer (synthetic nucleic acid molecules) technology field as one of the emerging research areas in South Africa, which could play a role in expanding the base knowledge creation and develop commercial opportunities. To drive this, the DST has formed a steering committee with members from relevant government departments, science councils, universities, health care and pharmaceutical industries. The steering committee will develop a strategic research agenda for the National Aptamer Technology Platform as well as devise a strategic approach that the DST could follow for developing this area for South Africa.

CSIR research

In response to these health challenges, the CSIR has established a world-class containment level-3 facility with state-of-theart equipment for HIV and TB research. Furthermore, the CSIR is exploiting aptamers to help solve the HIV and TB health problems facing our nation and the world.



The researcher is incubating *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* solid cultures in a containment level-3 laboratory.



Samples are loaded on a Biacore instrument to measure binding kinetics between HIV-1 gp120 and the aptamer ligand in real time.

Aptamers rival antibodies in function and their applications range from diagnostics; target validation; and targeted drug delivery to therapeutics. In particular, the CSIR is currently exploiting aptamers for targeted delivery of TB and HIV first line drugs; development of novel entry inhibitor drugs against HIV; eradication of cells latently infected with HIV; prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV through breast feeding; development of aptamerbased point-of-care TB diagnostics; development of aptamer-based multiplex point-of-care diagnostic kits for HIV and TB; and studying and understanding the pathogenesis of HIV and TB co-infection.

Outputs

Solid skills have been developed in aptamer technology. Some highlights include:

- One PhD and two MSc students have graduated.
- Two MSc and five PhD students are currently doing full time research.
 Two PhD students will graduate in the 2011 calendar year.
- Two PhD students were seconded to the Harvard School of Public Health, Harvard University, USA.
- One PhD student is currently seconded to the Scripps Research Institute, USA.
- The aptamer technology research

health

group has hosted and trained six visiting scientists and PhD students from universities over the past three years.

In the past year, researchers have presented their work at seven international conferences in countries including Canada, Italy, South Korea, China and France. Research was published in the following journals: Drug Discovery Today, the Journal of Biological Chemistry, Biochemistry, the Journal of Clinical Pathology, and Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. The group also holds one patent.

Products under development include:

- Aptamer-based point-of-care TB diagnostic kit
- Aptamer-based microbicide
- Aptamer-based HIV entry inhibitor drugs
- Aptamer-based breastfeeding nipplecap to inactivate HIV in milk.

Funders

- Department of Science and Technology
- Technology Innovation Agency
- The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation
- Canadian Grand Challenges
- Fogarty

Collaborators

- University of Pretoria
- University of the Witwatersrand
- University of Johannesburg
- University of KwaZulu-Natal
- Rhodes University
- University of Cape Town and Groote Schuur Hospital
- University of Oxford, UK
- Harvard University, USA
- The Scripps Research Institute, USA
- Los Alamos National Laboratory, USA



Dr Makobetsa Khati specialises in aptamer technology and leads the aptamer technology research group.

MATCHING TREATMENT AND DISEASE: NOVEL TECHNOLOGY SIGNIFICANTLY INCREASES RESULTS

In brief

Life is complex. Tens of thousands of genes form the blue print for every human cell; two hundred cell types form the thousand billion cells that make up a human being¹. High throughput biology researchers from the CSIR's Synthetic Biology emerging research area are developing the tools to study life's complexity, thereby increasing our understanding of biology to enable research in infectious chronic diseases.

The challenge

Scientists are interested to know how cells work, how they interact with each other and how pathogens interact with them. These interactions form the basis of most diseases afflicting society. Herein lies the challenge: any one of thousands of genes can be involved and cause disease; and a pathogen can very easily find its way into cells. The CSIR's high throughput biology laboratory – one of only 40 in the world – uses cells, microscopes, automisation and miniaturised technology to confront this challenge.

CSIR research

The research begins with the use of microscopy to find and measure how cells work, and how they respond to disease. Imaging cells is one tool to investigate how they respond to change, or to infection. Image analysis allows scientists to convert what they see into numbers, for example automatically measuring how fast cancer cells grow or how HIV infection proceeds.

The high throughput biology team uses gene silencing to manipulate cells. Genes encode for proteins, and these proteins build and maintain cells – and hence human beings. Scientists use chemical probes to interrupt (silence) the flow of one gene into a newly synthesised protein. These probes are called small interfering ribonucleic acids (siRNAs). These are short stretches of RNA that specifically target



(Left) Each red spot on this array – a single printed experiment – is equal to a test tube or beaker in the laboratory. With high throughput biology the number of experiments can be increased dramatically and the time of execution decreased. On the right, the top row shows a controlled experiment where all the genes are active. The bottom row shows the effect of one gene being silenced in an experiment.

and silence a single gene when they are introduced into cells. With this very powerful tool, scientists can turn genes off at will and see what happens to the cells. These siRNAs now exist in libraries and collections where a specific reagent exists to silence all the genes in human genome. The CSIR has acquired the first genomewide human siRNA libraries in Africa.

Increased results in reduced time

Having a library that can turn off any gene in the human genetic portfolio means scientists can screen through them all and see which of them is involved in a particular disease. However, complexity comes at a price. The ability to study twenty thousand genes means many times the number of genes in experiments. This signifies that human beings can no longer do all these experiments. Biologists adopted automation technology and robotics from the pharmaceutical industry to screen all these experiments and now large industrial academic centres worldwide are performing these screens, looking at how pathogens infect cells.

Miniaturisation is used to shrink gene silencing experiments from the macro-

scale to the miniature. Each experiment is printed onto a glass wafer, as a spot of gene-silencing chemistry only three hundred millionths of a metre wide. A single printed experiment is shown in the panel, and it recapitulates all the features of a macroexperiment. The next technology used focuses on scaling this up – producing thousands of these experiments printed as arrays on a glass wafer.

Scientists developed technology that takes genome wide screening and repeats it as a mass-produced resource, in a manner similar to that of a normal copy printer.

Outputs

This novel technology, built in the CSIR's high throughput biology laboratory, allows the printing of an entire array of experiments at the same time onto a glass wafer.

Furthermore, the innovative design enables a significant increase in production and decrease in time – a thousand devices can be printed per hour. This is equivalent to more than 3 million experimental sites for every hour that the arrays are being produced. Being able to mass produce
these devices now enables researchers to ask almost any research question of interest; and to use these devices to understand how infection proceeds, and how it can be treated.

The high throughput biology team has used these devices to screen for host pathogen interactions in HIV²; trypanosome infection³ (such as is found in sleeping sickness and Chagas disease); and the most common genetic disease in caucasians, cystic fibrosis⁴.

Apart from the technology developed, the team has also built the majority of infrastructure, including clean facilities. Several Master's and PhD students have benefited from their involvement in this novel research that offers great opportunity for improving patient treatment, by matching the treatment to the disease. Commercialising this technology to personalise high throughout biology is the team's long-term focus.



- Bionumbers.

 bionumbers.hms.harvard.edu> 1.
 - Genovesio et al in press
 - Genovesio et al in piesa Genovesio, A. et al. Visual Genome-Wide RNAi Screening to Identify Human Host Factors Required for Trypanosoma cruzi Infection. PLoS One 6, e19733, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019733 (2011).
- 4. Tsukasa et al in press

3.



advanced facturing



The importance of manufacturing in South Africa is evident from its significant contribution to exports, job creation and its contribution to the gross domestic product (GDP) of the country. The challenges lie in our ability to add value to raw material before exporting; create new manufacturing industries; and improve our competitiveness even in an adverse economic climate. The CSIR envisages contributing to the size, competitiveness and sustainability of the South African manufacturing industry through its focus on:

- Microsystems and manufacturing
- Smart systems
- Advanced materials and composites
- Additive manufacturing
- The establishment of a titanium industry
- The establishment of a bio-manufacturing industry

On the next pages, read about research and development in specific applications of micro-manufacturing; a CSIR-designed laser used by local industry because of its improved efficiency; a South African-developed system that has proven its value in detecting breaks in railway tracks; the creation of an autonomous rover, a vehicle that is capable of navigating autonomously between key points; and progress made in attempts to develop polymer nanoclay composites that will improve the properties of plastic, thus greatly extending its possible uses.

MICRO-MANUFACTURING SHOWS PROMISE FOR COMPETITIVE MANUFACTURING INDUSTRY

In brief

The advancement of micro-manufacturing technology has fuelled the development of microsystems for a wide range of electronic, biomedical and energy applications. The CSIR is working towards building a sustainable micro-manufacturing industry in South Africa.

The challenge

The future competitiveness of South Africa's manufacturing industry depends on its ability to master advanced technologies and to move from raw material-intensive manufacturing towards knowledge-intensive products and services.

Micro-manufacturing is a multidisciplinary field with the potential to act as a technology platform to enable further research, and create greater impact, in many other fields. A typical example of micro-manufacturing would be a microchip used in consumer electronics or computers.

CSIR researchers believe there is tremendous scope for this field to create employment opportunities and provide South Africa with a competitive technological advantage, provided the country invests in the right areas of micro-manufacturing. While industrialised countries are far advanced in the manufacturing of microchips for computing, there are many other applications that could still benefit greatly from the potential of micro-manufacturing.

CSIR research

The CSIR is currently focusing its micromanufacturing research efforts in four areas:

- Microfluidics for health diagnostics
- Particle manufacture for industrial applications
- Micro cantilevers
- Devices for bacteria detection in water.

Microfluidic diagnostics for health

The CSIR started its microfluidic research group in 2007 and continues to build skills and infrastructure in this domain.

Microfluidic and microsystem-based devices are at the forefront of diagnostic development for resource-poor areas. In most developing countries, one of the pressing health care issues is the need to diagnose diseases quickly, accurately and inexpensively. Being able to do so will significantly impact on the disease burden and quality of life of those diagnosed at an early stage.

However, developing countries also face problems such as lack of reliable electric power, running water, clean laboratories and skilled people. Microfluidic and microsystems-based point-of-care (POC) devices may hold the answer to overcoming these problems.

Using microfluidics, CSIR researchers are currently working to develop POC devices that can be used in resource-limited areas for diagnosing common diseases including HIV/Aids, TB and malaria.

Particle manufacture for industrial applications

Micro-manufacturing researchers are also actively researching microfluidic droplet applications. Droplets produced in microfluidic devices typically contain picolitre to nanolitre volumes of liquid. Each of these droplets is a micro-reactor, compatible with chemical and biological reagents. In addition, these droplets can be controlled, allowing for precise introduction and mixing of these reagents, which results in decreased reaction times.

Together with the reduction in reagent usage, this allows for high throughput for biomedical research. These devices



Inspecting the quality of a microfluidic mould manufactured in the clean room.



Droplets being generated in a flow focused microfluidic device. The frequency and size (b - um) of the droplets can be precisely controlled by varying the flow rate of the various fluids (a - ul/min).



Monodisperse particles manufactured with a microfluidic device. These particles are beneficial for health-related diagnostic, drug encapsulation and industrial production applications because they are of the same size and shape.

can also be used to create monodisperse particles and gels, which are beneficial for many health-related diagnostic, drug encapsulation and industrial production applications. One of the applications being used to test the droplet platform being developed is the manufacture of highly monodisperse, self-immobilised enzymes.

Microcantilevers

Microcantilevers have captured the attention of international scientific communities and micro-manufacturing industries because of their growing importance in fundamental studies and numerous applications in various branches of science and technology development.

Conventional microcantilevers are made of silicon (Si) and similar hard materials. Polymers are much softer, offer a wide range of spring constants and allow for more deformation than conventional cantilevers. The micro-manufacturing group, together with the CSIR National Centre for Nanostructured Materials are investigating novel polymer materials and manufacturing methods to exploit these advantages.

Devices for bacteria detection in water

The consumption of pathogenic bacteria, such as *E.coli*, leads to various diarrhoeal diseases, resulting in approximately three million deaths annually worldwide. In South Africa, diarrhoea is the third highest cause of death among children under the age of five years (after HIV/Aids and low birth weight).

In view of this, the Micro-manufacturing research group is collaborating with the CSIR Polymers and Composites research group to develop a bacterial detection system which includes bacteria preconcentration and rapid detection in water. Paper-based microfluidics, a new research direction, has the capability of providing inexpensive, POC diagnostic tools to the market. This is thanks to advantages such as low fabrication costs, low sample and reagent volume requirements, and high portability.

The proposed detection device will be made of specialised paper materials, patterned with flow channels which, through capillary movement, guide the flow of the sample to detection zones that are preloaded with analysis reagents. These reagents will then give rise to either fluorescence or colour changes, providing a visual indication of the presence or absence of the targeted bacteria. Incorporation of electronic readers or calibration charts, etc., gives these devices



the potential of becoming semi- to fullyquantitative tests.

Funding and facilities

The Micro-manufacturing group has been established with funding from the CSIR and the Technology Innovation Agency (TIA). A clean room for the manufacture of microfluidic moulds has been built, and this allows for the fast turnaround of designs for testing. In addition, the clean room is also used for the manufacture of polymer-based microcantilevers. Two further laboratories are available for the testing and assembly of these devices. These laboratories are equipped with state-of-the-art microscopes and other analytical equipment.

Getting to grips

Microfluidics: Microfluidics is a multidisciplinary field that deals with the behaviour, control and manipulation of sub-microlitre fluid volumes in a constrained space. A microfluidic system consists of a series of sub-millimetre channels with micro-sized pumps, valves, reservoirs and actuators to control the fluid around a circuit on a microchip. The fluid can be anything from a blood sample to a water droplet. The ability to miniaturise and integrate complex functions, which are normally undertaken in sophisticated laboratories, holds enormous potential for lab-on-chip devices for the health domain.

Microcantilever: A microcantilever can act as a physical, chemical or biological sensor by detecting changes in cantilever bending or its vibrational frequency. It can give qualitative as well as quantitative detection capabilities with high sensitivity, low cost, low analyte requirement, non-hazardous procedures and quick sampling, as compared to conventional analytical techniques.



PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS

CSIR DEVELOPS **HIGH-BRIGHTNESS LASER** TO BENEFIT INDUSTRY

In brief

CSIR research, aimed at developing a more efficient industrial laser, has paid off, with the advantage of making local industry potentially more competitive. Using similar technology to make almost any laser operate in a 'high brightness' mode will result in more efficient lasers for long-range communication systems, and in the military for target designation. The technology may also be used to make lasers smaller and less expensive, by exploiting the extra efficiency to make the support systems work a little less.

The challenge

With lasers one generally has to choose between having lots of energy, and having a 'nice' laser beam. A quality that incorporates both these parameters is the so-called 'brightness' of a laser: high brightness means good laser beam quality and high energy. This is difficult to achieve because good beams tend to come at the expense of energy, while high energy beams are highly distorted and difficult to use in practical applications. So is it possible to have the best of both worlds? This question was posed to the CSIR by a South African company intent on making industrial lasers to compete in the international market.

CSIR research

The CSIR has for several years invested in developing core expertise in shaping light with diffractive optical elements; optics that have feature sizes down to the micrometre scale, and sometimes to the nanometre scale. The idea is that given a laser beam of a particular intensity profile (i.e. how the energy carried by the laser is distributed in space), it is possible to reshape the profile of this laser beam by redistributing the energy.

If this is done correctly, then in principle any laser beam shape can be achieved. The group worked on achieving this



Schematic of a laser resonator – the heart of the laser – showing light bouncing between he mirrors before exiting at the right mirror.

same result, but inside a laser, so that the diffractive optical elements are the mirrors of the laser. The idea was that if the mirrors were correctly calculated, and then fabricated, the laser itself would select the best beam for maximum brightness. The shape of the laser beam bouncing around inside the laser was chosen to extract as much energy as possible from the laser, but in a 'good' shape. The idea worked, and the result was a 25 times improvement in the performance of the laser – just with the help of carefully designed micro-structured mirrors.

Outputs

The group reported the work in the literature for the design of novel high brightness lasers, and filed for a PCT patent on some of the concepts. The work was also featured during invited talks at key international conferences.

Outcomes

The research has been taken up by the local photonics industry with a licence agreement signed that sees the technology a permanent part of the product line of export-orientated lasers. With a 25 times improvement in performance with only a change of one mirror in the design, the company can now offer a vastly improved product at very little additional cost. Such transfer of technology is necessary for South Africa to grow its knowledge-based economy.





CSIR laser outreach

Building public understanding of lasers

The Public Understanding of Laser Science and Engineering (PULSE) programme of the CSIR undertakes outreach programmes during which schools are visited by researchers from the CSIR. These visits, and instances when learners visit the CSIR, are aimed at raising laser science awareness. At school level, common laser applications are shown to the pupils, and the main emphasis is on building interest in mathematics and physical science. These outreach activities are adapted to also suit students, educators and communities.

Building research human capital through the CSIR Rental Pool Programme

The CSIR National Laser Centre manages a laser rental pool programme that provides researchers at tertiary education institutions (TEIs) the opportunity of engaging in laser-based research using a collection of state-of-the-art lasers and laser diagnostic equipment. The programme also provides much needed scientific and technical expertise to participating TEIs. The sole purpose of the laser rental pool programme is to develop laser research programmes, specifically within the context of TEIs - where the country's future researchers reside.

Getting to grips

Laser: A laser is a device that controls the way that energised atoms release photons. The word laser is an acronym for Light Amplification by Stimulated Emission of Radiation. Lasers are used in everyday life in, for example, supermarket scanners, laser printers, eye surgery, CD players, laser welding and cutting.



Dr Igor Litvin aligning a laser resonator for customised laser beam shapes

In brief

A South African-developed system that can effectively monitor the world's ageing railway infrastructure is drawing international attention. The system has demonstrated an ability to detect breaks in continuously-welded railway tracks and thereby avoid expensive and lifethreatening derailments.

The challenge

The world's railway infrastructure is ageing - many rail systems date from the first decade of the 19th century. Consequently, cracks in railway lines that can cause derailments occur more frequently. These derailments cost South Africa's economy around R50 million per incident.

Although several methods are currently employed on railway lines throughout the world to improve the reliability and the timeliness of detecting rail breaks, these are generally labour intensive, and are not always as effective as they might be.

CSIR research

Subcontracted by the Institute of Maritime Technology (IMT), the CSIR developed ultrasonic transducers that form an integral part of an Ultrasonic Broken Rail Detector system. It provides railway operators with the benefit of continuously monitoring rails for breaks without human intervention, contributing to the prevention of costly train derailments.

The system is designed to operate from solar power. It requires little maintenance and is easy to install.

The system is based on the following concept: Ultrasonic waves are transmitted along the rail between transmit and receive 'stations' which are placed alternately along the length of the rail. If the required ultrasonic signals are not received, an alarm is activated indicating



Custom ultrasound transducer for rail break monitoring, attached to the Sishen-Saldanha heavy freight railway line.

a broken rail. The entire rail can be monitored continuously and alerts the railway operator as to where a rail break has occurred.

Outputs

To date the research in guided wave ultrasound has produced four journal papers and several conference papers. A student on the project is studying towards an MEng at the University of Pretoria and has one paper in conference proceedings and a second conference presentation. Two Master's students have been supported in their efforts to apply guided wave ultrasound to other industrial applications.

Outcomes

This is a world-first solution; the first and only alternative (to track circuits) broken rail detection system developed, produced and implemented on a large scale. It has been brought to an operational test level by IMT and is installed on sections of Transnet's Coal line (460 km double track, from Ermelo to Richard's Bay) and its heavy-duty iron ore Orex line (860 km, Sishen to Saldanha).

The system's uniqueness and effectiveness have also attracted considerable attention from the international railway community. The system has been tested at the Transport Technology Centre in Colorado, USA; on a test section in Kingston, Canada; on the subways of New York City and Hong Kong; and is currently being tested in Japan.

Various changes have been made to the original design to ensure that the transducers survive in the extremely hostile environment in which they operate.

A research group has been established at the CSIR that investigates the field of guided wave ultrasound. This group has developed unique capabilities for modelling and measuring the transduction and propagation of elastic waves in rails. These capabilities are currently being employed to develop an improved transducer for longer range guided wave



transmission and detection at lower cost. The transducer is being developed to operate on two welded rail lines in South Africa. In addition, the numerical models used are being coded in software and the development procedure is being documented so that transducers for other rail profiles, used internationally, can be easily developed in future.

Impact

During 2010, the system prevented two derailments, saving Transnet (and the South African economy) an estimated R100m. It continues to play a vital role in securing the country's valuable coal and iron ore industries.

International potential

It is estimated that more than 60% of all rail worldwide is suitable for the system. This means that at least a total of 673 500 km is suitable and with a conservative estimate of 1.75 km per unit (a unit in this context is either a receiver or a transmitter) the total global market is estimated to be in the region of 385 000 units.

The team's ultimate goal is to develop a system that can detect cracks in railway lines even before breakages occur.

Funding and collaborators

The Institute of Maritime Technology (IMT) is a major collaborator on the project. While the system's transducers were developed by the CSIR, the rest of the system was developed by the IMT and it is also the implementers of the technology.

The initial development project and the production of the transducers were funded by Transnet through subcontracts via the IMT. CSIR parliamentary grant funding has been used to establish an R&D capability supporting future developments of this technology.

Getting to grips

Piezoelectric ultrasonic transducer: A device that converts an electrical signal into ultrasonic sound waves and vice versa. Piezoelectric materials have the property of changing size when a voltage is applied. Applying an alternating current across them can cause them to oscillate at very high frequencies, thus producing very high frequency (ultrasonic) sound waves.

Smart structure or material: Smart structures and materials can sense changes in their environment and respond to them without human intervention. The sensing and actuation capabilities are linked by some sort of processing, which may be implemented electronically. For instance, sensors that are placed on bridges to monitor vibrations can transmit the information wirelessly, thereby eliminating the need for cabling. However, the sensors' batteries need to be replaced periodically. Ways are now being sought to harvest energy from the bridge's vibrations to recharge the battery so that no maintenance is required.



AUTONOMOUS ROVER TO 'LEND A HELPING HAND' WITH REPETITIVE TASKS

In brief

The CSIR is developing an autonomous rover, the primary objective of which is to reduce the workload of operators performing repetitive tasks with vehicles. Potential examples include haulage of ore in mines, sowing and harvesting of agricultural crops, and other transport applications. Additionally, tele-operated or remote control vehicles typically require a large degree of concentration to drive, due to the limited sensory information available to the operator. An autonomous rover will be able to reduce the burden of simple tasks while allowing for control to be referred back to the operator in periods of uncertainty.

The challenge

An autonomous rover is a vehicle capable of independently performing point-topoint navigation tasks without human intervention. This autonomous navigation capability can be applied to reduce the cognitive load for operators controlling vehicles. Activities which can be performed autonomously leave operators free to allocate time to other critical tasks. This can be useful in applications such as search and rescue.

The task of autonomously navigating between two desired points requires several crucial components. The vehicle must be able to plan an optimal path between the points of interest; it requires an accurate estimate of its current position and orientation, and appropriate control inputs must be calculated to guide the vehicle along this path. There should also be an ability to adapt to unforeseen changes in the environment.

The CSIR Mobile Intelligent Autonomous Systems (MIAS) research group – an emerging research area – has undertaken the development of a system that is capable of performing these tasks.



A panoramic view from the rover, while traveling on the CSIR campus.

CSIR research

Over the past few years, the MIAS group has conducted research in the field of autonomous vehicles, focusing on aspects such as perception, data fusion, planning and control. With a focus on partial automation of user-operated systems, algorithms were developed to plan paths, estimate position and execute planned trajectories. The system is also capable of identifying scenarios which it might not handle correctly, and refers the more complex task of negotiating these unforeseen circumstances to the operator.

Movement was restricted to roads on the CSIR campus. The path planning problem can be likened to typical in-car navigation systems: simply choosing the shortest route to a destination. By contrast, the tasks of localisation and control are not as simple.

The CSIR autonomous rover uses Global Positioning System (GPS) data to determine its position and orientation, a process collectively defined as localisation. Unfortunately, GPS is subject to a variety of errors including satellite geometry, orbital errors, multipath as well as relativistic and atmospheric effects. To overcome these problems, the MIAS group developed a sensor fusion algorithm to combine inputs from several sensors on the robotic platform, including GPS, as well as a motion model, to estimate the location of the platform robustly.

The group has also produced an arbitrary path-following control algorithm that computes the desired steering and acceleration inputs to the platform's actuators to maintain smooth motion of the platform, while countering any disturbances encountered in everyday driving. Finally, effort was directed towards environmental perception, to identify possible obstructions and take the action necessary to avoid collisions.

Outputs

The culmination of these technologies has led to the CSIR autonomous rover, a vehicle that is capable of navigating autonomously between key points on the example network of the CSIR campus. Special attention was paid to the introduction of safety systems such as collision avoidance.

The rover was designed with the ability to switch easily between fully autonomous and tele-operated modes, so that a human operator can take control of the platform at any stage. In addition to being a possible

advanced manufacturing

technology demonstrator, the work has led to a number of publication outputs and has attracted external interest.

MIAS publications arising from this work and related projects have been accepted at international conferences such as the 2010 International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA) and the forthcoming 2011 IFAC World Congress.

The project was conducted with the primary aim of developing the enabling technologies for an autonomous rover, which can now be used for a number of applications. The work also played an important role in capability building and skills development in the field robotics domain. Robotics is a nascent field in South Africa and one of the project's aims was to promote skills development in the area, a target which has been achieved.

Work conducted on the autonomous rover is being furthered in an autonomous mule project, the aim of which is to create a 'pack-mule' robot which can assist personnel on foot with the transport of equipment. Additional elements involved in the autonomous mule project include the ability to follow pre-defined targets and navigate the rover along routes not previously explored by the robot.



The rover's current location and path history is shown in Google Earth for remote observation.



CSIR Mobile Intelligent Autonomous Systems researche



ADVANCED **POLYMER NANOCOMPOSITE RESEARCH** TAKES THE BEND OUT OF PLASTICS

In brief

Plastics have become indispensible in the modern world because of its relative ease of forming components by injection moulding, extrusion and casting as well as its great mechanical properties. New applications in sports, automotive, aeronautic and packaging applications, however, continue to place an increasing demand on researchers to develop new applications and make the plastics stronger, lighter, biodegradable, fire retardant and bio-compatible etc. Internationally the pressure is on to find new ways of achieving these properties in a polymer, and researchers at the CSIR National Centre for Nano-Structured Materials (NCNSM) aim to develop polymer nanoclay composites with some of these advanced properties based on South African nanoclays.

The challenge

The worldwide demand for polymer nanocomposites (PNCs) is increasing rapidly in advanced packaging, automotive, construction, functional membranes, and other applications due to their superior barrier, thermal, mechanical, and other properties. The development of the industry related to PNCs with enhanced features, and the expanding research activities in this field, are some of the factors that will drive the PNC market which has a projected growth rate of 56%.

Even though PNCs show huge industrial potential as next generation smart and advanced composite materials, they have not yet achieved the expected commercial success. Currently, the main stumbling block is the inability to control the nano-level dispersion of the clay particles during largescale production.

CSIR research

For the preparation of advanced plastics with a balance of properties, it is important

to introduce fillers into the polymer matrices. The current use of nano-fillers pushes this strategy to the next level by exploiting the advantages that nanometersized particulates offer, compared with conventional fillers, such as huge interfacial area per volume of particles, large number density of particles as well as the particleparticle co-relation arising at low volume fractions. The polymers containing the nanoscale fillers are generally known as PNCs, and play a significant role in one of the most promising 21st century technologies – nanotechnology.

The main ongoing research activities at the NSNSM are focused on applying innovative and smart interfacial chemistry to solve the aggregation of nanoclay platelets into the polymer host during processing. Successful nano-level dispersion will lead to a vast increase in the contact area between the clay platelets and the polymer chains. It is the true nano-effect that results in the improved properties such as increased mechanical strength, stiffness and thermal stability.

One project in the centre aims to develop PNC applications in South Africa. The goal is to develop multifunctional polymer nanoclay composites, based on South African nanoclays and the ingenuity of a good team as well as the expertise of world leading nanocomposites specialist and centre leader Professor Suprakas Sinha Ray, who was ranked among the top 50 chemists in the world by Thomson Reuters during early 2011.

The team is also investigating the dispersion of nanoclay and silver nanoparticles in paints, to make them more durable and smooth as well as antibacterial, all important aspects for its application in hospitals, clinics or in the harsh South African sun. Rather than basing its research on the best imported nanoclays, the



A transmission electron microscope mage of the corner of a South African clay particle (platelets are clearly visible) decorated with silver nanoparticles (dark dots).



A scanning electron microscope image of nanoclay platelets dispersed in a polymer. Each dark line is a platelet viewed from the side.

Advanced Nanocomposites project team is attempting to find and chemically modify the best natural nanoclays the southern African region has to offer.

Outputs

While more papers are expected in the duration of the project, 20 papers have already seen the light in nanocomposites over the past three years.

One PhD and two MSc students, three interns and two postdoctoral students will work on the project and further expansion is expected. Once more clays have been collected and modified, the project is expected to produce patents.

In collaboration with university research groups, the centre intends using these lower cost nanoclays to develop the nanocomposites industry in South Africa which will create jobs and through products manufactured in the industry, result in benefits to ordinary people. It intends to also produce nanocomposite paints and plastics with unique properties, including anti-bacterial properties based on silver nanoparticles.

An important aspect of the project will be the licensing of the technologies to industry. The excellent characterisation equipment as well as good collaboration with universities and various local and international industries will enable the centre to make this a reality. Contract negotiations with one Indian company and a South African paint producer are the early leads in commercialisation of the nanoclay modification process and nanocomposites production process.

Funding and collaborators

That NCNSM was created in 2007 as part of the implementation of government's National Nanotechnology Strategy. The centre is hosted by the CSIR as one of its emerging research areas, and is cofunded by the Department of Science and Technology. Collaborators are numerous and include local and international universities and scientific institutes.

advanced Stry manufacturing



The polymer nanocomposites team are from left (seated) Charity Maepa, (standing) Dr Lucky Sikhwivhilu, Thomas Malwela, Dr Manfred Scriba, Dr layita Bandyopadhyay, Innocentia Mashilwane (holding the bucky ball), Dr Sreejarani Pillai, Professor Suprakas Sinha Ray (NCNSM Manager), and Ntombi Mathe (seated, right).

Getting to grips

Nanoclay: A very old mineral derived from weathered volcanic ash, comprising 1 nanometer thin mineral plates stacked together like a deck of playing cards, but just about 1 million times smaller. Untreated clay powders are used to bleach beer and wine and to absorb pollutants in water. However, through chemical modification the plates can be pried and kept apart by specific organic molecules called surfactants. When properly dispersed in a polymer (plastic) matrix they show their great potential.



The newly-acquired, industry-scale extruder at the National Centre for Nano-Structured Materials is a machine which is normally used for melting a plastic polymer and then converting it to a certain shape through a process called extrusion. The extruder can be used to mix the polymer with additives or nanostructured materials to prepare a polymer nanocomposite in order to enhance the properties of the polymer such as fire retardance performance.



This visualisation of a mine stope acquired with a CSIR multi-sensor 3D scanner shows a portion of a 3D model of a platinum mine stope face, coloured by rock temperature. These visualisations are helpful in determining areas where a unique combination of temperature and structure indicates an area of potential rock fall risk where remedial action is required to make the area safe.

With its 495 000 workers and R162 billion merchandise exports, the South African mining sector continues to create wealth for the country's people. Its challenges lie in health and safety: Reducing accidents, noise and dust; as well as keeping productivity at an optimum. The CSIR intends to contribute to a sustainable mining industry that is smart, innovative and efficient and that keeps its people safe, thereby extracting maximum value from minerals for the people of South Africa. To do this, the CSIR will focus on:

- Health and safety
- Smart systems
- New mining methods
- Decision-support systems

In the next article, read about the CSIR's contribution to the elimination of silicosis.

SCIENCE AT WORK TO ENSURE THE HEALTH OF SA'S MINERS

In brief

Nationally and internationally, silicosis, a lung disease associated with mining activities, has caused major health concerns. In South Africa, the CSIR was appointed to assist the mining industry to reduce and eliminate the dust exposures of their workers by identifying and implementing dust control technologies in the underground work environment.

The challenge

The silicosis problem in South Africa has its origin in the inadequate dust control and high disease rates found in the 'silica industries'. The severity of the disease is determined by the total dose and intensity of dust exposure.

The disease is characterised by the scarring of lung tissue, and consequently, a reduced ability of the lung to exchange oxygen with waste gasses that are produced in the body.

The danger of silicosis as a disease lies in the fact that it is progressive; even after exposure has ceased, deterioration continues. Silicosis also increases the risk of tuberculosis, another serious concern in South Africa.

The Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC) held a Summit in 2003 where it was decided to address this disabling disease. It called for a reduction of silica dust exposure in accordance with the following milestones:

- By December 2008, 95% of all dust exposure measurement results must be below the occupational exposure limit (OEL) for respirable crystalline silica of 0.1 mg/m³; and
- After December 2013, using present diagnostic techniques, no new cases of silicosis must occur among



A typical spectrum obtained from an X-ray diffractometer in measuring quartz in dust.

previously exposed individuals (i.e. equivalent to a new person entering the industry in 2008).

CSIR research

A Safety in Mines Research Advisory Council silicosis control programme (SIM 03 06 03) study was initiated and awarded to the CSIR to assist the South African mining industry in achieving these milestones.

The focus of the SIM 03 06 03 project was to assist the mining industry to reduce and eliminate the dust exposures of its workers by identifying and implementing dust control technologies in the underground work environment. Primary outputs comprised the following:

- A risk assessment to identify the priority dust sources and the applicable control technologies in underground mines
- Assessment of the filtration efficiency for respirable dust of the current filter

media used for dust control

 Compilation of internationally acceptable best practice materials, including manuals, for dust control.

The CSIR project team obtained information on current local and international practices for dust control by visiting selected mines and speaking with dust control experts. The team assessed current dust control practice in developed mining countries and compared this with data from South Africa. Following this, potential dust control methods in identified project mines (gold, coal and longwall coal) were piloted to determine the effectiveness of the controls to lower dust liberation in the mining environment. Work also included a literature review on dust control methods for South African quarries.

Outputs

The following good practice manuals were developed from the study to guide the mining industry to work towards the



elimination of silicosis through dust control practices:

- Operations manual for Data Visualisation Software (DataViz) and Activity Recognition Software (Scorekeeper)
- Manual of good practice for dust sampling protocols for coal mining
- Manual of good practice for dust sampling protocols for gold mining
- Operations manual for laboratory dust filtration efficiency testing
- Operations manual for full-scale operational dust filtration efficiency testing
- Manual of good practice for dust control in quarries.

Getting to grips

Chronic silicosis: The most common form of silicosis brought on by low, but frequent silica dust exposure where the dust contains 18-30% crystalline silica. In this form silica dust accumulates in the lungs and causes fibrotic changes.

Acute silicosis: Appears within a few weeks to two to five years after initial exposure to exceptionally high concentrations of crystalline silica. Characterised by intra-alveolar deposits in the lungs.

Accelerated silicosis: The results of inhaling very high concentrations of silica dust over a relatively short period of about five to ten years. With accelerated silicosis the time from initial exposure to the onset of the disease is a relatively short period and the progression to complicated silicosis is much faster.

Respirable dust: Dust particles of less than 10 microns (µm) in diameter and small enough to enter the gas exchange region of the human lung when inhaled.



The scarred lung tissue of a miner shows the onset of silicosis. The excessive exposure to dust, or silicosis, remains a major cause of premature retirement and death among South African miners. (Department of Mineral Resources Annual Report 2009/10)

environment



The natural environment is both an important source of economic opportunity agriculture, forestry, fisheries, ecotourism - and an irreplaceable habitat for humans and other species. CSIR research in this domain embraces both of these aspects, and the critical tradeoffs between them. It is about the environment that we live in and use, rather than exclusively about undisturbed nature.

Our research aims to develop innovative R&D platforms to provide strategicallyfocused environmental solutions in support of a resilient economy. This involves:

- Strategic investment in state-of-the-art platforms for assessing and monitoring the state of the natural resource base
- Apply systems analysis and integrated modelling for complex decision making and resource planning support
- Develop and deploy R&D capabilities in environmental technology and engineering.

Read about the CSIR's work to assist in decision making on aspects around freshwater in South Africa and the development of an atlas to outline priority areas for the country's freshwater ecosystems. Also read about the CSIR's investigation into the threat of acid mine drainage at the Cradle of Humankind World Heritage Site; and about measurement and modelling at the heart of work done to establish a seasonally unbiased estimate of CO₂ ocean-atmosphere fluxes for the Southern Ocean.

In brief

South Africa's freshwater ecosystems are under increasing pressure and cannot all be kept in a good condition. In this project, the CSIR and a number of partners carefully mapped those which should be protected. Experts believe that if the rivers and wetlands that have been identified as priority areas are kept in a good condition, it will help support the sustainability of the entire network of freshwater ecosystems in South Africa.

The challenge

Water is South Africa's lifeblood. It influences the well-being of the country's people and water shortages or a decline in water quality will hamper economic development. Water is intrinsically linked with the ecosystems through which it passes, and deteriorating ecosystems will adversely affect the quantity and quality of water. In recent years, numerous studies have found that more than half of the ecosystems associated with rivers are classified as threatened.

While there is widespread agreement on the importance of sustainable water resource development and freshwater biodiversity conservation as a national priority, the question remains: How many and which rivers and wetlands do we have to maintain in a natural condition to sustain economic and social development and still conserve our freshwater biodiversity? The National Freshwater Ecosystem Priority Areas project (NFEPA) addressed this question.

CSIR research

One of the most important considerations in tackling this challenge was that of cooperation: No single entity is responsible for decisions on freshwater-related matters; progress in managing and conserving freshwater ecosystems is dependent on cooperation. Many different players were therefore involved, including government departments and their regional and provincial counterparts as well as conservation groups and universities. In addition to the project team and reference group, the project also relied on the participation of well over 150 stakeholders, representing approximately 1000 person years of collective experience in either aquatic science or biodiversity planning.

What makes an area a priority?

The criteria for identifying freshwater priority areas were based on earlier work in which government departments had agreed on a vision for managing and conserving freshwater ecosystems. These criteria were reviewed during regional expert review workshops. The underlying principle is that by conserving habitat, species are conserved, so a representative part of all river, wetland and estuary ecosystems has to be conserved.

Other criteria included:

- Areas where populations of threatened or near-threatened freshwater fish occurred
- Areas that are considered high water yield or high groundwater recharge areas
- Free-flowing rivers, which are rivers that have not been dammed and of which there are very few left globally
- Connectedness, as ecosystems that are connected are most likely to support biodiversity.

Once the criteria had been established, the process of collecting data sets began. The team used the best existing and available data sources. This typically included data from the river health programme, the reserve determination data of the then Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, as well as the ecostatus data for the present ecological status of rivers. These data



Conservation scientist and GIS specialist, Dr Jeanne Nel of the CSIR, pictured in the Upper Berg river with Dean Impson of Cape Nature, one of many contributors in this project.

sets were converted to a spatial format, and taken to freshwater experts in six different regions of the country for review. Refinements were made to these input data and priorities were determined using a conservation planning algorithm that seeks to find the most spatially efficient solution to achieving all the criteria.

These priority areas were then taken to a national review workshop in which the same experts from the different regions, and managers, gathered to review the priority outputs. Refinements, with appropriate reasons, were made to the priority areas to produce Freshwater Ecosystem Priority Areas maps ('FEPA maps') for the 19 different Water Management Areas of South Africa.

Key findings

- Only 35% of the length of SA's mainstem rivers is in a good condition, compared to 57% of the tributaries.
- 57% of river ecosystems and 65% of wetland ecosystems are threatened.
- Only 22% of South Africa's river length has been identified as freshwater ecosystem priority areas and this puts conservation and development aims within reach.

- South Africa has only 62 free-flowing rivers, which constitutes only 4% of our river length.
- The priority areas identified in the atlas protect over 50 fish species that are on the brink of extinction.

Outputs

In the process of creating a strategic intervention that will help South Africa conserve its freshwater ecosystems, numerous products were delivered. The most prominent of these was an atlas which visually summarises the location of areas which should remain in a healthy and wellfunctioning state.

The atlas contains 19 priority area maps, one for each water management area in South Africa.



In addition, the technology package includes a DVD with data and GIS viewer, an implementation manual, and a look-up table listing ecosystem types, species and special features recorded in priority areas. A technical report describing the scientific approach applied to identify priority areas was also produced.

The work has also led to numerous research papers that have been published in reputable international journals. These include Biological Conservation, Freshwater Biology as well as Ecology and Society.

Outcomes

The Department of Water Affairs indicated that it has already used the maps in water resource classification endeavours as well as for ecological reserve determination. The Endangered Wildlife Trust has used the maps as input in defining its priority

areas for its relatively new involvement in freshwater conservation through the Healthy Rivers Programme, while Cape Nature says it is using the maps to determine the priorities around invasive plant clearing, and deciding on where alien fish may be stocked.

Funding and collaborators

In addition to CSIR funding through its parliamentary grant, direct financial support was received from the Water Research Commission (WRC), the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI); the Department of Water Affairs (DWA), the Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA) and the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF). Invaluable in-kind contributions were received from the South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB), the South African National Parks (SANParks), and the University of the Witwatersrand (Wits).



ESTABLISHING A WATER RESOURCES MONITORING PROGRAMME FOR THE CRADLE OF HUMANKIND

In brief

The Cradle of Humankind World Heritage Site (COH WHS), in one of the world's most important protected karst landscapes, is threatened by acid mine drainage (AMD).

Perceptions of this threat have generated widespread concern since the Cradle houses some of the world's most revered fossil sites, including the famous Sterkfontein Caves. In 2008, the Management Authority of the COH WHS commissioned a study to develop a water resources monitoring programme for the area.

The challenge

The Cradle of Humankind is one of seven World Heritage Sites in South Africa. It has yielded some of the oldest hominin fossils ever found, some dating back as far as 3.5 million years. The fossil record spans more than a third of the total record of human evolution in Africa, and there is informed expectation that further sites and fossils will be unearthed at this location.

In late August 2002, the Western Wits Basin outside Krugersdorp started to decant acid mine water. This was some six years after the last mine to shut down underground mine workings in this basin stopped dewatering its operations. This followed 120 years of mining in the Witwatersrand goldfields.

CSIR research

Led by the CSIR, a multidisciplinary research team investigated the surface water and groundwater resources and their relationship in a study area of nearly 65 000 hectares. The assessment also included an evaluation of the vulnerability of all fourteen fossil sites to water-related threats such as AMD and municipal waste water. Researchers had to understand the interaction between surface water and groundwater; the groundwater levels that define hydrogeologically separated compartments; and monitor the quality of surface and groundwater sources.

Better understanding critical for evaluation

Based on the assessment, researchers built a conceptual model to understand the different pathways where AMD enters, impacts on and leaves the system.

For the first time, we now understand the cave morphology associated with each fossil site. This means that a cave system is classified in relation to its setting in the landscape. For example, a 'near-surface' setting describes a shallow cave system that is mainly exposed on surface, whereas an 'underground' setting describes a cave system that also extends underground, sometimes intersecting the groundwater level. In this project, researchers redefined earlier information regarding groundwater compartments and sub-compartments in the study area. This was established on the basis of new groundwater level data and a clearer understanding of spring localities, since these indicate groundwater flow directions. This means that the geographic extent of contaminated water movement in the groundwater environment will be restricted to the southern part of the Cradle of Humankind, leaving the more remote and natural part unaffected.

It is especially the redefinition of groundwater compartments, and the location of the fossil sites within these compartments, that determined the hydrovulnerability of each fossil site.

Some findings

The study concluded that nine of the 14 fossil sites are not in any danger of being impacted by contaminated water either from AMD or municipal waste water. This is mainly because the fossil sites are located in groundwater compartments that are unlikely to ever receive contaminated water.



CSIR geohydrologist Phil Hobbs measuring the pH of acidic mine water decanting from abandoned mines in the Western Basin.



The Cradle of Humankind World Heritage Site lies in a karst landscape that was formed over 2300 million years ago. The Cradle, and specifically the Sterkfontein Caves, has yielded some of the oldest hominin fossils ever found, some dating back as far as 3.5 million years.

Apart from Bolt's Cave and the Sterkfontein Caves, all the other fossil sites lie well above the ambient groundwater level.

Fortunately, the water quality in the Sterkfontein Caves has been monitored for the past six years, and its quality has not been adversely impacted yet, despite the cave water level having risen by some three meters.

Among others, the study recommends regular monitoring of both the cave water level and cave water chemistry by tour guides, as well as a more complete water chemistry analysis twice a year. In addition, routine monitoring of the cavedwelling fauna in the Sterkfontein Caves is strongly recommended, to serve as an early warning system of impact. The rationale for this is that in the generally food-poor environment of caves, an increase in nutrients typically associated with eutrophication, will also result in a population increase.

Outputs

The study has provided the opportunity to produce a number of technical and popular articles that will disseminate new information on the karst hydrogeology of the COH WHS and the vulnerability of its fossil sites to water-related threats. The data that inform the interaction between AMD and the dolomitic strata into which it flows are still being studied, and these results will also be published in the near future.

Six junior staff members had the opportunity to get more familiar with field measurement methods including synoptic discharge measurements using a current meter, field water chemistry variable determinations, water sampling procedures and groundwater level measurements. The beneficiaries included interns and studentship holders, and junior personnel from the Department of Water Affairs.

In addition to research outputs, the principal investigator assisted UNESCO and the Gauteng Management Authority to provide science-based information during dramatic media coverage of the AMD impact and perceived effects on the Cradle. In February 2011 he also addressed the Tourism Summit Programme on the AMD issue as it might impact on tourism as part of Parliament's "Parliament to the People" initiative.

Collaborators

The Department of Water Affairs was an important stakeholder and established 14 new monitoring boreholes in the study area. The Mogale City (Krugersdorp) Local Municipality provided valuable data for the project, as did numerous landowners.



Getting to grips

Karst landscape: A karst landscape is characterised by streams, sinkholes, caves and springs formed over millions of years, among others by naturally acidic infiltrating rainwater that slowly dissolves the calcium-carbonate mineral matrix that forms the limestone or dolomitic strata.



In late August 2002, the Western Wits Basin outside Krugersdorp started to decant acidic mine water, causing wide-spread concern for the potential impact on the fossil sites in the Cradle of Humankind. In 2008, the Management Authority of the Cradle commissioned the CSIR to develop a water resources monitoring programme for the area.

In brief

The Southern Ocean is arguably the most important carbon-climate system on Earth. According to recent estimates, 40% of all CO_2 emitted are stored in the Southern Ocean. Despite this, the Southern Ocean carbon cycle remains little understood and has the potential to weaken the role of the global oceans as a CO_2 sink. How the Southern Ocean carbon cycle will adjust to climate change is a global challenge that could impose further constraints on minimum emissions reduction rates. The CSIR and its partners are working together for a better understanding of the Southern Ocean.

The challenge

South Africa is likely to be particularly vulnerable to global change, given its aridity, highly diverse ecosystems and the high dependence on ecosystem services for water, agriculture, fisheries, forestry, tourism and other land uses. As global change research reveals increasing evidence of climate-linked changes, it is clear that these changes are likely to impact many sectors of South African society.

One of the challenges being addressed in the Department of Science and Technology's (DST) Ten-year Innovation Plan, is science and technology for global change, with a focus on climate change. The challenge has three objectives:

- Enhance scientific understanding of global change
- Develop innovations and technologies to respond to global change
- Understand the social context within which solutions will have to be implemented.

CSIR research

In one of its research programmes, the CSIR leads a multi-institutional initiative to

understand the link between climate and the carbon cycle in the Southern Ocean. Understanding the changing carbon fluxes between the atmosphere, land and sea is one of the challenges that scientists must confront if the consequences of political decisions regarding carbon emissions are to be effectively assessed.

The CSIR and its partners in the Southern Ocean Carbon-Climate Observatory (SOCCO) programme participate in the annual cruises to South Africa's bases in Antarctica, Gough and the Prince Edward Islands, enabling researchers to put in place a long-term observational programme. The SOCCO programme focuses research on developing an integrated physical and biogeochemical understanding of the coupled carbonclimate system in the Southern Ocean through measurement and modelling.

Researchers can contribute high-quality data to the global integrated carbonclimate observing network, while at the same time developing skills and future leadership in climate and Earth systems science by including postgraduate students to work with experienced scientists on these cruises.

With the support of DST and South Africa's National Antarctic Programme (SANAP), the SOCCO programme has established several national research and development facilities at the CSIR and its research partners. These include a high precision CO_2 and partial CO_2 measuring facility (CSIR), an ocean biooptics facility (CSIR), an ocean profiling facility (CSIR and the Department of Environmental Affairs); a high precision nutrient and oxygen measuring facility, as well as an ocean productivity facility (University of Cape Town); and an iron clean analytical experimental facility (University of Stellenbosch).



Dr Thato Mtshali (front) took part in the sampling and measuring of iron during an international research cruise in the South Pacific. Iron is one of the essential micronutrients to phytoplankton and a key role player in our understanding of the role of the oceans in global CO₂ trends. He will employ these newly-acquired skills at the brand new iron chemistry facility at the University of Stellenbosch.



In 2011, observational capabilities at the ocean profiling facility are expanding to include long-range ocean gliders – another first for South Africa.

Outputs

This group of nine researchers has published over thirty research articles in high-impact and prestigious international science journals such as Trends in Ecology and Evolution; Environmental Research Letters; Climate Dynamics; Progress in Oceanography; Biogeosciences; Global Biogeochemical Cycles; and Geophysical Research Letters.

CSIR researchers in this field are active participants and contributors to international forums that address questions of science of ocean CO₂ and its impact on reducing the rates of CO₂ buildup in the atmosphere. Research group leader and chief oceanographer, Dr Pedro Monteiro, made high-level inputs to OceanObs'09 – an international conference representing the global ocean science community and convened to map research priorities for the next decade. He also sits on the scientific steering group of the International Ocean Carbon Coordination Programme (IOCCP). A significant finding during 2010 was the group's contribution to the understanding of the regional differences in the seasonal variability of Southern Ocean productivity, a key factor in CO₂ fluxes. This shows that differences in the spatial characteristics of productivity are not as closely linked to large scale fronts as previously thought. Rather the Southern Ocean's productivity can be linked to the dynamical character of both seasonal and sub-seasonal variability of the surface mixed layer.

With these improved observational and research facilities, South African researchers can now lead the planning of international experiments as well as collaborate with international partners through such programmes as GEOTRACES – a global experiment to help the science community understand past, present and future cycles of trace metals, and how changes in the environment are impacting on these cycles.

The group has been preparing for South Africa's participation in a planned multicountry international experiment, starting in 2014 and combining both ship and long-range ocean gliders, to improve global understanding of the link between the carbon cycle and climate in the Southern Ocean. As part of this initiative, the CSIR convened and hosted an international expert workshop in August 2010.

Funding and collaborators

Through the CSIR, the DST funded the modernisation of the physics and biogeochemical observational capability of the SA Agulhas, South Africa's polar research vessel since 1977. This project has now been extended to fund a new

environment

polar research ship as well as a number of new national facilities that provide advanced scientific and engineering training and research capabilities.

Local and international research partners are the universities of Cape Town, Western Cape and Stellenbosch; the Department of Environmental Affairs; the South African Weather Service and the South African National Antarctic Programme. Key international partners are the Bjerknes Centre for Climate Research at the University of Bergen, Norway, and Princeton University in the United States.



Researchers on board the SA Agulhas – South Africa's polar research vessel – monitor the equipment used to measure underway conductivity, temperature and depth during the annual trip to Antarctica.





The CSIR's work in information and communications technology (ICT) research and development takes its cue from the concept of the information society. Our vision is to contribute to South Africa's development towards an advanced information society in which everyone can benefit from their enhanced ability to create, manipulate, organise, transmit, store and act on information.

Advances in ICT, brought about by research and experimental development, are worthy of pursuit both in terms of enabling impact in areas such as health, energy and the environment, and as an area of impact in itself.

The CSIR's research and development focuses specifically on:

- Integrative systems, platforms and technologies
- Networks and media
- Cyberinfrastructure
- Earth observation science and information technology
- Human language technologies and knowledge technologies

In this section, find out how CSIR researchers hope to contribute to making the Internet of Things work for South Africans; how research is making a contribution to providing affordable broadband connectivity to under-serviced rural communities; the status of a sustainable national cyberinfrastructure system for research, development and innovation across the entire national system of innovation; and what advances are being made in harnessing the massive amount of Earth observation data. Also read about a project in which ICT has been used to benefit several sporting codes.

INTERNET OF THINGS

In brief

Relatively new in South Africa, the Internet of Things is a worldwide trend that enables integrated solutions incorporating the physical world, cyberspace and humans. It makes possible, for example, a world in which energy demands are optimised, the load managed and controlled through the intelligent control of appliances, utilities and devices, or where the devices at home could make sense of weather predictions and pre-emptively change settings on 'things' to make houses more comfortable.

The CSIR is researching various applications and technologies to make the Internet of Things work for South Africans.

The challenge

Access to information for enhanced decision making has become a priority in today's world. Accurate information in real time is needed by individuals, industry and governments for effective and responsible use of resources, and improved planning and execution of activities.

More and more devices and physical objects are being connected to the Internet. Each is creating volumes of data; when processed, the data can be used by decision makers.

Appropriate actions impacting on the environment can be executed once the information received from the many heterogeneous elements has been processed.

CSIR research

The Internet of Things posits a world where all devices and physical entities are connected to the Internet, creating a network of unprecedented scale, each device or physical entity with its own Internet Protocol number, each with its own published set of 'services', based on the



The Internet of Things team, led by Dr Louis Coetzee (second from right): Andrew Smith, Sizakele Mathaba, Laurie Butgereit, Promise Mvelase, Guillaume Olivrin and Dr Nomusa Dlodlo.

physical attributes and virtual 'personality', allowing people and other devices to interact with the physical world through cyberspace.

These objects are identifiable in terms of status, geo-location and ability – an expanded Internet to which services and intelligence are added. As these objects will be connected in both a sensory and intelligent manner, masses of data are intelligently processed.

The CSIR is researching various applications, such as the technology required to optimise and balance energy consumption in a 'smart city'. This involves a fusion of research trends – distributed intelligence, statistical analysis and interoperability mechanisms for heterogeneous devices and cloud computing.

Unsolved issues in the context of the Internet of Things phenomenon are the rights of individuals, governance and trust. In addition, many technological platforms and solutions make up the Internet of Things. Ensuring interoperability through appropriate standardisation is a high priority. The envisioned scale and complexity introduced by the large number of participating elements is an enormous challenge. It raises questions such as how the robustness of solutions can be ensured. Internet of Things solutions and applications will face a data deluge; researchers will have to consider how the data from billions of things will be processed, stored and maintained for future generations.

Outputs

The Internet of Things concept has been demonstrated in domains such as logistics, transport and asset tracking, smart environments, health, energy, defence and agriculture.

Research at the CSIR has shown the success of smaller, vertical solutions, such as finding and identifying misplaced objects or using quick response (QR) codes for tree identification. This was done in the context of a code-sprints training programme for five students.



The research has been documented in papers and conference presentations, such as the presentation, *Linking the Internet of Things to Social Media: A Look at the Vaal Dam*, at the zawww2011 conference. Two other recent papers include contributions to the IST-Africa 2011 conference proceedings.

Outcomes

A project with the Department of Water Affairs (DWA) has demonstrated the viability of communicating important information on water levels of three South African dams (Vaal, Bloemhof and Van der Kloof) by using the Internet of Things concepts. Information is retrieved from the DWA website and posted automatically to social media, i.e. Twitter and Facebook, for interested parties to access. The dam then becomes a 'thing' with cyber representation.

Monitoring of electricity consumption at the CSIR has been another outcome of the use of this technological concept. Consumption in small work areas is collected automatically and disseminated via social media. Patterns of energy usage can in turn inform decisions regarding usage of appliances to support energy efficiency. The value of the Internet of Things lies in its potential to support decision making through computing that is part of business, personal and societal environments. Knowledge benefiting society is created through solutions that integrate things and people.

Decision making at a higher level stands to gain from this research. An example is the combination of environmental data on polluted water and high rainfall with data on deforestation, to make it possible to extract information on polluted flooding. An appropriate response can thus be generated.

Getting to grips

Internet of Things: Connectedness of everyday objects ('things') to the Internet. Everything will be connected to everything else – any place, any time, anything, anyone, any service; creating unprecedented masses of data to store and process.



A QR or quick response code is a specific matrix bar-code (or two-dimensional code), readable by dedicated QR bar-code readers and camera phones. The information encoded can be text, URL (Internet address) or other data.

ICT R&D AND INNOVATION FOR **BROADBAND ACCESS**

In brief

The Broadband for All (BB4All) initiative is one example of how new technology and local research, development and innovation are used to support and contribute to national broadband infrastructure. At its completion, the project aims to have connected about 450 facilities (e.g. schools, clinics and other government facilities) and developed at least 45 village operator businesses.

The challenge

Broadband is a critical enabler of economic growth. However, its penetration is poor in most African countries. Broadband infrastructure in rural areas will help with access to essential services such as health care and education, and bring other services, such as government services, closer to people.

CSIR research

The CSIR offers unique information and communications technology (ICT) capability and approaches to improve access to broadband in an innovative and relevant way. Research work includes wireless mesh networks for communitybased rural broadband as a key enabler of the BB4All initiative.

Wireless mesh networks

Wireless mesh technologies use unconventional methods to communicate information. Instead of the traditional point-to-multi-point communication, it is based on peer-to-peer communication between network nodes.

The CSIR's wireless mesh technologies make use of high performance nodes (HPNs) to establish peer-to-peer communication within the network. Imagine a community with HPNs installed at certain points (users). If a person in one house wishes to relay a message to another at a different house where direct communication is not possible, the message will go through the other nodes until it reaches its destination. These nodes do not necessarily use one route; if one node goes down, the others are able to relay the message using another route. Since this technology enables self-healing of the network, the HPNs are able to find these other routes automatically.

Broadband for All using wireless mesh networks

BB4All aims to provide affordable broadband connectivity to under-serviced, rural communities. It uses low-cost infrastructure that is owned and supported by the local community, to create socioeconomic and commercial opportunities.

At the heart of the BB4All initiative is the Wireless Mesh Network (WMN) project. It is funded by the European Union through the Sector Budget Support programme of the Department of Science and Technology. The collaborative project started in 2009, with roll out of a broadband network in the Nkangala district in Mpumalanga. The project will also roll out to the Sekhukhune district in Limpopo and the John Taolo Gaetsewe district in the Northern Cape.

Outcomes

Developing human capital in communities

The key success factor in this initiative is the village operators (VOs), who work within communities to provide and manage the BB4All network. There are 18 VOs working in 15 communities in the Nkangala district. VOs are young local entrepreneurs with a keen interest in ICTs and who want to be self-employed. They are sourced from the targeted communities and will service their own communities.



nstallation of wireless mesh equipment at a school.

To date, wireless mesh equipment has been installed in more than 200 facilities to connect them to the Internet. These facilities include 175 schools, school circuit manager offices and a community radio station.

The initiative uses established wireless mesh research and transforms it into an innovative approach to real-life situations. Through this intervention, the improvement of the quality of life of rural or underserviced areas of South Africa has become a possibility. This project also provides the opportunity for multidisciplinary research where social and business aspects are integrated with technological research to provide a sustainable business model.

ict

The VOs are encouraged through training and mentoring to build and maintain their own businesses. They receive business and basic technical training, which is augmented by training on WMN technology and experiential learning. All these aspects support and encourage self-learning, a key skill for the VOs and communities to be self-sustainable.

The BB4All model learns from other past and current CSIR ICT innovations and models such as Infopreneurs® and the Digital Doorway™.

Developing local ICT businesses

Local manufacturers are used to manufacture some of the wireless mesh equipment, for example, Parsec manufactures the HPNs. This stimulates the use of local products and local labour. Ingwapele Technologies employs 10 permanent staff members, who through this project, are trained to install the nodes and other equipment unique to the WMN.



Wireless mesh networks connecting schools



Nkangala Village Operators – new entrepreneurs who received an ICT boost. One of the village operators, Sibusiso Mazibuko says, "We wake up every morning to go to the office. You should see Michael Mabena and Innocent Nene going to their office; you would be convinced they are working on Wall Street! Such is the pride we have in this project."

In brief

South Africa is making substantial progress in realising its vision of broadband connectivity through the investment by the Department of Science and Technology (DST) in a sustainable national cyberinfrastructure system for research, development and innovation across the entire National System of Innovation. The South African National Research Network (SANReN) is a component of South Africa's national cyberinfrastructure system and is working towards achieving these goals together with the Centre for High Performance Computing, the South African Very Large Scale Database Initiative, and the South African National Grid initiative, providing a software platform for joint research at universities and research organisations.

The challenge

One of the major requirements for all South African public universities to participate fully in local and international research collaboration, is access to broadband connectivity. Unlimited computing power combined with unlimited bandwidth and unlimited storage holds the promise of unprecedented research and development possibilities, now and in the future.

CSIR research

Following the signing of a contract between the DST and the CSIR in 2006, the CSIR was tasked with designing and implementing the rollout of the SANReN network. This task commenced in 2007, and the first part of the national research infrastructure went live in 2008. South Africa's Telkom was contracted to install the first phase of the national backbone which was completed in December 2009.

Designing an NREN

The initial hardware design was done together with industry partners, and the Tertiary Education Network (TENET). Design decisions are taken in-house and aligned with best practices followed by international NREN communities.

The network topology design (for the backbone extensions) was done jointly with TENET and the requirements and priorities of institutions were taken into account. The network was planned based on inputs from all higher education institutions (facilitated by the Association of South African University Directors of Information Technology), science councils, and national facilities managed by South Africa's National Research Foundation.

A sea change in connectivity

SANReN provides South African researchers with world-class networking, enabling them to collaborate nationally and with their international peers. A 10 gigabitper-second fibre-optic ring network provides the national broadband connectivity network for public research institutions and universities. It is linked to international networks, such as GéANT, a multi-gigabit pan-European data communications network.

As the contracted operator for SANReN, TENET has acquired international bandwidth from Seacom which is distributed via the SANReN national backbone network. Seacom is a 1.28 terabytes-per-second, 17 000 km-long submarine fibre-optic cable system linking southern and East Africa to global networks via India and on to Europe. The SANReN backbone will connect universities and public research organisations at speeds of between 1 and 10 gigabit-per-second over the next few years. About 150 sites, including all rurally-based universities, together with KAT7, the precurser to the Square Kilometre Array (SKA), and South African Large Telescope (SALT), will be connected by the end of the 2011/2012 financial year.



Dr Colin Wright (left) and the SANReN team: Simeon Miteff, Zukisani Makalima, John Hay, Uli Horn, Thabo Koeshe, Geoff Daniell and Christiaan Kuun

What's in it for South Africa?

With access to high-quality cyberinfrastructure, it is now possible for South African researchers and scientists to find solutions to national and regional problems in a range of areas, from health and energy to industrial innovation. Large science projects, such as SALT, MeerKAT, the Applied Centre for Climate and Earth Systems Science (ACCESS), the International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, and the National Bioinformatics Network, all stand to gain from SANREN.

South Africa is now positioned internationally as a player in global science efforts, as the unprecedented benefits from SANReN's high-speed connectivity become apparent. The availability of SANReN has demonstrated South Africa's readiness to host the connectivity requirements of the SKA. The Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory has been enabled to participate in international radio astronomy experiments through very long baseline interferometry (e-VLBI) data provision to the Joint Institute for e-VLBI in Europe. Data from South Africa's SumbandilaSat are downloaded at the South African National Space Agency space operations and sent to SunSpace in a short period of time to



allow engineers to make adjustments to the satellite.

Universities and research institutions stand to benefit greatly from SANReN. It brings opportunities for and access to quality teaching and learning, while lowering costs for universities. Its connectivity for campuses of universities, which straddle the urban and rural divide, wil create equal digital connectivity opportunities for all researchers in South Africa. It provides researchers with remote access to instruments such as the High-Resolution Transmission Electron Microscope at the Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University.

Highlights in 2010/11 include completion of the Ethekwini metropolitan network and of the dense wavelength division multiplexing and north rings as part of the Tshwane metropolitan network. Additional funding was received for SKA and SALT connectivity (R64 million) and backbone extensions (R55 million), and the eduroam service has been piloted and enabled on the network.

Funding and collaborators

The DST has funded the rollout of SANReN as part of its national cyberinfrastructure initiative. Initial funding of R365 million over three years was received in 2006; further funding of R303 million (over the course of three years) was received in 2010. In 2010 the DST made an additional R55 million available to accelerate the rollout of SANReN connectivity to rural and remotely located sites. The DST also provided a further R64 million for the connection to the SKA core site and the SALT telescope in Sutherland. TENET operates the SANReN network.

Professor Thandwa Mthembu, Vice-Chancellor and Principal, Central University of Technology, Free State (CUT), states: "The knowledge and information society is a society of networks. Broadband connectivity is one of the most reliable facilitators of these networks. For this reason, CUT and the higher education sector are excited that the SANReN has already borne fruit through the main points-of-presence it has created in the cities. Universities are now reaping the benefits of easy, cheaper, faster and efficient broadband connectivity. With undersea cables being developed, we will soon be a few seconds from any piece of research information available anywhere in the world." This view is shared by Professor Mvuyo Tom, Vice Chancellor: University of Fort Hare: "Alice has the highest need for access to the Centre for High Performance Computing. Connecting the Alice campus to SANReN will make many things possible. The implementation of the e-campus strategy will allow for video content and large data communication between the Alice and East London campuses and other universities, allowing the university to improve research productivity and the delivery of quality education to students."

Getting to grips

NREN: A National Research and Education Network (NREN) is a specialised Internet service provider dedicated to supporting the needs of the research and education communities within a country.

Optic fibre/fibre optics: An' optical fibre is a flexible, transparent fibre made of very pure glass (silica) (not much thicker than a human hair) that acts as a waveguide, or 'light pipe', to transmit light between the two ends of the fibre. The field of applied science and engineering concerned with the design and application of optical fibre is known as fibre optics. Optical fibre is the fastest transmission medium for telecommunications circuits. Most of the SANReN network is built using optical fibre technology. Gigabits-per-second: A gigabit-per-second (or Gbps) is a unit of data transfer rate equal to 1 000 000 kilobits per second.



A map showing the SANReN national backbone in blue. Yellow lines indicate extensions under completion. The orange lines indicate future backbone extensions.

USING ICT TO UNLOCK EARTH OBSERVATION DATA SETS FOR MANAGING ENVIRONMENTAL CRISES

In brief

Using information and communication technologies (ICT) to manage data from Earth observation and land-based monitoring has the potential to help us in many ways, from weather prediction to disaster management. The question is how to harness this massive amount of data to empower society to protect itself against environmental and human-induced disasters. The CSIR has a number of projects in this field and also plays a role in various international networks.

Background

Over the past 10 years, South Africa has played a leading role in international efforts such as the intergovernmental Group on Earth Observations (GEO) and one of its initiatives, the Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS). GEO was formed after the 2002 Johannesburg conference, with remote sensing and geographic information systems (GIS) highlighted as important tools in helping a broad base of stakeholders to manage natural resources and ecosystems.

CSIR research

As part of the process of transforming experimental space technology tools into critical infrastructure for development, the CSIR has made significant investment in the associated ICTs, such as information processing, algorithm development, innovative analytical techniques and management philosophies for large data sets. Lately, researchers have embarked upon producing the next wave of experimental space technology demonstrators by borrowing from communications signal processing, middleware concepts used in transparent networked application development and web service provisioning, and applying it to remote and in situ Earth observation sensing.

Unlocking the potential of these new tools, microbiologists, data analysts, modellers and computer scientists are involved in several multi-partner and international projects to build systems that link various forms of data sets with one another in a user-friendly and widely-accessible manner. This is in line with GEOSS' objective to empower the international community to protect itself against natural and human-induced disasters; understand the environmental sources of health hazards; manage energy resources; respond to climate change and its impacts; safeguard water resources; improve weather forecasts; manage ecosystems; and promote sustainable agriculture and conserve biodiversity.

In one of these projects, researchers aim to develop a system whereby different forms of data sets – from the microbial to remote sensing – are coded in such a way as to enable environmental researchers to combine them with Earth observation data in larger-scale models by the click of a key. Called EO2Heaven, it addresses the GEOSS objective of using Earth observation data and environmental monitoring for the mitigation of health risks.

International reach

The collaborative nature of Earth observation research entails partnerships with and involvement in many national and international networks. The CSIR plays a role in the following groups and programmes, among others:

European Biodiversity Observation Network

CSIR botanists and remote sensing specialists are testing the transferability of the methods developed by EBONE in the European context for the largescale application in non-European Mediterranean regions like the Sandveld in the Western Cape. EBONE is the





Fire products developed by the CSIR are being made available in SADC via the AMESD project.

European contribution to the GEO Biodiversity Observation Network (GEO BON), a network dedicated to the development of standardised global biodiversity monitoring systems.

Open Geospatial Consortium (OGC)

A scientific workflow system is a specialised form of a workflow management system designed specifically to compose and execute a series of computational or data manipulation steps, or a workflow, in a scientific application. Operationalised for Earth observation science, it can bridge the gap between Earth observation and statistical toolsets. The CSIR's research in this domain focuses on ICT for Earth observation and operates within the workspace of the OGC and its Sensor Web Enablement framework. OGC is an international voluntary standards organisation, encouraging development and implementation of open standards for geospatial content and services.

SANSA Space Operations

The CSIR Satellite Application Centre now forms part of the South African National Space Agency (SANSA). SANSA Space Operations processes large amounts of data. It centralised Earth observation services into a spatial portal that acquires, processes and distributes remotely-sensed data from Earth observation satellites. The data are processed as remote-sensing products and imagery and provide valuable input for a broad range of decision makers.

Chlorophyll Globally Integrated Network (ChloroGIN)

This network aims to broadly disseminate accessible marine Earth observation products, and empower users through training. CSIR researchers are closely involved with implementing these aims for Africa through EU-funded projects such as the Europe-Africa Marine Network (EAMNet) and GEONETCast for and by Developing Countries (DevCoCast).

African Monitoring of the Environment for Sustainable Development (AMESD)

This is a continent-wide, pan-African project for the development of geoinformation systems to improve decisionmaking processes in the fields of environmental resource and environmental risk management in Africa.

Global Water Quality Information

System The Global Water Quality Information System seeks to develop a fully operational, spatially-comprehensive water quality information system in inland and coastal waters. Contributing national research initiatives are the CSIR-funded Safe Water Earth Observation System (SWEOS) project, developing this capability for local pilot ecosystems; and aligned DST-funded initiatives to build operational capability.





The CSIR processes the images from the MODIS satellite.



Outputs

There are currently three PhD students and two Master's students studying in the marine and freshwater Earth observation field, with one postdoctoral student focusing on bio-optics and the Southern Ocean.

The Earth observation science and information technology field has two PhD students and one Master's student working on remote sensing research. Two Master's students are working in the ICT for Earth observation domain.

The GEONETCast group also offered a very successful African Operational Oceanography training workshop, attended by 29 delegates from fourteen institutes across nine African countries. They received training in GEONETCast Receiving Station Operations; marine Earth observation; ocean modelling and data analysis.

Outcomes

AFIS is a satellite-based fire monitoring system which monitors the whole country and generates alerts via SMS when there are large fires that pose a threat. These SMS alerts are sent to Eskom and fire protection associations in South Africa. This is done using data from two sensors, MSG and MODIS, which are processed at the CSIR.

The CSIR's expertise in developing fire products has seen it take on an important role in the South African Development Community (SADC) economic region as part of the African Monitoring of the Environment for Sustainable Development (AMESD) project. An innovative combination of ICTs is being used to ensure that fire services and products developed at the CSIR are replicated in the SADC.

The AMESD project is unique as information is disseminated via a communications satellite, which makes it independent from the Internet. The



An active fire detected using data from the MODIS sensor on NASA's Aqua and Terra satellites.

GEONetCast dissemination portal requires the CSIR to provide daily products via a file transfer protocol server to Germany. These products are then relayed up to the communications satellite and downloaded to receiving stations.

A total of 20 receiving stations, one for each ministry of the environment in the SADC region, are being rolled out. The AFIS terminal will be used as part of the receiving stations. Through remote access, software will be continuously downloaded to ensure that receiving stations remain in prime working condition. Fixed mesh antennas of 2.1 m are the second vital component of these receiving stations to be installed.

Also under the banner of GEONETCast, CSIR researchers were involved with establishing nine GEONETCast receiving stations in African countries with established marine research institutions. The countries are Egypt, Senegal, Côte d'Ivoire, Benin, Ghana, Namibia, Uganda, Mozambique and Tanzania. Five of these stations are currently operational and sending data to African users, who would otherwise not have had access to this information because of limited bandwidth.

In the SWEOS project, CSIR researchers developed a low-cost robotic observation system for marine and freshwater – this serves as 'proof of concept' that the CSIR has the capability to design and build low-cost robotic observation systems for aquatic ecosystems.

For South Africa to have this kind of technology at hand and at low cost will have a huge impact on our ability to monitor water quality issues such as red tide on the west coast or problems with cyanobacteria and eutrophication in inland waters.
Currently, marine research vessels are very expensive to operate, and are unable to provide daily observations, while commercially available autonomous measurements systems can be prohibitively expensive or unsuitable for local conditions. Earth observation data, coupled with measurements from critically located buoys, can offer very low-cost data in near real time across many different ecosystems.

The project's ultimate aim is to build Earth observation-based information systems to provide products for ecosystem monitoring and characterisation, ultimately facilitating a predictive capability. The new buoys will be used both to provide real-time data on algal blooms, and to develop and verify new satellite techniques, which will then allow satellite data records from 10 years or longer to be used to characterise change in South African coastal and inland ecosystems.



As part of the CSIR's Safe Water Earth Observation Systems project, researchers developed a low-cost, low-weight pencil-buoy that is easy and fast to deploy. It will also soon feature new low-cost radiometric sensors, also developed by the CSIR. These new buoys will be used to provide real-time data on algal blooms. They will also verify new satellite techniques, which will then allow satellite data records from 10 years or longer to be used to characterise change in South African coastal and inland ecosystems.

In brief

Sport science and technology can assist with talent identification, fast-track development, enhance performance, prevent injuries and improve decision making. The CSIR was contracted to establish a framework that would assist in modernising the sport science and technology support provided to elite sport in South Africa. Through software systems, video-based biomechanical analysis and notational analysis, telemetry and tracking technologies, high-performance athletes and coaches have been able to utilise world-class products and services aimed at improving their performance.

The challenge

In the highly competitive world of professional sports, winning cannot be left to chance. Excellence is the result of superior performance, underpinned by a complex and intricate mix of effective talent management, good coaching, exceptional academies, and cutting-edge sports science and technology.

The South African National Lottery Distribution Trust Fund (NLDTF) - through its Sports and Recreation Distribution Agency - saw the opportunity to identify, supply and coordinate sports performance enhancement strategies in an integrated, high-performance framework that will deliver top-class athletes to Team SA. For this reason, the NLDTF contracted the CSIR to respond appropriately to a previous needs assessment and devise a sports science delivery mechanism that would provide access to modern performance analysis technologies to elite and high-performance sport in South Africa. The project is conducted as a multi-year initiative of which the first year was completed in early 2011, funded by a grant of R4.2 million from the National Lotteries Board.

The ability to quickly and accurately analyse performance in real time (i.e. while the game is played or the athlete is participating) is increasingly important in elite-level sport. Performance information supports the coach's decision making to influence individual or team strategies or tactics.

CSIR response

Sports science and technology support relies on a robust technology management process that includes market assessments, technology selection and acquisition, strategies for optimal technology deployment and a plan for ongoing monitoring, evaluation and continuous learning.

In this domain, the CSIR has achieved international recognition as a pioneer in the development and application of world-class sports performance analysis technologies.

A number of sport science and technology support options, sources of technologies, service delivery mechanisms, etc. exist. These were investigated in the first phase of the project to identify the optimal technology options to modernise the technology support programme at the elite level. CSIR expertise was complemented by inputs from stakeholders such as the SA Sports Confederation and Olympic Committee (SASCOC), national federations, universities, sports academies and testing centres.

The optimal technologies were identified as:

- Information and knowledge management
- Notational analysis
- Video-based biomechanical analysis
- Telemetry
- Tracking.

Outputs

To implement the technology choices, a comprehensive technology acquisition plan was formulated and the necessary technology packages acquired through the approved grant amounts.

It was agreed with SASCOC that the technology support would be focused on seven priority sports codes. These were athletics, boxing, canoeing, cycling, paralympics, rowing and swimming. Subsequently, the technology packages and equipment have been in use since April 2011 at several sporting events, across these sports disciplines. The analyses were interpreted and reported back to training authorities and athletes. Their assessments and feedback of the technology support have been overwhelmingly positive.

With Coaching Education being an important component of the investment strategy, the acquired technology was also used in streaming a coaching conference live on the Internet, as well as the SASCOC Coaching Conference 2010.

For many athletes, it was the first time that they had been exposed to sophisticated performance analysis tools. The funding instilled the sense that they were being given the appropriate scientific support in the quest to improve their performance. Even in instances where only minimal tangible evidence of performance improvement was detected, the psychological boost of cutting-edge technology support was often evident. The NLDTF grant was used to establish a framework on which further enhancements to service delivery can be built. In particular, the federations and individual athletes and coaches now have access to an on-line video repository of baseline data that can be used as an input into



their long-term athlete development programmes.

Heading towards the Olympic Games in London in 2012, the necessity of data

gathering and ongoing athlete feedback is becoming increasingly important in striving for success. Based on the analysis provided, coaches and athletes have been able to focus their efforts more specifically on minimising highlighted weaknesses and improving strengths to achieve the best possible performance.

Getting to grips: Components of sports science and technology

Information and knowledge management: Includes the provision of databases and data mining technologies to manage and monitor information about athletes. Such databases can contain personal information, video footage, contact details, previous performance data or medical information.

Notational analysis: Provides objectivity and quantification in the identification of critical incidents (tactical and strategic) in game performance that influence the outcome of a game or individual performance. Information can be delivered in real time by the sports technologist to the coach, to immediately influence game strategy. The information can also be processed and summarised in video format for consultations with coaches and/or players prior to their next practice session.

Video-based biomechanical analysis: A range of powerful software tools for the analysis of high-speed video material, thus allowing for detailed analysis of selected events (e.g. the take off of a high jumper).

Telemetry: Advanced technology that enable remote monitoring of athletic performance in real time via telemetry. Current technology permits the monitoring of heart rate over Bluetooth for athletes performing in a defined space (tennis, cricket, soccer, netball, etc.) or attributes such as velocity, altitude and position via GPS over GSM or radio transmission.

Tracking: Provides the ability to monitor position, direction and velocity of an athlete using a variety of technologies. Some systems now permit real-time monitoring of this information, providing unprecedented information for decision support.



SA in European waters: CSIR analysts accompanied the national swimming team on tour in Europe and at the Commonwealth Games in 2010. Video footage of the team's performance in the water was analysed and interpreted to identify areas of strength and weakness of individuals and relative to closest competitors.

KNOWLEDGE DISSEMINATION

The CSIR's institutional repository of research publications, known as CSIR Researchspace, launched in August 2007. It remains the only open access, online repository by a South African research council. CSIR Researchspace currently (July 2011) holds the highest ranking amongst

institutional repositories from Africa and is positioned 196th in the world ranking.

The number of items downloaded from Researchspace increased from 113 327 per annum in 2007/08 to 567 654 in 2010/11. Figure 1 depicts the annual growth pattern for the past four financial years. On average 47 305 copies of articles were downloaded from the repository per month during the reporting year. CSIR Researchspace is accessible at http://researchspace.csir.co.za/ dspace





Publication equivalents allocated to journal articles published by CSIR staff have steadily increased since 2006 and the past year showed an increase of 12% from 266 in 2009/10 to 297 in 2010/11. Total publication equivalents increased from 502 in 2009/10 to 576 in 2010/11. See figure below.

Year	External publications for which publication equivalents were assigned			Other external publications			Total publication equivalents	
	Articles in accredited journals	Conference papers (Peer reviewed)	Books	Book chapters	Journal articles (Other)	Conference papers & presentations (Other)	Books	
2006/07	129	115	2	27	43	250	0	220.0
2007/08	180	202	12	50	31	136	0	343.0
2008/09	208	393	9	38	69	228	5	451.5
2009/10	266	334	14	48	46	149]	502.0
2010/11	297	418	5	62	41	226	4	576.0

Journal articles

A

Abbott I, Le Maitre D. 2010. Monitoring the impact of climate change on biodiversity: the challenge of megadiverse Mediterranean climate ecosystems. *Austral Ecology*, 35(4), p.406-422.

Abuin GC, Nonjola P, Francewschini EA, Izraelevitch FH, Mathe MK, Corti HR. 2010. Characterization of an anionic-exchange membranes for direct methanol alkaline fuel cells. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 35(11), p.5849-5854.

Accatino F, De Michele C, Vezzoli R, Donzelli D, Scholes R. 2010. Tree-grass co-existence in savanna: interactions of rain and fire. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 267(2), p.235-242.

Adekunle AS, Agboola BO, Pillay J, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Electrocatalytic detection of dopamine at single-walled carbon nanotubes-iron (III) oxide nanoparticles platform. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 148(1), p.93-102.

Adekunle AS, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Comparative surface electrochemistry of Co and Co3O4 nanoparticles: nitrite as an analytical probe. International Journal of Electrochemical Science, 5, p.1972-1983.

Adekunle AS, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Electrocatalytic oxidation of diethylaminoethanethiol and hydrazine at single-walled carbon nanotubes modified with prussian blue nanoparticles. *Electroanalysis*, 22(21), p.2519-2528.

Adekunle AS, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Electron transport and electrocatalytic properties of MWCNT/nickel nanocomposites: hydrazine and diethylaminoethanethiol as analytical probes. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, 654(1), p.41-49. Adekunle AS, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Voltammetric and impedimetric properties of nano-scaled-Fe2O3 catalysts supported on multi-walled carbon nanotubes: catalytic detection of dopamine. *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*, 5, p.1726-1742.

Adekunle AS, Pillay J, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Probing the electrochemical behaviour of SWCNT-cobalt nanoparticles and their electrocatalytic activities towards the detection of nitrite at acidic and physiological pH conditions. *Electrochimica Acta*, 55(14), p.4319-4327.

Adewusi EA, Moodley N, Steenkamp V. 2010. Medicinal plants with cholinesterase inhibitory activity: a review. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 9(49), p.8257-8276.

Agboola BO, Ozoemena KI, Nyokong T, Fukuda T, Kobayashi N. 2010. Tuning the physico-electrochemical properties of novel cobalt (II) octa[(3,5-biscarboxylate)-phenoxy] phthalocyanine complex using phenylamine-functionalised SWCNTs. *Carbon*, 48(3), p.763-773.

Agboola BO, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Synergistic enhancement of supercapacitance upon integration of nickel (II) octa[(3,5-biscarboxylate)phenoxy] phthalocyanine with SWCNT-phenylamine. *Journal of Power Sources*, 195(12), p.3841-3848.

Agboola BO, Pillay J, Makgopa K, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Electrochemical characterization of mixed selfassembled films of water-soluble single-walled carbon nanotubepoly(m-aminobenzene sulfonic acid) and iron(II) tetrasulfophthalocyanine. *Journal of the Electrochemical Society*, 157(11), p.F159-F166.

Albers PN, Wright C, Olwoch J. 2010. Developing a South African pedestrian environment assessment tool: Tshwane case study. *South African Journal of Science*, 106(9/10), 8pp.

Alexander P, Van Loggerenberg J, Lotriet H, Phahlamohlaka J. 2010. The use of the repertory grid for collaboration and reflection in a research context. *Group Decision and Negotiation*, 19(5), p.479-504. Alexandre KB, Gray ES, Lambson BE, Moore PL, Choge IA, Mlisana K, Karim SSA, McMahon J, O'Keefe B, Chikwamba R, Morris L. 2010. Mannose-rich glycosylation patterns on HIV-1 subtype C gp120 and sensitivity to the lectins, Griffithsin, Cyanovirin-N and Scytovirin. *Virology Journal*, 402(1), p.187-196.

Amigun B, Gorgens J, Knoetze H. 2010. Biomethanol production from gasification of non-woody plant in South Africa: optimum scale and economic performance. *Energy Policy*, 38(1), p.312-322.

Amigun B, Von Blottnitz H. 2010. Capacity-cost and location-cost analyses for biogas plants in Africa. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 55(1), p.63-73.

Anderson PML, Hoffman MT, O'Farrell PJ. 2010. Above ground perennial plant biomass across an altitudinal and land-use gradient in Namaqualand, South Africa. South African Journal of Botany, 76(3), p.471-481.

Anochie-Boateng J, Tutumluer E, Carpenter SH. 2010. Case study: dynamic modulus characterization of naturally occurring bituminous sands for sustainable pavement applications. International Journal of Pavement Research and Technology, 3(6), p.286-294.

Anochie-Boateng J, Tutumluer E. 2010. Characterizing resilient behavior of naturally occurring bituminous sands for road construction. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 22(11), p.1085-1092.

Archibald S, Nickless A, Govender N, Scholes RJ, Lehsten V. 2010. Climate and the inter-annual variability of fire in southern Africa: a meta-analysis using long-term field data and satellitederived burnt area data. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 19(6), p.794-809.

Archibald S, Nickless A, Scholes RJ, Schulze R. 2010. Methods to determine the impact of rainfall on fuels and burned area in southern African savannas. International Journal of Wildland Fire, 19(6), p.774-782. Archibald S, Scholes RJ, Roy DP, Roberts G, Boschetti L. 2010. Southern African fire regimes as revealed by remote sensing. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 19, p.861-878.

Aronson J, Blignaut JN, Milton SJ, Le Maitre D, Esler KJ, Limouzin A, Fontaine C, de Wit MP, Mugido W, Prinsloo P, van der Elst L, Lederer N. 2010. Are socioeconomic benefits of restoration adequately quantified? A meta-analysis of recent papers (2000-2008) in Restoration Ecology and 12 other scientific journals. *Restoration Ecology*, 18(2), p.143-154.

Ashok AC, Marchington RF, Mthunzi P, Krauss TF, Dholakia K. 2010. Optical chromatography using a photonic crystal fiber with on-chip fluorescence excitation. *Optics Express*, 18(6), p.6396-6407.

Ashton PJ. 2010. The demise of the Nile crocodile (Crocodylus niloticus) as a keystone species for aquatic ecosystem conservation in South Africa: the case of the Olifants River. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 20(5), p.489-493.

B

Babajide O, Petrik L, Amigun B, Ameer F. 2010. Low-cost feedstock conversion to biodiesel via ultrasound technology. *Energies*, 3(10), p.1639-1703.

Bai HY, Kumar R, Yang C, Liu XY, Zhang LN. 2010. Effect of salicylic acid on the mechanical properties and water resistance of soy protein isolate films. *Polymers & Polymer Composites*, 18(4), p.197-203.

Bandyopadhyay J, Maity A, Khatua BB, Ray SS. 2010. Thermal and rheological properties of biodegradable poly[(butylene succinate)-co-adipate] nanocomposites. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 10(7), p.4184-4195.

Bandyopadhyay J, Ray SS, Bousmina M. 2010. Structural analysis of liquid crystal polymer based nanocomposites by X-ray scattering. *Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics*, 211(15), p.1632-1639. Bandyopadhyay J, Ray SS. 2010. Mechanism of enhanced tenacity in a polymer nanocomposite studied by small-angle X-ray scattering and electron microscopy. *Polymer*, 51(21), p.4860-4866.

Bandyopadhyay J, Ray SS. 2010. The quantitative analysis of nano-clay dispersion in polymer nanocomposites by small angle X-ray scattering combined with electron microscopy. *Polymer*, 51(6), p.1437-1449.

Barros E, Lezar S, Anttonen MJ, Van Dijk JP, Rohlig RM, Kok EJ, Engel K-H. 2010. Comparison of two GM maize varieties with a near-isogenic non-GM variety using transcriptomics, proteomics and metabolomics. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 8(4), p.436-451.

Barros E, Nelson SW. 2010. Creation of a high yielding recombinant maize hybrid for the production of a microbicide for the prevention of HIV-1 transmission. *South African Journal of Science*, 106(5/6), 5pp.

Bean WL, Joubert JW. 2010. Planning empty container relocations under uncertainty. *South African Journal of Industrial Engineering*, 21(1), p.113-122.

Becker JVW, Mtwisha L, Crampton BG, Stoychev S, Van Brummelen AC, Reeksting S, Louw AI, Birkholtz L-M, Mancama DT. 2010. Plasmodium falciparum spermidine synthase inhibition results in unique perturbationspecific effects observed on transcript, protein and metabolite levels. *BMC Genomics*, 11(235), 16 pp.

Begue N, Bencherif H, Sivakumar V, Kirgis G, Mze N, Leclair de Bellevue J. 2010. Temperature variability and trends in the UT-LS over a subtropical site: Reunion (20.8° S, 55.5° E). *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 10, p.8563-8574.

Beukes M, Lemmer Y, Deysel M, Juma'a RA, Baird SM, Koza G, Iglesias M, Rowles R, Theunissen C, Grooten J, Toschi G, Roberts V, Pilcher L, Van Wyngaardt S, Mathebula N, Balogun M, Stoltz AC, Verschoor JA. 2010. Structure-function relationships of the antigenicity of mycolic acids in tuberculosis patients. *Chemistry and Physics of Lipids*, 163(8), p.800-808. Bode ML, Gates PJ, Gebretnsae SY, Vleggaar R. 2010. Structure elucidation and stereoselective total synthesis of pavettamine, the causal agent of gousiekte. *Tetrahedron*, 66(11), p.2026-2036.

Bollig C, Jacobs C, Esser MJD, Bernhard EH, Von Bergmann HM. 2010. Power and energy scaling of a diode-end-pumped Nd:YLF laser through gain optimization. *Optics Express*, 18(3), p.13993-14003.

Bolokang S, Banganayi C, Phasha M. 2010. Effect of C and milling parameters on the synthesis of WC powders by mechanical alloying. *International Journal of Refractory Metals and Hard Materials*, 28(2), p.211-216.

Booth R, Chopra S, Meyer T, Ghose A. 2010. Double preference relations for generalised belief change. *Artificial Intelligence*, 174(16-17), p.1339-1368.

Booth R, Meyer T. 2010. Equilibria in social belief removal. *Synthese*, 177, p.337-363.

Botha AF, Hunter L. 2010. The measurement of wool fibre properties and their effect on worsted processing performance and product quality. Part 1: The objective measurement of wool fibre properties. *Textile Progress*, 42(4), p.227-339.

Bothma G, Mashaba C, Mkonza N, Chakauya E, Chikwamba R. 2010. GMOs in Africa: opportunities and challenges in South Africa. *GM Crops*, 1(4), p.175-180.

Brent AC, Rogers DE. 2010. Renewable rural electrification: sustainability assessment of mini-hybrid off-grid technological systems in the African context. *Renewable Energy*, 35(1), p.257-265.

Breytenbach IJ, Paige-Green P, Van Rooy JL. 2010. The relationship between index testing and California Bearing Ratio values for natural road construction materials in South Africa. *Journal of the South African Institution of Civil Engineering*, 52(2), p.65-69.

77

С

Candy LP, Lasenby J. 2010. On finite rotations and the noncommutativity rate vector. *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems*, 46(2), p.938-943.

Cele NP, Ray SS, Pillai SK, Ndwandwe M, Nonjola S, Sikhwivhilu L, Mathe MK. 2010. Carbon nanotubes based Nafion composite membranes for fuel cell applications. *Fuel Cells*, 10(1), p.64-71.

Chamier J, Leaner J, Crouch AM. 2010. Photoelectrochemical determination of inorganic mercury in aqueous solutions. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 661(1), p.91-96.

Chapple S, Anandjiwala R. 2010. Flammability of natural fiber-reinforced composites and strategies for fire retardancy: a review. *Journal of Thermoplastic Composite Materials*, 23(6), p.871-893.

Chen M, Roux FS. 2010. Evolution of the scintillation index and the optical vortex density in speckle fields after removal of the least-squares phase. Journal of the Optical Society of America A, 27(10), p.2138-2143.

Chidembo AT, Ozoemena KI, Agboola BO, Gupta V, Wildgoose GG, Compton RG. 2010. Nickel(II) tetra-aminophthalocyanine modified MWCNTs as potential nanocomposite materials for the development of supercapacitors. *Energy & Environmental Science*, 3, p.228-236.

Chidembo AT, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Electrochemical capacitive behaviour of multiwalled carbon nanotubes modified with electropolymeric films of nickel tetraaminophthalocyanine. *Electroanalysis*, 22(21), p.2529-2535.

Chikozho C. 2010. Applied social research and action priorities for adaptation to climate change and rainfall variability in the rainfed agricultural sector of Zimbabwe. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 35(13/14), p.780-790. Cho MA, Debba P, Mathieu R, Naidoo L, Van Aardt J, Asner G. 2010. Improving discrimination of savanna tree species through a multiple endmember spectral-anglemapper (SAM) approach: canopy level analysis. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 48(1), p.4133-4142.

Cho MA, Van Aardt J, Main R, Majeke B. 2010. Evaluating variations of physiology-based hyperspectral features along a soil water gradient in a *Eucalyptus grandis* plantation. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 31(12), p.3143-3159.

Chunilall V, Bush T, Erasmus RM. 2010. Raman line-mapping of cell walls of four hardwood genotypes and a softwood genotype: influence of acid bi-sulphite pulping. *Appita Journal*, 63(2), p.160-162.

Chunilall V, Bush T, Larsson PT, Iversen T, Kindness A. 2010. A CP/MAS 13C-NMR study of cellulose fibril aggregation in eucalyptus dissolving pulps during drying and the correlation between aggregate dimensions and chemical reactivity. *Holzforschung*, 64(6), p.693-698.

Clark K, Niemand J, Reeksting S, Smit S, van Brummelen AC, Williams M, Louw AI, Birkholtz L. 2010. Functional consequences of perturbing polyamine metabolism in the malaria parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum. Amino Acids*, 38(2), p.633-644.

Coetzer KL, Erasmus BFN, Witkowski ETF, Bachoo AK. 2010. Land cover change in the Kruger to Canyons biosphere reserve (1993-2006): a first step towards creating a conservation plan for the subregion. *South African Journal of Science*, 106(7/8), 10pp.

Cundill G. 2010. Monitoring social learning processes in adaptive comanagement: three case studies from South Africa. *Ecology and Society*, 15(3), p.1-19.

Curle UA, Govender G. 2010. Semisolid rheocasting of grain refined aluminum alloy 7075. Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China, 20(3), p.832-836. Curle UA, Ivanchev L. 2010. Wear of semi-solid rheocast SiCp/Al metal matrix composites. *Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China*, 20(3), p.852-856.

Curle UA. 2010. Semi-solid near-net shape rheocasting of heat treatable wrought aluminum alloys. *Transactions* of Nonferrous Metals Society of China, 20(9), p.1719-1724.

D

Das S, Chen MH, Warren N, Hodgson M. 2010. Do associations between employee self-reported organizational assessments and attitudinal outcomes change over time? An analysis of four Veterans Health Administration surveys using structural equation modelling. *Health Economics*, 16pp.

Das S, Gupta R, Kabundi A. 2010. Could we have predicted the recent downturn in the South African housing market? *Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics*, 41(3), p.294-319.

Das S, Gupta R, Kabundi A. 2010. Forecasting regional house price inflation: a comparison between dynamic factor models and vector autoregressive models. *Journal of Forecasting*, 30(2), p.288-302.

Das S, Gupta R, Kabundi A. 2010. The blessing of dimensionality in forecasting real house price growth in the nine census divisions of the US. *Journal of Housing Research*, 19(1), p.89-109.

Das S, Gupta R, Kaya PA. 2010. Convergence of metropolitan house prices in South Africa: a re-examination using efficient unit root tests. Applied Econometrics and International Development, 10(1), p.173-188.

De Lange WJ, Van Wilgen BW. 2010. An economic assessment of the contribution of biological control to the management of invasive alien plants and to the protection of ecosystem services in South Africa. *Biological Invasions*, 12(12), p.4113-4124. De Lange WJ, Wise RM, Forsyth GG, Nahman A. 2010. Integrating socioeconomic and biophysical data to support water allocations within river basins: an example from the Inkomati Water Management Area in South Africa. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 25(1), p.43-50.

De Wind HJ, Cilliers JC, Herselman PL. 2010. DataWare: sea clutter and small boat radar reflectivity databases. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 27(2), p.145-148.

Dickenson GD, Nortje AC, Steenkamp CM, Rohwer EG, Du Plessis A. 2010. Accurate laboratory wavelengths of the $e^3 \Sigma$ -(v' = 5) - X1 Σ +(v" = 0) band of 12C16O. Astrophysical Journal Letters, 714(2), p.L268-L270.

Dollar ESJ, Nicolson CR, Brown CA, Turpie JK, Joubert AR, Turton AR, Grobler DF, Pienaar HH, Ewart-Smith J, Manyaka SM. 2010. Development of the South African Water Resource Classification System (WRCS): a tool towards the sustainable, equitable and efficient use of water resources in a developing country. *Water Policy*, 12, p.479-499.

Du Plessis A, Strydom C, Botha L. 2010. Comparative study of the dissociative ionization of 1,1,1-trichloroethane using nanosecond and femtosecond laser pulses. *International Journal of Molecular Science*, 11(3), p.1114-1140.

Du Plessis EM, Berger E, Stark T, Louw ME, Visser D. 2010. Characterization of a novel thermostable esterase from Thermus scotoductus SA-01: evidence of a new family of lipolytic esterases. *Current Microbiology*, 60(4), p.248-253.

Du Preez M, Mcguigan K, Conroy RM. 2010. Solar disinfection of drinking water in the prevention of dysentery in South African children under 5 years: the role of participant motivation. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 44(22), p.8744-8749.

Du Preez M, Van der Merwe MR, Cumbana A, Le Roux W. 2010. A survey of Vibrio cholerae O1 and O139 in estuarine waters and sediments of Beira, Mozambique. *Water SA*, 36(5), p.615-620. Dudley A, Nock M, Konrad T, Roux FS, Forbes A. 2010. Amplitude damping of Laguerre-Gaussian modes. *Optics Express*, 18(22), p.22789-22795.

E

Edwards A, Van Coller P, Badenhorst C. 2010. Early identification of noise induced hearing loss: a pilot study on the use of distortion product otoacoustic emissions as an adjunct to screening audiometry in the mining industry. *Occupational Health Southern Africa*, 16(4), p.28-35.

Edwards AL, Franz RM, Schutte PC, Steenkamp T. 2010. A preliminary investigation of the effects of exposure to multiple health stressors using the physiological strain index. *Occupational Health Southern Africa*, 16(1), p.23-31.

Elkaseh AAO, Perold WJ, Srinivasu W. 2010. AFM nano-plough planar YBCO micro-bridges: critical currents and magnetic field effects. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 10(10), p.6510-6513.

Elkaseh AAO, Perold WJ, Srinivasu W. 2010. Josephson nanoconstrictions made by AFM plowing of YBa2Cu3O7-x films. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 108(5), p.1-5.

Engelbrecht AD, Everson RC, Neomagus HWPJ, North BC. 2010. Fluidized bed gasification of selected South African coals. *Journal of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy*, 110(5), p.225-230.

Esler KJ, Van Wilgen BW, Te Roller KS, Wood AR, Van der Merwe JH. 2010. A landscape-scale assessment of the long-term integrated control of an invasive shrub in South Africa. *Biological Invasions*, 12(1), p.211-218.

F

Fatoki OS, Bornman M, Ravandhalala L, Chimuka L, Genthe B, Adeniyi A. 2010. Phthalate ester plasticizers in freshwater systems of Venda, South Africa and potential health effects. *Water SA*, 36(1), p.117-125. Fedotov IA, Polyanin AD, Shatalov M Yu, Tenkama EM. 2010. Longitudinal vibrations of a Rayleigh-Bishop rod. *Doklady Physics*, 55(12), p.609-614.

G

Garny S, Gerber I, Jordaan J. 2010. Biocompatibility of dendrispheres. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.7.

Godfrey L, Funke N, Mbizvo C. 2010. Bridging the science-policy interface: a new era for South African research and the role of knowledge brokering. *South African Journal of Science*, 106(5/6), p.44-51.

Godfrey L, Scott D. 2010. Improving waste management through a process of learning: the South African waste information system. *Waste Management & Research*, 29(5), 501-511.

Goliger AM. 2010. Wind-tunnel testing of sports stadia to optimise their use and safety. Journal of the South African Institution of Civil Engineering (SAICE), 52(1), p.28-35.

Greben JM. 2010. The role of energy conservation and vacuum energy in the evolution of the universe. *Foundations of Science*, 15(2), p.153-176.

Grobler MM, Dlamini IZ. 2010. Managing digital evidence: the governance of digital forensics. *Journal* of Contemporary Management, 7, p.1-21.

Grootboom AW, Mkhonza NL, O'Kennedy MM, Chakauya E, Kunert K, Chikwamba RK. 2010. Biolistic mediated sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) transformation via mannose and bialaphos based selection systems. International Journal of Botany, 6(2), p.89-94.

Gupta K, Maity A, Ghosh UC. 2010. Manganese associated nanoparticles agglomerate of iron(III) oxide: synthesis, characterization and arsenic(III) sorption behavior with mechanism. *Journal* of Hazardous Materials, 184(1-3), p.832-842. Gupta R, Das S. 2010. Predicting downturns in the US housing market: a Bayesian approach. *Journal of Real Estate Finance and Economics*, 41(3), p.294-319.

Gxoyiya BSB, Kaye PT, Kenyon C. 2010. Benzimidazole-derived ATP analogues as potential glutamine synthetase inhibitors. *Synthetic Communications*, 40(17), p.2578-2587.

Η

Hakl H, Davies E, Le Roux WH. 2010. Aircraft height estimation using 2-D radar. *Defence Science Journal*, 60(1), p.100-105.

Harrison JA, Von Maltitz GP, Haywood L, Sugrue A, Diaz-Chavez RA, Amezaga JM. 2010. Mechanisms for driving sustainability of biofuels in developing countries. *Renewable Energy Law and Policy Review*, 2, p.197-211.

Hato MJ, Ray SS, Luyt AS. 2010. Thermal and rheological properties of POSS-containing poly(methyl methacrylate) nanocomposites. *Advanced Science Letters*, 3(2), p.123-129.

Haywood LK, Brent AC, Trotter DH, Wise R. 2010. Corporate sustainability: a social-ecological research agenda for South African business. *Journal of Contemporary Management*, 7, p.326-346.

Hutchings L, Morris T, Van der Lingen CD, Lamberth SJ, Connell AD, Taljaard S, Van Niekerk L. 2010. Ecosystem considerations of the KwaZulu-Natal sardine run. *African Journal of Marine Science*, 32(2), p.413-421.

J

Jacob M, Jose J, Jose S, Varughese KT, Thomas S. 2010. Viscoelastic and thermal properties of wovensisal-fabric reinforced natural-rubber biocomposites. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 117(1), p.614-621. Jacobs A, Botha A, Van Zyl WH. 2010. Sunflower press cake as a substrate for eicosapentaenoic acid production by representatives of the genus *Mortierella*. *BioResources*, 5(2), p.1232-1243.

Jacobs JP, De Villiers JP. 2010. Gaussian-process-regression-based design of ultrawide-band and dualband CPW-fed slot antennas. Journal of Electromagnetic Waves and Applications, 24(13), p.1763-1772.

Jacobs V, Patanaik A, Anandjiwala RD. 2010. Electrospun chitosan nanofibre membranes for antimicrobial application: role of electrospinning processing parameters. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.4.

Jansen van Vuuren JC, Phahlamohlaka J, Brazzoli M. 2010. The impact of increase in broadband access on South African national security and the average citizen. *Journal of Information Warfare*, 9(3), 13pp.

Jayaramudu J, Guduri BR, Varada Rajulu A. 2010. Characterisation of new natural cellulosic fabric Grewia tilifolia. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 79(4), p.847-851.

John MJ, Bellmann C, Anandjiwala RD. 2010. Kenaf-polypropylene composites: effect of amphiphilic coupling agent on surface properties of fibres and composites. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 82(3), p.549-554.

Johnson S, Mengersen K, De Waal A, Marnewick K, Cilliers D, Houser AM, Boast L. 2010. Modelling cheetah relocation success in southern Africa using an iterative Bayesian network development cycle. *Ecological Modelling*, 221(4), p.641-651.

Jonker Klunne W, Michael EG. 2010. Increasing sustainability of rural community electricity schemes - case study of small hydropower in Tanzania. International Journal of Low-Carbon Technologies, 5(3), p.144-147.

Joubert MK, Kinsley N, Sewell BT, Jaffer MA, Capovilla A, Khati M. 2010. A modeled structure of an aptamergp120 complex provides insight into the mechanism of HIV-1 neutralization. *Biochemistry*, 49(28), p.5880-5890.

Κ

Kamatou GPP, Viljoen AM, Steenkamp P. 2010. Antioxidant, antiinflammatory activities and HPLC analysis of South African *Salvia* species. *Food Chemistry*, 119(2), p.684-688.

Karsten AE, Singh A, Ndhundhuma I. 2010. Optical coherence tomography as a research tool for biomaterials. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.18.

Kgarume TE, Spottiswoode SM, Durrheim RJ. 2010. Statistical properties of mine tremor aftershocks. *Pure and Applied Geophysics*, 167(1/2), p.107-117.

Khati M. 2010. The future of aptamers in medicine. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 63(6), p.480-487.

Kleynhans W, Olivier JC, Wessels KJ, Van Den Bergh F, Salmon BP, Steenkamp KC. 2010. Improving land cover class separation using an extended Kalman filter on MODIS NDVI time series data. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 7(2), p.381-385.

Konadu DS, Van der Merwe J, Potgieter JH, Potgieter-Vermaak S, Machio CN. 2010. The corrosion behaviour of WC-VC-Co hardmetals in acidic media. *Corrosion Science*, 52(9), p.3118-3125.

Kotze FJ, Strydom CA, Du Plessis A, Dlamini TL. 2010. Fast- and ultra-fast laser pulse induced reactions between carbon dioxide and methane. *Journal* of Natural Gas Chemistry, 19(2), p.198-202.

Kruger AC, Goliger, A.M, Retief, J.V, Sekele, S. 2010. Strong wind climatic zones in South Africa. *Wind & Structures*, 13(1) p.37-55.

Kumar R, Yakabu MK, Anandjiwala RD. 2010. Effect of montmorillonite clay on flax fabric reinforced poly lactic acid composites with amphiphilic additives. *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, 41(11), p.1620-1627. Kumar R, Yakubu MK, Anandjiwala RD. 2010. Biodegradation of flax fiber reinforced poly lactic acid. *eXPRESS Polymer Letters*, 4(7), p.423-430.

Kumar R, Yakubu MK, Anandjiwala RD. 2010. Flax fibre reinforced polylactic acid composites with amphiphilic additives. *Plastics, Rubber and Composites*, 39(10), p.437-444.

Kumar R, Zhang L. 2010. Investigation into ramie whisker reinforced arylated soy protein composites. *Frontiers of Chemistry in China*, 5(1), p.104-108.

Kumar R. 2010. Effect of watermediated arylation time on the properties of soy protein films. *Industrial* & Engineering Chemistry Research, 49(7), p.3479-3484.

Kumar S, Choudhary V, Kumar R. 2010. Study on the compatibility of unbleached and bleached bamboofiber with LLDPE matrix. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, 102(2), p.751-761.

Kumar S, Kruth J-P. 2010. Composites by rapid prototyping technology. *Materials & Design*, 31(2), p.850-856.

Kumar S. 2010. Development of functionally graded materials by ultrasonic consolidation. *CIRP Journal* of Manufacturing Science and Technology, 104, p. 85-87

L

Labuschagne PW, John MJ, Sadiku RE. 2010. Investigation of the degree of homogeneity and hydrogen bonding in PEG/PVP blends prepared in supercritical CO2: comparison with ethanol-cast blends and physical mixtures. *Journal of Supercritical Fluids*, 54(1), p.81-88.

Lalloo R, Maharajh D, Görgens J, Gardiner N. 2010. A downstream process for production of a viable and stable *Bacillus cereus* aquaculture biological agent. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 86(2), p.499-508. Lalloo R, Moonsamy G, Ramchuran SO, Gorgens J, Gardiner NS. 2010. Competitive exclusion as a mode of action of a novel *Bacillus cereus* aquaculture biological agent. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 50(6), p.563 - 570.

Lawrie JJ, Mostert FJ, König PJ, Werneyer KD. 2010. The use of the gamma-ray absorption technique as a quality control procedure in the manufacture of powder metal shaped charge liners. *Journal of Applied Mechanics*, 77(5), p.051701-051704.

Le Roux WH. 2010. The use of augmented reality in command and control situation awareness. *Scientia Militaria: South African Journal of Military Studies*, 38(1), p.115-133.

Lesoli MS, Dube S, Fatunbi AO, Moyo B. 2010. Physicochemical characteristics of communal rangeland soils along two defined toposequences in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. *African Journal of Range & Forage Science*, 27(2), p.89-94.

Lezar S, Barros E. 2010. Oligonucleotide microarray for the identification of potential mycotoxigenic fungi. *BMC Microbiology*, 10(87), p.1-14.

Litvin IA, Khilo NA, Forbes A, Belyi VN. 2010. Intra-cavity generation of Bessel-like beams with longitudinally dependent cone angles. *Optics Express*, 18(5), p.4701-4708.

Luhandjula MK, Joubert JW. 2010. On some optimisation models in a fuzzy-stochastic environment. European Journal of Operational Research, 207(3), p.1433-1441.

Lundt M, De Korte GJ. 2010. Leeuwpan fine coal dense medium plant. Journal of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 110(11), p.671-676.

Luo H, Vaivars G, Mathe M. 2010. Covalent-ionically cross-linked polyetheretherketone proton exchange membrane for direct methanol fuel cell. *Journal of Power Sources*, 195(16), p.5197-5200.

M

Mabhali L, Pityana S, Sacks N. 2010. Laser alloying of Al with mixed Ni, Ti and SiC powders. *Journal of Laser Applications*, 22(4), p.121-126.

Mabhali LAB, Pityana SL, Sacks N. 2010. Laser surface alloying of aluminum (AA1200) with Ni and SiC powders. *Materials and Manufacturing Processes*, 25(12), p.1397-1403.

Mace GM, Cramer W, Diaz S, Faith DP, Larigauderie A, Le Prestre P, Palmer M, Perrings C, Scholes RJ, Walpole M, Walther BA, Watson JEM, Mooney HA. 2010. Biodiversity targets after 2010. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 2(1-2), p.3-8.

Maduray K, Karsten AE. 2010. Liposomes as a drug delivery system in photodynamic therapy for colon cancer treatment. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.6.

Maharaj R, Maharaj V, Newmarch M, Crouch NR, Bhagwandin N, Folb PI, Pillay P, Gayaram R. 2010. Evaluation of selected South African ethnomedicinal plants as mosquito repellents against the Anopheles arabiensis mosquito in a rodent model. *Malaria Journal*, 9(1), p.1-8.

Maina J, Anochie-Boateng J. 2010. Dynamic modulus testing for a new South African mechanistic pavement design method. *Journal of Pavement Engineering*, 15, p.31-39.

Maity A, Ray SS. 2010. Synthesis of Co3O4/poly(N-vinylcarbazole) core/ shell composite with enhanced optical property. *Macromolecular Materials* and Engineering, 295(2), p.153-158.

Majozi T, Price T. 2010. On synthesis and optimization of steam system networks. 1. Sustained boiler efficiency. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 49(19), p.9143-9153.

Makinde OD, Maserumule M. 2010. Inherent irreversibility and thermal stability for steady flow of variable viscosity liquid film in a cylindrical pipe with convective cooling at the surface. International Journal of Numerical Methods for Heat & Fluid Flow, 20(1), p.5-16. Mamuru SA, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Iron (II) tetrakis(diaquaplatinum) octacarboxyphthalocyanine supported on multi-walled carbon nanotubes as effective electrocatalyst for oxygen reduction reaction in alkaline medium. *Electrochemistry Communications*, 12(11), p.1539-1542.

Mamuru SA, Ozoemena KI, Fukuda T, Kobayashi N, Nyokong T. 2010. Studies on the heterogeneous electron transport and oxygen reduction reaction at metal (Co, Fe) octabutylsulphonylphthalocyanines supported on multi-walled carbon nanotube modified graphite electrode. *Electrochimica Acta*, 55(22), p.6367-6375.

Mamuru SA, Ozoemena KI, Fukuda T, Kobayashi N. 2010. Iron(II) tetrakis(diaquaplatinum) octacarboxyphthalocyanine supported on multi-walled carbon nanotube platform: an efficient functional material for enhancing electron transfer kinetics and electrocatalytic oxidation of formic acid. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 20(47), p.10705-10715.

Mamuru SA, Ozoemena KI. 2010. Heterogeneous electron transfer and oxygen reduction reaction at nanostructured iron(II) phthalocyanine and its MWCNTs nanocomposites. *Electroanalysis*, 22(9), p.985-994.

Manikandan E, Moodley MK, Ray SS, Panigrahi BK, Krishnan R, Padhy N, Nair KGM, Tyagi AK. 2010. Zinc oxide epitaxial thin film deposited over carbon on various substrate by pulsed laser deposition technique. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 10(9), p.5602-5611.

Manus N, Manus L, Wall K, Otterman A. 2010. Water services infrastructure asset management: the need to do ordinary things well. *IMIESA*, p.32-39.

Marsden G, Ladeira I, Reitmaier T, Bidwell NJ, Blake E. 2010. Digital storytelling in Africa. International Journal of Computing, 9(3), p.257-265.

Mashapa MG, Ray SS. 2010. Effect of oxygen doping on electrical properties of small radius (2, 1) singlewalled carbon nanotubes. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 10(7), p.4234-4239. Mashapa MG, Ray SS. 2010. Molecular dynamics simulation studies of structural and mechanical properties of single-walled carbon nanotubes. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 10(2), p.8083-8087.

Mashapa MG, Sinha Ray SS. 2010. DFT studies of low concentration substitutional doping of transition-metals on single-walled carbon nanotube surface. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 10(12), p.8180-8184.

Mashoko L, Mbohwa C, Thomas VM. 2010. LCA of the South African sugar industry. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 53(6), p.793-807.

Mastrocicco M, Colombani N, Castaldelli G, Jovanovic N. 2010. Monitoring and modeling nitrate persistence in a shallow aquifer. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution*, 27(1-4), p.83-93.

Masuku EP, Moller H, Curle UA, Pistorius PC, Li W. 2010. Influence of surface liquid segregation on corrosion behavior of semi-solid metal high pressure die cast aluminium alloys. *Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China*, 20(3), p.s837-s841.

Matthews MW, Bernard S, Winter K. 2010. Remote sensing of cyanobacteria-dominant algal blooms and water quality parameters in Zeekoevlei, a small hypertrophic lake, using MERIS. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 114(9), p.2070-2087.

Mavonga T, Zana N, Durrheim RJ. 2010. Studies of crustal structure, seismic precursors to volcanic eruptions and earthquake hazard in the eastern provinces of the Democratic Republic of Congo. *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 58(4), p.623-633.

Mavundla SE, Malgas GF, Motaung DE, Iwuoha EI. 2010. Physicochemical and morphological properties of poly(aniline-co-pyrrole). *Journal of Materials Science*, 45(12), p.3325-3330. Maweja K, Phasha M, Van der Berg N. 2010. Microstructure and crystal structure of an equimolar Mg-Ti alloy processed by Simoloyer high-energy ball mill. *Powder Technology*, 199(3), p.256-263.

Maxakato NW, Ozoemena KI, Arendse CJ. 2010. Dynamics of electrocatalytic oxidation of ethylene glycol, methanol and formic acid at MWCNT platform electrochemically modified with Pt/Ru nanoparticles. *Electroanalysis*, 22(5), p.519-529.

Mbatha N, Sivakumar V, Malinga SB, Bencherif H, Pillay SR. 2010. Study on the impact of sudden stratosphere warming in the upper mesospherelower thermosphere regions using satellite and HF radar measurements. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 10, p.3397-3404.

McCarthy TS, Ellery WN, Backwell L, Marren P, De Klerk B, Tooth S, Brandt D, Woodborne S. 2010. The character, origin and palaeoenvironmental significance of the Wonderkrater spring mound, South Africa. *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 58, p.115-126.

McKellar R, Midgley GF, Yates CJ, Abbott I, Gioia P, Le Maitre D. 2010. The need to develop a coherent research approach for climate change vulnerability impact assessment and adaptation in high-biodiversity terrestrial ecosystems. *Austral Ecology*, 35(4), p.371-373.

Michel P, Mathieu R, Mark AF. 2010. Spatial analysis of oblique photo-point images for quantifying spatio-temporal changes in plant communities. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 13(2), p.173-182.

Mirumachi N, Van Wyk E. 2010. Cooperation at different scales: challenges for local and international water resource governance in South Africa. *Geographical Journal*, 176(1), p.25-38.

Mishra DK, Kumar P, Sharma MK, Das J, Singh SK, Roul BK, Varma S, Chatterjee R, Srinivasu VV, Kanjilal D. 2010. Ferromagnetism in ZnO single crystal. *Physica B: Condensed Matter*, 405(12), p.2659-2663. Mishra SB, Mishra AK, Luyt AS, Revaprasadu N, Hillie KT, Steyn WJvdM, Coetsee E, Swart HC. 2010. Ethyl vinyl acetate copolymer -SrAl₂O₄:Eu,Dy and Sr₄Al₁₄O₂₅:Eu,Dy phosphor-based composites: preparation and material properties. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 115(1), p.579-587.

Mkhabela TS, Musango JK, Lombard JP. 2010. Determinants of producers' choice of wine grape cultivars in the South African wine industry. *Journal for Studies in Economics and Econometrics*, 34(1), p.83-110.

Mkwizu TS, Mathe MK, Cukrowski I. 2010. Electrodeposition of multilayered bimetallic nanoclusters of ruthenium and platinum via surface-limited redox-replacement reactions for electrocatalytic applications. *Langmuir*, 26(1), p.570-580.

Molawa LG, Brady D, Jordaan J. 2010. Determining the applicability of the SphereZyme™ immobilised protease for the bio-catalysis of protein. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.30.

Moller H, Curle UA, Masuku EP. 2010. Characterization of surface liquid segregation in SSM-HPDC aluminium alloys 7075, 2024, 6082 and A201. *Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China*, 20(3), p.s847-s851.

Moller H, Govender G, Stumpf WE, Pistorius PC. 2010. Comparison of heat treatment response of semisolid metal processed alloys A356 and F357. International Journal of Cast Metals Research, 23(1), p.37-43.

Moller H, Govender G, Stumpf WE. 2010. Application of shortened heat treatment cycles on A356 automotive brake calipers with respective globular and dendritic microstructures. *Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China*, 20(9), p.1780-1785.

Moller H, Govender G, Stumpf WE. 2010. Improvement of the T6 heat treatment of rheocast alloy A356. *Journal for New Generation Sciences*, 8(2), p.62-73. Moller H, Stumpf WE, Pistorius PC. 2010. Influence of elevated Fe, Ni and Cr levels on tensile properties of SSM-HPDC Al-Si-Mg alloy F357. *Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China*, 20(3), p.s842-s846.

Moloto N, Moloto MJ, Coville NJ, Ray SS. 2010. The study on the time dependency and the stability of cobalt sulphide nanoparticles under an electron beam. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 10(9), p.5594-5601.

Mongwaketsi N, Ndungu PG, Nechaev A, Maaza M, Sparrow R. 2010. Ionic self-assembly of porphyrin nanostructures on the surface of charge-altered track-etched membranes. *Journal of Porphyrins and Phthalocyanines*, 14(5), p.446-451.

Moodley MK, Coville NJ. 2010. Experimental evidence for the early nucleation of single-walled carbon nanotubes. *Chemical Physics Letters*, 498(1-3), p.140-144.

Motaung DE, Malgas GF, Arendse CJ, Malwela T. 2010. Investigation of the effects of substrate annealing on the properties of polymer blends. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*, 124(1), p.208-216.

Motaung DE, Malgas GF, Arendse CJ. 2010. Comparative study: the effects of solvent on the morphology, optical and structural features of regioregular poly(3-hexylthiophene): fullerene thin films. *Synthetic Metals*, 160(9-10), p.876-882.

Motaung DE, Malgas GF, Arendse CJ. 2010. Correlation between the morphology and photo-physical properties of P3HT: fullerene blends. *Journal of Materials Science*, 45(12), p.3276-3283.

Motaung DE, Moodley MK, Manikandan E, Coville NJ. 2010. In situ optical emission study on the role of C2 in the synthesis of singlewalled carbon nanotubes. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 107(4), p.044308. Moyo B, Dube S, Lesoli M, Masika PJ. 2010. Herbaceous biomass, species composition and soil properties of key grazing patches in coastal forest thornveld and two grassland types of the Eastern Cape province, South Africa. *African Journal of Range and Forage Science*, 27(3), p.151-162.

Mthembu XS, Van Heerden FR, Fouche G. 2010. Antimalarial compounds from Schefflera umbellifera. South African Journal of Botany, 76(1), p.82-85.

Mthunzi P, Dholakia K, Gunn-Moore F. 2010. Phototransfection of mammalian cells using femtosecond laser pulses: optimization and applicability to stem cell differentiation. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, 15(4), p.041507-014507.

Mthunzi P, Lee WM, Riches AC, Brown CTA, Gunn-Moore FJ, Dholakia K. 2010. Intracellular dielectric tagging for improved optical manipulation of mammalian cells. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics*, 16(3), p.608-618.

Mtshali M, Engelbrecht A. 2010. Robotic architectures. *Defence Science Journal*, 60(1), p.15-22.

Mulopo J, Greben H, Sigama J, Radebe V, Mashego M, Burke L. 2010. The relationships between sulphate reduction and COD/VFA utilisation using grass cellulose as carbon and energy sources. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology, 163(3), p.394-403

Musee N, Brent AC, Ashton PJ. 2010. A South African research agenda to investigate the potential environmental, health and safety risks of nanotechnology. *South African Journal* of *Science*, 106(3/4), p.1-6.

Musee N, Oberholster PJ, Sikhwivhilu L, Botha AM. 2010. The effects of engineered nanoparticles on survival, reproduction, and behaviour of freshwater snail, *Physa acuta* (Draparnaud, 1805). *Chemosphere*, 81(10), p.1196-1203. Mwakikunga BW, Forbes A, Sideras-Haddad E, Scriba M, Manikandan E. 2010. Self assembly and properties of C:WO3 nano-platelets and C:VO2/ V2O5 triangular capsules produced by laser solution photolysis. *Nanoscale Research Letters*, 5(2), p.389-397.

Ν

Nahman A. 2010. Extended producer responsibility for packaging waste in South Africa: current approaches and lessons learned. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling,* 54(3), p.155-162.

Naidoo S, Ahmed F, Pammenter NW, Zbonák A. 2010. A technique to identify annual growth rings in *Eucalyptus grandis* using annual measurements of diameter at breast height and gamma ray densitometry. *Southern Forests*, 72(3/4), p.191-200.

Ndhundhuma IM. 2010. Application of low level laser on skin cell lines. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.20.

Ndibewu PP, Mgangira MB, Cingo N, McCrindle RI. 2010. Metal and anion composition of two biopolymeric chemical stabilizers and toxicity risk implication for the environment. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, Part A, 73(4), p.261-271.

Ngwangwa HM, Heyns PS, Labuschagne FJJ, Kululanga GK. 2010. Reconstruction of road defects and road roughness classification using vehicle responses with artificial neural networks simulation. *Journal of Terramechanics*, 47(2), p.97-111.

Nhemachena C, Hassan R, Kurukulasuriya P. 2010. Measuring the economic impact of climate change on African agricultural production systems. *Climate Change Economics*, 1(1), p.33-55.

Nkosi D, Pillay J, Ozoemena KI, Nouneh K, Oyama M. 2010. Heterogeneous electron transfer kinetics and electrocatalytic behaviour of mixed self-assembled ferrocenes and SWCNT layers. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 12(3), p.604-613.

0

O'Farrell PJ, Anderson PML 2010. Sustainable multifunctional landscapes: a review to implementation. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 2(1/2), p.59-65.

O'Farrell PJ, Donaldson JS, Hoffman MT. 2010. Vegetation transformation, functional compensation, and soil health in a semi-arid environment. *Arid Land Research and Management*, 24(1), p.12-30.

O'Farrell PJ, Reyers B, Le Maitre DC, Milton SJ, Egoh B, Maherry A, Colvin C, Atkinson D, De Lange W, Blignaut JN, Cowling RM. 2010. Multi-functional landscapes in semi arid environments: implications for biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Landscape Ecology*, 25(8), p.1231-1246.

Oberholster PJ, Ashton PJ, Fritz GB, Botha A-M. 2010. First report on the colonyforming freshwater ciliate *Ophrydium versatile* in an African river. *Water SA*, 36(3), p.315-321.

Oberholster PJ, Blaise C, Botha A. 2010. Phytobenthos and phytoplankton community changes upon exposure to a sunflower oil spill in a South African protected freshwater wetland. *Ecotoxicology*, 19(8), p.1426-1439.

Oberholster PJ, Myburgh JG, Ashton PJ, Botha A-M. 2010. Responses of phytoplankton upon exposure to a mixture of acid mine drainage and high levels of nutrient pollution in Lake Loskop, South Africa. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 73(3), p.326-335.

Olwal TO, Van Wyk BJ, Ntlatlapa N, Djouani K, Siarry P, Hamam Y. 2010. Dynamic power control for wireless backbone mesh networks: a survey. *Network Protocols and Algorithms*, 2(1), p.1-44.

Oosthuizen MA, John J, Somerset V. 2010. Mercury exposure in a lowincome community in South Africa. *South African Medical Journal*, 100(6), p.366-371.

Ozoemena KI, Mathebula NS, Pillay J, Toschi G, Verschoor JA. 2010. Electron transfer dynamics across self-assembled N-(2-mercaptoethyl) octadecanamide/ mycolic acid layers: impedimetric insights into the structural integrity and interaction with anti-mycolic acid antibodies. *Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics*, 12(2), p.345-357.

Ρ

Page D, Dillon P, Toze S, Bixio D, Genthe B, Cisneros BEJ, Wintgens T. 2010. Valuing the subsurface pathogen treatment barrier in water recycling via aquifers for drinking supplies. *Water Research*, 44(6), p.1841-1852.

Partridge TC, Dollar ESJ, Moolman J, Dollar LH. 2010. The geomorphic provinces of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland: A physiographic subdivision for earth and environmental scientists. *Transactions of the Royal Society of South Africa*, 65(1), p.1-47.

Patanaik A, Anandjiwala RD. 2010. Hydroentanglement nonwoven filters for air filtration and its performance evaluation. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 117(3), p.1325-1331.

Patanaik A, Jacobs V, Anandjiwala RD. 2010. Performance evaluation of electrospun nanofibrous membrane. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 352(1/2), p.136-142.

Pattinson T, Majozi T. 2010. Introducing a new operational policy: the PIS operational policy. Computers & Chemical Engineering, 34(1), p.59-72. Pereira HM, Leadley PW, Proença V, Alkemade R, Scharlemann JPVV, Fernandez-Manjarrés JF, Araújo MB, Balvanera P, Biggs R, Cheung WWL, Chini L, Cooper HD, Gilman EL, Guénette S, Hurtt GC, Huntington HP, Mace GM, Oberdorff T, Revenga C, Rodrigues P, Scholes RJ, Sumaila UR, Walpole M. 2010. Scenarios for global biodiversity in the 21st century. Science, 330(6010), p.1496-1501.

Phasha M, Maweja K, Babst C. 2010. Mechanical alloying by ball milling of Ti and Mg elemental powders: operation condition considerations. *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, 492(1/2), p.201-207.

Phasha MJ, Bolokang AS, Ngoepe PE. 2010. Solid-state transformation in nanocrystalline Ti induced by ball milling. *Materials Letters*, 64(10), p.1215-1218. Phasha MJ, Ngoepe PE, Chauke HR, Pettifor DG, Nguyen-Mann D. 2010. Link between structural and mechanical stability of fcc- and bcc-based ordered MgeLi alloys. *Intermetallics*, 18, p.2083-2089.

Pillai SK, Moloto N, Ray SS. 2010. CoS-carbon nanotube heterostructure: one-step synthesis and optical properties. *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 10(7), p.4279-4285.

Pillai SK, Ramontja J, Ray SS. 2010. Controlled two-step amine functionalization of multi-walled carbon nanotubes for the preparation of polylactide/carbon nanotubes composites. *Advanced Science Letters*, 3(2), p.117-122.

Pillai SK, Sikhwivhilua LM, Hillie TK. 2010. Synthesis, characterization and photoluminescence properties of Dy3+doped nano-crystalline SnO2. *Materials Chemistry and Physics*, 120(2/3), p.619-624.

Pillay J, Ozoemena KI, Tshikhudo RT, Moutloali M. 2010. Monolayerprotected clusters of gold nanoparticles: impacts of stabilizing ligands on the heterogeneous electron transfer dynamics and voltammetric detection. *Langmuir*, 26(11), p.9061-9068.

Pityana SL, Rossouw MH, Seleka T, Rampedi L, Van Rooyen C. 2010. Laser alloying of aluminium alloys with Ni and Fe based powders. *Journal for New Generation Sciences*, p.206-217.

Plauché M, De Waal A, Sharma Grover A, Gumede T. 2010. Morphological analysis: a method for selecting ICT applications in South African government service delivery. Information Technologies & International Development, 6(1), p. 1-20.

Pohl B, Fauchereau N, Reason CJC, Rouault M. 2010. Relationships between the Antarctic oscillation, the Madden-Julian oscillation, and ENSO, and consequences for rainfall analysis. *Journal* of Climate, 23(2), p.238-254.

Potgieter S, Land K, Kotze L, Sparrow R. 2010. Microfluidic devices for biological applications. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.3. Pothan LA, George CN, John MJ, Thomas S. 2010. Dynamic mechanical and dielectric behavior of banana/ glass hybrid fiber reinforced polyester composites. *Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites*, 29(8), p.1131-1145. Price T, Majozi T. 2010. On synthesis and optimization of steam system networks. 3. Pressure drop consideration. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 49(19), p.9165-9174.

Price T, Majozi T. 2010. Synthesis and optimization of steam system networks. 2. Multiple steam levels. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 49(19), p.9154-9164.

R

Recio MR, Mathieu R, Maloney R, Seddon PJ. 2010. First results of feral cats (Felis catus) monitored with GPS collars in New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology*, 34(3), p.288-296.

Reddy KO, Maheswari CU, Reddy DJP, Guduri BR, Rajulu AV. 2010. Properties of ligno-cellulose Ficus religiosa leaf fibers. International Journal of Polymers and Technologies, 2(1), p.29-35.

Renton LF, Parak RB, Richter PVV, Kotze L, Ripamonti U. 2010. Comparison of osteoinduction in biphasic hydroxyapatite implanted in two different animal models. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.27.

Reyers B, Pettorelli N, Katzner T, Gompper ME, Redpath S, Garner TWJ, Altwegg R, Reed DH, Gordon IJ. 2010. Animal conservation and ecosystem services: garnering the support of mightier forces. *Animal Conservation*, 13(6), p.523-525.

Reyers B, Roux DJ, Cowling RM, Ginsburg AE, Nel JL, O' Farrell P. 2010. Conservation planning as a transdisciplinary process. *Conservation Biology*, 24(4), p.957-965.

Ripamonti U, Renton LF, Parak R, Kotze L, Richter PW. 2010. Biomimetism, smart biomimetic matrices and the induction of bone formation. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.35. Roberts DE, Du Plessis A, Botha LR. 2010. Femtosecond laser ablation of silver foil with single and double pulses. *Applied Surface Science*, 256(6), p.1784-1792.

Roberts DE, Du Plessis A, Steyn J, Botha LR, Strydom CA, Van Rooyen JJ. 2010. Femtosecond laser induced breakdown spectroscopy of silver within surrogate high temperature gas reactor fuel coated particles. *Spectrochimica Acta Part B*, 65(11), p.918-926.

Rolando M, Stefani C, Flatau G, Auberger P, Mettouchi A, Mhlanga M, Rapp U, Galmiche A, Lemichez E. 2010. Transcriptome dysregulation by anthrax lethal toxin plays a key role in induction of human endothelial cell cytotoxicity. *Cellular Microbiology*, 12(7), p.891-905.

Rouault MJ, Mouche A, Collard F, Johannessen JA, Chapron B. 2010. Mapping the Agulhas current from space: an assessment of ASAR surface current velocities. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 115, 14pp.

Roux FS. 2010. Lateral diffusion of the topological charge density in stochastic optical fields. *Optics Communications*, 283, p.4855-4858.

Ruxwana NL, Herselman ME, Conradie DP. 2010. ICT applications as e-health solutions in rural healthcare in the Eastern Cape Province of South Africa. *Health Information Management Journal*, 39(1), p.17-26.

S

Schneider F, Draheim J, Brunne J, Waibel P, Wallrabe U. 2010. Characterisation of adaptive fluidic silicone-membrane lenses. *SAIEE Africa Research Journal*, 101(1), p.21-25.

Semete B, Booysen L, Lemmer Y, Kalombo L, Katata L, Verschoor J, Swai HS. 2010. In vivo evaluation of the biodistribution and safety of PLGA nanoparticles as drug delivery systems. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine*, 6(5), p.662-671.

Seotsanyana M. 2010. Temporal logic motion planning. *Defence Science Journal*, 60(1), p.23-38. Shaik AA, Tlale NS, Bright G. 2010. 2 DOF resolution adjustment laser position sensor. International Journal of Intelligent Systems Technologies and Applications, 8(1-4), p.348-360.

Shatalov MY, Joubert SV, Coetzee CE. 2010. The influence of mass imperfections on the evolution of standing waves in slowly rotating spherical bodies. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 330, p.127-135.

Silva HMRD, Oliveira JRM, Peralta J, Zoorob SE. 2010. Optimization of warm mix asphalts using different blends of binders and synthetic paraffin wax contents. *Construction and Building Materials*, 24(9), p.1621-1631.

Simberloff D, Nunez MA, Ledgard NJ, Pauchard A, Richardson DM, Sarasola M, Van Wilgen BW, Zalba SM, Zenni R, Bustamante R, Pena E, Ziller SR. 2010. Spread and impact of introduced conifers in South America: lessons from other southern hemisphere regions. *Austral Ecology*, 35(5), p.489-504.

Singh A, Karsten AE, Smith RM, Van Niekerk G. 2010. Determination of the optical properties of rat tissue. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.14.

Singh R, Ray SS. 2010. Bionanohybrid based on bioplastic and surfacefunctionalized carbon nanotubes. *Journal* of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 10(12), p.7976-7980.

Sinha Ray S. 2010. A new possibility for microstructural investigation of clay-based polymer nanocomposite by focused ion beam tomography. *Polymer*, 51(17), p.3966-3970.

Siswana MP, Ozoemena KI, Geraldo DA, Nyokong T. 2010. Nanostructured nickel (II) phthalocyanine-MWCNTs as viable nanocomposite platform for electrocatalytic detection of asulam pesticide at neutral pH conditions. *Journal* of Solid State Electrochemistry, 14(8), p.1351-1358.

Smit JE, Singh A, Tshoke I, Grobler AF, Sparrow RW. 2010. Phantom skin absorption coefficients from spectrophotometric and integrating sphere methods: preliminary comparative results. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.25. Smith AM, Mather AA, Bundy SC, Cooper JAG, Guastella LA, Ramsay PJ, Theron A. 2010. Contrasting styles of swell-driven coastal erosion: examples from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Geological Magazine*, 147(6), p.940-953.

Snyman IM. 2010. Impulsive loading events and similarity scaling. *Engineering Structures*, 32(3), p.886-896.

Somerset V, Leaner J, Mason R, Iwuoha E, Morrin A. 2010. Determination of inorganic mercury using a polyaniline and polyaniline-methylene blue coated screen-printed carbon electrode. International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry, 90(9), p.671-685.

Sreedevi V, Perold WJ, Srinivasu VV, Kar S, Kishore NK, Srinivas V. 2010. Temperature dependent RF impedance in Ni nanocrystalline powders. *Advanced Science Letters*, 3(3), p.341-343.

Srinivasu W. 2010. Second and third peaks in the non-resonant microwave absorption spectra of superconducting Bi2212 crystals. *Journal of Superconductivity and Novel Magnetism*, 23(3), p.305-308.

Stafford W, Brent A. 2010. An introduction to BIOSSAM: the South African BIOenergy Systems Sustainability Assessment and Management portal. *Journal of Energy in Southern Africa*, 21(4), p.32.

Stoev SD, Denev S, Dutton MF, Njobeh PB, Mosonik JS, Steenkamp PA, Petkov I. 2010. Complex etiology and pathology of mycotoxic nephropathy in South African pigs. *Mycotoxin Research*, 26(1), p.31-46.

Stoev SD, Dutton MF, Njobeh PB, Mosonik JS, Steenkamp PA. 2010. Mycotoxic nephropathy in Bulgarian pigs and chickens: complex aetiology and similarity to Balkan Endemic Nephropathy. Food Additives and Contaminants, Part A: Chemistry Analysis Control Exposure & Risk Assessment, 27(1), p.72-88.

Strydom WF, Funke N, Nienaber S, Nortje K, Steyn M. 2010. Evidencebased policymaking: a review. *South African Journal of Science*, 106(5/6), p.1-8. Symes CT, Woodborne S. 2010. Migratory connectivity and conservation of the Amur falcon *Falco amurensis*: a stable isotope perspective. *Bird Conservation International*, 20(2), p.134-148.

Symes CT, Woodborne SM. 2010. Trophic level delineation and resource partitioning in a South African afromontane forest bird community using carbon and nitrogen stable isotopes. *African Journal of Ecology*, 48(4), p.984-993.

T

Thambiran T, Diab RD. 2010. A review of scientific linkages and interactions between climate change and air quality, with implications for air quality management in South Africa. South African Journal of Science, 106(3/4), p. 1-8.

Trüe A, Forbes P, Panichev N, Okonkwo J. 2010. Use of sorbent tubes and a semi-continuous emissions monitor for the determination of atmospheric total gaseous mercury in Pretoria, South Africa. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin*, 19(12a), p.3007-3012.

Tshilombo K. 2010. Determination of inclusions in liquid steel after calcium treatment. International Journal of Minerals Metallurgy and Materials, 17(1), p.28-31.

Twala B, Phorah M. 2010. Predicting incomplete gene microarray data with the use of supervised learning algorithms. *Pattern Recognition Letters*, 31(13), p.2061-2069.

U

Uys H, Biercuk MJ, Van Devender AP, Ospelkaus C, Meiser D, Ozeri R, Bollinger JJ. 2010. Decoherence due to elastic Rayleigh scattering. *Physical Review Letters*, 105(200401), p.1-4.

V

Vaid A, Ranjan R, Smythe WA, Hoppe HC, Sharma P. 2010. PfPI3K, a phosphatidylinsoitol-3 kinase from *Plasmodium falciparum*, is exported to the host erythrocyte and is involved in hemoglobin trafficking. *Blood*, 115(12), p.2500-2507. Van den Bergh F, Engelbrecht AP. 2010. A convergence proof for the particle swarm optimiser. *Fundamenta Informaticae*, 105(4), p.341-374.

Van der Merwe TM, Van der Merwe AJ, Venter LM. 2010. A model to direct online continuous professional development opportunities for mathematics teachers in the South African context of disparities. *African Journal of Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 14(3), p.63-78.

Van der Walt M, Day M, Rubidge B, Cooper AK, Netterberg I. 2010. A new GIS-based biozone map of the Beaufort Group (Karoo Supergroup), South Africa. *Palaeontologia Africana*, 45, 5pp.

Van Dijk JP, Leifert C, Barros E, Kok EJ. 2010. Gene expression profiling for food safety assessment: examples in potato and maize. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 58(3), p.S21-S25.

Van Houwelingen AJ, Kok S, Nicol W. 2010. Effectiveness factors for partially wetted catalysts. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 49(17), p.8114-8124.

Van Schoor M, Binley A. 2010. In-mine (tunnel-to-tunnel) electrical resistance tomography in South African platinum mines. *Near Surface Geophysics*, 8(6), p.563-574.

Van Wilgen BW, Forsyth GG, de Klerk H, Das S, Khuluse S, Schmitz P. 2010. Fire management in Mediterraneanclimate shrublands: a case study from the Cape fynbos, South Africa. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 47(3), p.631-638.

Van Zyl TL, Ehlers EM, Marais E. 2010. An implementation of resourcenegotiating agents in telemanufacturing. International Journal of Product Development, 11(1/2), p.115-135.

Van Zyl TL, Ehlers EM. 2010. Signalregulated systems and networks. *Complexity*, 15(6), p.50-63.

Varzinczak IJ. 2010. On action theory change. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, 37, p.189-246.

Visser DF, Hennessy F, Rashamuse KJ, Louw ME, Brady D. 2010. Cloning, purification and characterisation of a recombinant purine nucleoside phosphorylase from *Bacillus halodurans* Alk36. *Extremophiles*, 14(2), p.185-192.

Visser DF, Rashamuse KJ, Hennessy F, Gordon, GER, Van Zyl PJ, Mathiba K, Bode ML, Brady D, Louw, ME. 2010. High-yielding cascade enzymatic synthesis of 5-methyluridine using a novel combination of nucleoside phosphorylases. *Biocatalysis and Biotransformation*, 28(4), p.245-253.

W

Wakelin J, McKechnie AE, Woodborne S. 2010. Stable isotope analysis of migratory connectivity in a threatened intra-African migrant, the Blue Swallow (*Hirundo atrocaerulea*). *Journal of Ornithology*, 152(1), p.171-177.

Watson BP, Kuijpers JS, Stacey TR. 2010. Design of Merensky Reef crush pillars. Journal of The Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 110(10), p.581-591.

Wellington KW, Steenkamp P, Brady D. 2010. Diamination by N-coupling using a commercial laccase. *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry*, 18(4), p.1406-1414.

Wiechers JW, Musee N. 2010. Engineered inorganic nanoparticles and cosmetics: facts, issues, knowledge gaps and challenges. *Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology*, 6(5), p.408-431.

Williams CR, Leaner JL, Nel JM, Somerset VS. 2010. Mercury concentrations in water resources potentially impacted by coal-fired power stations and artisanal gold mining in Mpumalanga, South Africa. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A, 45(11), p.1363-1373.

Williamson DS, Dent KC, Weber BW, Varsani A, Frederick J, Thuku RN, Cameron RA, Van Heerden JH, Cowan DA, Sewell BT. 2010. Structural and biochemical characterization of a nitrilase from the thermophilic bacterium, *Geobacillus pallidus* RAPc8. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 88(1), p.143-153. Windvoel VT, Mbanjwa MB, Land K. 2010. Contact angle studies on PDMS surfaces fouled by bovine serum albumin. *European Cells and Materials*, 19(Suppl. 1), p.23.

Woodrooffe J, Glaeser K-P, Nordengen P. 2010. Truck productivity, efficiency, energy use and carbon dioxide output. *Transportation Research Record: Journal* of the Transportation Research Board, 2162, p.63-72.

Х

Xing B, Tlale NS, Bright G. 2010. The application of mechatronic design approach in a reconfigurable manufacturing environment. International Journal of Intelligent Systems Technologies and Applications, 8(1-4), p.330-346.

Y

Yates CJ, Elith J, Latimer AM, Le Maitre D, Midgley GF, Schurr FM, West AG. 2010. Projecting climate change impacts on species distributions in megadiverse South African Cape and Southwest Australian Floristic Regions: Opportunities and challenges. *Austral Ecology*, 35(4), p.374-391.

Z

Zheng H, Petrik L, Mathe M. 2010. Preparation and characterisation of porous poly(2,5benzimidazole) (ABPBI) membranes using surfactants as templates for polymer electrolyte membrane fuel cells. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 35(8), p.3745-3750.

Zwane PE, Sithole M, Hunter L. 2010. A preliminary comparative analysis of 3D body scanner, manually taken girth body measurements and size chart measurements. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 34(3), p.265-271.

Books and book chapters

A

Akoon IH, Archer E, Colvin C, Davis C, Diedericks GPJ, Engelbrecht F, Fatti C, Le Maitre D, Landman W, Le Roux A, Lotter D, Maserumule R, Meyer AA, Midgley G, Nkambule C, Olwoch J, Rossouw M, Sinden L-A, Stevens N, Theron AK, Van Huyssteen E, Vogel C, Warburton M, Wright C, Maherry A. 2010. South African Risk and Vulnerability Atlas. 54pp.

Ampofo-Anti N. 2010. The IAQ performance of interior finishing products and the role of LCA. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). *Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide*, vol. 2, p.358-367.

Anandjiwala RD, John M. 2010. Sisal: cultivation, processing and products. In: Mussig J (ed.). Industrial Applications of Natural Fibres: Structure, Properties and Technical Applications, p.181-195.

Ash N, Bennett K, Reid W, Irwin F, Ranganathan J, Scholes R, Tomich TP, Brown C, Gitay H, Raudsepp-Hearne C, Lee M. 2010. Assessing ecosystems, ecosystem services, and human wellbeing. In: Ash N, Blanco H, Brown C, Garcia K, Henrichs T, Lucas N, Raudseppe-Hearne C, Simpson D, Scholes R, Tomich TP, Vira B, Zurek M (eds.). *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: A Manual for Assessment Practitioners*, p.1-32.

B

Botai OJ, Sivakumar V, Combrinck WL, Rautenbach CJD. 2010. Multi-scale organization of water vapor over low and mid-tropical Africa. In: Oh JH (ed.). Advances in Geosciences, Vol 16: Atmospheric Science, p.241-251.

Bright G, Tlale NS, Kumile CM. 2010. Wireless communication technology for modular mechatronic controllers. In: Bradley D, Russell DW (eds.). Mechatronics in Action: Case Studies in Mechatronics: Applications and Education, p.121-134.

Brink vZ. 2010. Continuous assessment of rockfall risk in deep tabular mines. In: Brune JF (ed.). Extracting the Science: A Century of Mining Research, p.199-208.

C

Conradie D. 2010. Maximising the sun. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 3, p.146-159.

Conradie D. 2010. Predictive building performance simulation. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 2, p.132-149.

D

De Villiers A. 2010. Advanced walling systems. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). *Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide*, vol. 2, p.211-217.

De Villiers A. 2010. Roof assembly. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 2, p.259-263.

Debba P. 2010. Field sampling scheme optimization using simulated annealing. In: Chibante R (ed.). *Simulated Annealing: Theory with Applications*, p.113-136.

Durrheim RJ. 2010. Mitigating the risk of rockbursts in the deep hard rock mines of South Africa: 100 years of research. In: Brune JF (ed.). *Extracting the Science:* A Century of Mining Research, p.156-171.

G

Gopal A. 2010. Overview of data fusion in mobile intelligent autonomous systems. In: Raol JR (ed.). *Multisensor Data Fusion with MATLAB*, p.479-484.

Greeff M, Engelbrecht AP. 2010. Dynamic multi-objective optimisation using PSO. In: Nedjah N, Coelho LdS, Mourelle LdM (eds.). *Multi-Objective Swarm Intelligent Systems*, p.105-123.

Grieve G, Gouws S. 2010. Structural concrete and sustainability. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 2, p.184-192.

Gush K, De Villiers R, Smith R, Cambridge G. 2010. Digital doorways. In: Steyn J, Van Belle JP, Villanueva Mansilla E (eds.). *ICTs for Global Development and Sustainability: Practice and Applications*, p.96-126. Gush M. 2010. Assessing hydrological impacts of tree-based bioenergy feedstock. In: Amezaga JM, Von Maltitz G, Boyes SL (eds), Assessing the Sustainability of Bioenergy Projects in Developing Countries: A Framework for Policy Evaluation, p.37-51.

Н

Hall G, Woodborne S. 2010. Ecosystem change during MIS 4 and early MIS 3: evidence from middle stone age sites in South Africa. In: Runge J (eds.). African Palaeoenvironments and Geomorphic Landscape Evolution, Palaeoecology of Africa, vol. 30, An International Yearbook of Landscape Evolution and Palaeoenvironments, p. 79-106.

Hanan NP, Boulain N, Williams CA, Scholes RJ, Archibald S. 2010. Functional convergence in ecosystem carbon exchange in adjacent savanna vegetation types of the Kruger National Park, South Africa. In: Hill MJ, Hanan NP (eds.). Ecosystem Function in Savannas: Measurement and Modeling at Landscape to Global Scales, p.77-95.

Harrison JA, Amezaga JM, Von Maltitz G. 2010. Introduction to sustainable bioenergy for developing countries. In: Amezaga JM, Von Maltitz G, Boyes SL (eds.). Assessing the Sustainability of Bioenergy Projects in Developing Countries: A Framework for Policy Evaluation, p. 1-10.

Haywood L, De Wet B, Von Maltitz G. 2010. Planning for sustainability for bioenergy programmes, plans and projects. In: Amezaga JM, Von Maltitz G, Boyes SL (eds.). Assessing the Sustainability of Bioenergy Projects in Developing Countries: A Framework for Policy Evaluation, p.11-34.

Ittmann HW, Schoeman C, King D, Bean W, Viljoen N. 2010. 6th Annual State of Logistics Survey for South Africa 2009. 60pp.

Ittmann HW, Sarma Yadavalli VS. 2010. The Operations Research Society of South Africa. In: Cochran JJ (ed.). Wiley Encyclopedia of Operations Research and Management Science.

J

John MJ, Thomas S. 2010. Cellulosic fibril-rubber nanocomposites. In: Thomas S, Stephen R (eds.). Rubber Nanocomposites: Preparation, Properties and Applications, p.197-207.

Joseph S, John MJ, Pothen LA, Thomas S. 2010. Raw and renewable polymers. In: Eyerer P, Weller M, Hübner C (eds.). Handbook of Environmental Chemistry: Polymers - Opportunities and Risks II: Sustainability, Product Design and Processing, p.55-80.

L

Lück-Vogel M, Strohbach M. 2010. When is a change a change? In: Hoffman MT, Schmiedel U, Jürgens N (eds.). Biodiversity in Southern Africa, Volume 3: Implications for Landuse and Management, p.35-38.

M

Masonta M, Oyedapo J, Girod-Genet M. 2010. A Light-Weight Internet Protocol Multimedia Subsystem (IMS) Client: Development for Smart Mobile Devices, 99pp.

Matsebe O, Namoshe M, Tlale N. 2010. Basic extended Kalman filter: simultaneous localisation and mapping. In: Yussof H (ed.). *Robot Localization and Map Building*, p.39-58.

Musee N, Lorenzen L, Aldrich C. 2010. A fuzzy-based methodology for aggregative waste minimization in the wine industry. In: Jao CS (ed.). *Decision Support Systems*, p.281-310.

Ν

Ngepah N. 2010. Socioeconomic impacts of biofuels: methodologies and case study examples. In: Amezaga JM, Von Maltitz G, Boyes SL (eds). Assessing the Sustainability of Bioenergy Projects in Developing Countries: a Framework for Policy Evaluation, p.149-176.

0

Oelofse SHH. 2010. Spheres of SA Government, responsibilities and delivery. In: Emery R (ed.). The Waste Revolution Handbook South Africa, Volume 1 : The Guide to Sustainable Waste Management, p. 159-161. Osburn L. 2010. Capabilities and accuracy of energy modelling software. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 3, p.99-109.

Osburn L. 2010. Energy modelling software. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 2, p.308-320.

Osburn L. 2010. Lighting. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 2, p.297-306.

Osburn L. 2010. Thermal comfort. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). *Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide*, vol. 2, p.281-293.

Ouma S, Herselman M. 2010. Assessing and Addressing the Challanges of e-Health Implementations: Focus on Developing Countries: Case Study of Kenya. 204pp.

Ρ

Parsons S. 2010. Indoor environmental health. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 2, p.320-329.

Parsons SA. 2010. Indoor environmental health. In: Van Wyk L, Oszen E (eds.). *The Mauritius Eco Building Handbook: The Essential Guide*, vol. 1, 5pp.

Parton WJ, Scholes RJ, Day K, Carter JO, Kelly R. 2010. CENTURY-SAVANNA model for tree-grass ecosystems. In: Hill MJ, Hanan NP (eds.). Ecosystem Function in Savannas: Measurement and Modeling at Landscape to Global Scales, p.443-462.

Patanaik A, Anandjiwala RD. 2010. Modelling nonwovens using artificial neural networks. In: Majumdar A (ed.). Soft computing in textile engineering, p.246-267. Propper M, Grongroft A, Falk T, Eschenbach A, Fox T, Gessner U, Hecht J, Hinz MO, Huettich C, Hurek T, Kangombe FN, Keil M, Kirk M, Mapaure C, Mills A, Mukuya R, Namwoonde ME, Overmann J, Petersen A, Reinhold-Hurek B, Schneiderat U, Strohbach BJ, Lück-Vogel M, Wisch U. 2010. Causes and perspectives of land-cover change through expanding cultivation in Kavango. In: Hoffman MT, Schmiedel U, Jürgens N (eds.). *Biodiversity in Southern Africa, vol. 3: Implications for Landuse and Management,* p.1-31.

R

Rosner S, Giesselmann UC, Meyer J, Schwager M, Wiegand T, Lück-Vogel M, Brandl R. 2010. Coloniality of birds in the Kalahari: spatial distribution of trees and nests of the Sociable Weaver (Philetairus socius). In: Schmiedel U, Jürgens N (eds.). *Biodiversity in Southern Africa, Volume 2: Patterns and Processes at Regional Scale*, p. 179-183.

S

Scholes R, Biggs R, Palm C, Duraiappah A. 2010. Assessing state and trends in ecosystem services and human wellbeing. In: Ash N, Blanco H, Brown C, Garcia K, Henrichs T, Lucas N, Raudseppe-Hearne C, Simpson D, Scholes R, Tomich TP, Vira B, Zurek M (eds.). *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: A Manual for Assessment Practitioners*, p.115-150.

Scholes RJ. 2010. Miombo woodlands. In: Biodiversity Scenarios: Projections of 21st Century Change in *Biodiversity and Associated Ecosystem Services: A Technical Report for the Global Biodiversity Outlook* 3, p.87-91.

Schutte P. 2010. Heat stress management in hot mines. In: Brune JF (ed.). *Extracting the Science: a Century* of Mining Research, p.30-34.

Shackleton SE, Cocks M, Dold A, Kaschula S, Mbata K, Mickels-Kokwe G, Von Maltitz G. 2010. Non-wood forest products: description, use and management. In: Chidumayo EN, Gumbo DJ (eds.). Dry Forests and Woodlands of Africa: Managing for Products and Services, p.93-130. Shatalov MY. 2010. Analysis of axisymmetric and non-axisymmetric wave propagation in a homogeneous piezoelectric solid circular cylinder of transversely isotropic material. In: Petrin A (ed.). Wave Propagation in Materials for Modern Applications, p.335-358.

Sivakumar V, Tefera D, Mengistu G, Botai OJ. 2010. Mean ozone and water vapour height profiles for southern hemisphere region using radiosonde/ ozonesonde and Haloe satelite data. In: Oh JH (ed.). Advances in Geosciences, Vol 16: Atmospheric Science, p.263-270.

Sivakumar V, Tesfaye M, Alemu W, Sharma A, Bollig C, Mengistu G. 2010. Aerosol measurements over South Africa using satellite, sun photometer and LIDAR. In: Oh JH (ed.). Advances in Geosciences, Vol 16: Atmospheric Science, p.253-262.

Smith AC. 2010. Tangible interfaces for tangible robots. In: Hall E (ed.). *Advances in Robot Manipulators*, p.607-624.

Somerset V, Baker P, Iwuoha E. 2010. Mercaptobenzothiazole-on-gold organic phase biosensor systems: 3. Thickfilm biosensors for organophosphate and carbamate pesticide determination. In: Somerset VS (ed.). *Intelligent and Biosensors*, p.185-204.

Steenkamp LH, Brady D. 2010. Decision making in the development of a biocatalytic route for resolution of S-naproxen: from screening to scaleup. In: Méndez-Vilas A (ed.). Current Research, Technology and Education Topics in Applied Microbiology and Microbial Biotechnology, p.980-987.

T.

Tazvinga H, Hove T. 2010. Photovoltaic / Diesel / Battery Hybrid Power Supply System: Generator Component Sizing and Energy Performance Analysis. 92pp.

Tiwari S, Harrison JA, Von Maltitz G. 2010. Assessing social impacts of bioenergy projects. In: Amezaga JM, Von Maltitz G, Boyes SL (eds.). Assessing the Sustainability of Bioenergy Projects in Developing Countries: A Framework for Policy Evaluation, p.119-148. Tomich TP, Argumedo A, Baste I, Gamac E, Filer C, Garcia K, Garbach K, Geist H, Izac A-M, Lebel L, Lee M, Nishi M, Olsson L, Raudsepp-Hearne C, Rawlins M, Scholes R, Van Noordwijk M. 2010. Conceptual frameworks for ecosystem assessment: their development, ownership and use. In: Ash N, Blanco H, Brown C, Garcia K, Henrichs T, Lucas N, Raudseppe-Hearne C, Simpson D, Scholes R, Tomich TP, Vira B, Zurek M (eds.). Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: A Manual for Assessment Practitioners, p.71-113.

U

Utete S. 2010. Intelligent monitoring and fusion. In: Raol JR (ed.). *Multisensor Data Fusion with MATLAB*, p.485-490.

V

Van Aardt JAN, Lück-Vogel M, Lück W, Althausen JD. 2010. Remote-sensing systems for operational and research use. In: Bossler JD, Campbell JB, McMaster RB, Rizos C (eds.). Manual of Geospatial Science and Technology: 2nd edition, p.319-361.

Van Huyssteen GB. 2010. Redefining component structures in morphological constructions: a cognitive grammar perspective. In: Onysko A, Michel S (eds.). *Cognitive Perspectives on Word Formation*, p.97-126.

Van Wilgen BW, Richardson DM. 2010. Current and future consequences of invasion by alien species: a case study from South Africa. In: Perrings C, Mooney H, Williamson M (eds.). Bioinvasions and Globalization: Ecology, Economics, Management and Policy, p.183-201.

Van Wyk L. 2010. Building envelope: materials, sub-structure, roof assembly and finishes. In: Van Wyk L, Oszen E (eds.). The Mauritius Eco Building Handbook: The Essential Guide, vol. 1.

Van Wyk L. 2010. Demolish or deconstruct. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 3, p.290-296.

Van Wyk L. 2010. Green paving: soft, hard and permeable surfaces. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). *Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide*, vol. 3, p.48-60. Van Wyk L. 2010. Green Roofs. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 2, p.266-277.

Van Wyk L. 2010. Scope and flexibility for end-of-life options. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 3, p.302-308.

Van Wyk L. 2010. Sub-structure. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 2, p.172-184.

Van Wyk L. 2010. Super-structure and building performance. In: Van Wyk L (ed.). Green Building Handbook South Africa: The Essential Guide, vol. 3, p.183-194.

Van Wyk L. 2010. Sustainable building versus ecological building. In: Van Wyk L, Oszen E (eds.). *The Mauritius Eco Building Handbook: The Essential Guide*, vol. 1.

Van Wyk L. 2010. Water. In: Van Wyk L, Oszen E (eds.). *The Mauritius Eco Building Handbook: The Essential Guide*, vol. 1.

Vogt D, Van Schoor M. 2010. The rise of geophysics for in-mine imaging in South African gold and platinum mines. In: Brune JF (ed.). *Extracting the Science: a Century of Mining Research*, p. 189-198.

Von Maltitz G, Nickless A, Blanchard R. 2010. Maintaining biodiversity during biofuel development. In: Amezaga JM, Von Maltitz G, Boyes SL (eds), Assessing the Sustainability of Bioenergy Projects in Developing Countries: A Framework for Policy Evaluation, p.81-118.

W

Wall K. 2010. Developing and implementing norms and standards. In: Clinton D, Cleland A, Sanio M, Botha D, Wall K, Negussey D, Lewis S, Day P (eds.). Guidebook for Capacity Building in the Engineering Environment, p.50-57.

Wall K. 2010. Principles, components and appropriateness of capacity building. In: Clinton D, Cleland A, Sanio M, Botha D, Wall K, Negussey D, Lewis S, Day P (eds.). *Guidebook for Capacity Building in the Engineering Environment*, p.9-18. Wright C. 2010. Children's sight and the need to protect them from solar ultraviolet radiation. In: *Children's Sight:* A Multidisciplinary Approach, p.59-66.

Patents Granted by an Examining Office in FY 2010-11

Aloesin (Russia): Patent no: 2007138642

Flagellin (USA): Patent no: 11/792242

Hoodia (EPO): Patent no: 05017768.2

Safe Eggs (Japan): Patent no: 05017768.1 - 114

Hoodia (Mexico): Patent no: 280248

Wheel & Track (France): Patent no: 1629248

Wheel & Track (UK): Patent no: 1629248

Wheel & Track (Germany): Patent no: 602004031009.3-08

Wheel & Track (EPO): Patent no: 04734870

CSIR Rheocasting System (CSIR RCS) Device (Japan): Patent no: 4452778

Spherezymes (US): Patent no: 7,700,335

CSIR Rheocasting System (CSIR RCS) Device (US): Patent no: 12/820,823

Bio-Reactor System (CA): Patent no: 2,422,230

Integral Chemical/Biological Process (Canada): Patent no: 2418472

Invention disclosures

Kinases and Synthetases Home-based care

Wavenet

Membrane filter

Bisphenol A

Biotinylation Kit

Control of Slurry Flow II

Electrochemical extraction of energy from acid mine drainage

Rail transducer

Cross pavement carriers

Upgrading of Titanium Nitride

Titanium-platinum alloy process

Specific Aptamers against the mannose receptor protein

Bioplastic from polyfurfuryl alcohol

Process for inch worm motor

Low cost LOC

Quantitative and multiplexed lateral flow device

PBR application (CSIR GxN2107)

HaP Process

Method to construct an all solid state laser gyro

High Speed Additive Manufacturing

Fossil Tagging

Technology packages

BioDX Microbial formulation Bio-prospecting 5 Resyn Emulsion Hand Sprayer Road Maintenance Kit Anaerobic Digester Electronic Sounding Device

Muscle 1

Roll over protection system (ROPS)

Air Support System

Flutter Flight Test

Gripen

LYNX

Sensor and Electronic Warfare Engagement Simulation (SEWES)

TFMS

Airblow Seat Cover

CSIR Rheocasting System (CSIR RCS) Device

Cross Pavement Carrier

InTouch Africa

National Indigenous Knowledge Management System (NIKMAS) Catalogue System

Wireless Access Point Management System

Woefzela

Auto Secretary

Crime Prevention Toolkit

Ecosystem Service

GxN2107

MuniWaste Guidelines

National Freshwater Ecosystem Priority Areas (NFEPA)

Laser resonator with phase correcting elements

CSIR ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance

Framework

Corporate governance is formally concerned with the organisational arrangements that have been put in place to provide an appropriate set of checks and balances within which the stewards of the organisation operate. The objective is to ensure that those to whom the stakeholders entrust the direction and success of the organisation act in the best interest of these stakeholders. It is about leadership with integrity, responsibility and transparency.

The CSIR is committed to principles and practices that will provide our stakeholders with the assurance that the organisation is managed soundly and ethically. We have established a management model that governs and provides guidance for the way that all employees interact with our various stakeholder groups.

The underpinning principles of the Group's corporate governance rest on the three cornerstones of an effective and efficient organisation namely, day-to-day management processes; a long-term strategic planning process; and effective change processes. These processes are supported by systems that are used to plan, execute, monitor and control the strategic and operational domains of the organisation. The supporting infrastructure and its evolution are documented in our management model, which is reviewed and updated regularly.

In accordance with the Scientific Research Council Act (No 46 of 1988), as amended by Act 71 of 1990, the appointment of the CSIR Board is by the Executive Authority. The Board provides strategic direction and leadership; determines goals and objectives of the CSIR; and approves key policies, including investment and risk management and reviews. It also approves financial objectives, plans, goals and strategies. The Board has adopted formal Terms of Reference that are in line with the Scientific Research Council Act and the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) (No 1 of 1999), as amended by Act 29 of 1999.

The CSIR Board and the CSIR Executive Management Committee believe that the organisation has in all material respects applied and complied with the principles incorporated in the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct, as set out in the King Report.

Shareholder's Compact

In terms of Treasury regulations issued in accordance with the PFMA, the CSIR must, in consultation with the Executive Authority, annually agree on its key performance objectives, measures and indicators. These are included in the shareholder's performance agreement (Shareholder's Compact) concluded between the CSIR Board and the Executive Authority.

The compact promotes good governance practices in the CSIR by helping to clarify the roles and responsibilities of the Board and the Executive Authority and ensuring agreement on the CSIR's mandate and key objectives. The chairperson of the Board and the Executive Management Committee hold bilateral meetings with the Executive Authority.

Financial statements

The CSIR Board and the CSIR Executive Management Committee confirm that they are responsible for preparing financial statements that fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the financial year and the results and cash flows for that period. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. In addition, the CSIR Board is satisfied that adequate accounting records have been maintained.

The external auditor is the Auditor-General, who is responsible for independently auditing and reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented in conformity with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. The Auditor-General's Terms of Reference do not allow for any non-audit work to be performed.

Risk management

The CSIR Board is accountable for the process of risk management which is reviewed regularly for effectiveness. Appropriate risk and control policies are established and communicated throughout the organisation. The CSIR Board retains control through the final review of key risk matters affecting the organisation and is satisfied that the risk management process is effective.

Risk management in the CSIR is an ongoing process, focused on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of significant risks across all operations and Group companies. This has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Financial Statements.

A structured process of risk management has been put in place to ensure that the growth and development of human capital, strengthening of the science, engineering and technology (SET) base, operational excellence and financial sustainability will be achieved and maintained. CSIR systems have been put in place to review aspects of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. Management is involved in a continuous process of improving procedures to ensure effective mechanisms for identifying, managing and monitoring risks in the following major broad risk management areas: research, business, fraud, environmental management, occupational health and safety, operating and financial management.

Documented and tested processes are in place, which will allow the CSIR to continue its critical business process in the event of a disastrous incident impacting on its activities, and to ensure complete, timely and relevant reporting by management.

Based on the work of internal audit and the organisational results achieved, the Board is satisfied that the system of risk management has been effective during the year under review.

Research risk management

The Group recognises that research has to be conducted in compliance with the existing legal framework, aligned to CSIR strategies and in accordance with the standards and practices that would ensure outputs that support the CSIR's mandate. In order to mitigate research-related risks, the CSIR has an established Good Research Guide, research ethics and institutional governance structures such as the Research and Development (R&D) core management function; the Strategic Research Panel (SRP); and the Research Advisory Panels (RAPs).

The CSIR has established a Research Ethics Committee which is accountable to the Strategic Review Committee of the Board. The committee reviews all projects which require evaluation from a research ethics perspective.

Business risk management

The organisation has effective mechanisms in place for identifying and monitoring risks that impact on the CSIR Group. The procedures for implementing the Group's business risk management process include a focus on areas such as human capital assessment and development, technological development and business continuity.

Fraud risk management

The objective is to manage the fraud risk and to raise the level of fraud awareness among the CSIR's internal and external stakeholders. The CSIR's fraud prevention plan intends to reduce the risk of fraud and protect the interests of the organisation. The proactive approach consists of the responsibility for prevention, detection, reporting, communication and reaction to fraud.

Environmental management, occupational and health and safety

The CSIR is committed to the promotion of environmental, health and safety principles and practices to create a safe and healthy environment for all and to meet the requirements of all relevant environment and health and safety legislation as a minimum standard. This commitment is depicted in two ways: in the manner it serves business as a supplier of environmental managementrelated products, and in the way it demonstrates sound environmental practices at all CSIR sites.

Operating risk management

The CSIR endeavours to minimise operating risk by ensuring that the appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and people are in place throughout the Group. Key practices employed in managing operating risk include segregation of duties; transaction approval frameworks; financial and management reporting; and monitoring of metrics, which are designed to highlight positive or negative performance across a broad range of key results areas (KRAs). The Operations Committee, which comprises members of the executive, operating unit and centre executive directors and group managers, oversees operational matters.

Financial risk management

Financial risks are managed within predetermined procedures and

constraints as identified and detailed in the various policies and the setting of annual goals and objectives. Controls are designed to give assurance that assets are safeguarded and that liabilities and working capital are managed effectively. Organisational policies, procedures, structures and an approval framework provide for segregation of duties and contain self-monitoring mechanisms. Compliance is measured through regular reporting against the business goals, internal audit checks and external audit verification. The requisite skills and qualifications are in place for the management of the finance function

Going concern

The CSIR Board has reviewed the Group's financial budgets for the period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012 and is satisfied that adequate resources exist to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. The CSIR Board confirms that it has assessed key sustainability risks and there is no reason to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The income streams of the CSIR are detailed in the notes to the financial statements.

Internal control

The CSIR Board has ultimate responsibility for the system of internal controls. The key controls required to mitigate risk and ensure the integrity and reliability of financial statements have been identified in conjunction with the internal and external auditors. Close cooperation between the internal and external auditors ensures adequate and efficient audit reviews of the proper functioning of these key controls.

The annual audit plan is based on the key risks to the organisation and the results of the risk management process. The work programme that gives effect to the plan is reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee and approved or modified as required.

Internal financial controls have been assessed as effective to mitigate related risks.

Approval framework and policies

The CSIR Board has adopted an approval framework that governs the authorisation processes in the CSIR. It deals with, among others, the construction of strategic plans; development of operational plans and budgets; appointment of staff; approval of salaries and acquisition and disposal of assets. It also defines authority levels in relation to organisational positions.

Appropriate controls are in place to ensure compliance with the above framework. A comprehensive set of procedures exists to provide the necessary checks and balances for the economical, efficient and effective use of resources. The essence of this framework is that it is comprehensive, clear and unambiguous, and easy to assimilate and internalise.

Each subsidiary company's board of directors has adopted an approval framework, which mirrors that of the CSIR. All subsidiary companies are under the control of the CSIR Board and CSIR Executive Management Committee.

The Board reserves to itself all matters with potential to have material impact on the operations and reputation of the CSIR.

Employee participation

The CSIR strongly encourages effective and modern workplace practices and relationships to foster employee participation and work process involvement as a key practice at all levels in the organisation. Employee participation happens, for example, through self-directed staff sessions; formal induction programmes; road shows; technical and strategic focus groups; and task teams.

Code of ethics and organisational values

The CSIR Board and CSIR Executive Management Committee have approved and adopted a code of ethics, which reflects its commitment to a policy of fair dealing and integrity in conducting its operations. The code aligns closely to the CSIR's set of values, compliance to laws and regulations and requires all employees to maintain the highest ethical standards, ensuring that business practices are conducted in a manner which, in all reasonable circumstances, is beyond reproach. Monitoring ethical behaviour is devolved to operating unit level and transgressions are addressed by means of procedures detailed in the CSIR's Conditions of Service and the PFMA.

Governance Structure

The CSIR Board

The responsibilities of the Board are governed by the Scientific Research Council Act and the PFMA. The Board approves the strategy, goals, operating policies and priorities for the organisation and monitors compliance with policies and achievement against objectives.

With the exception of the President and CEO of the CSIR, all members of the CSIR Board are non-executive. CSIR Board members are actively involved in and bring independent judgement to bear on Board deliberations and decisions. All non-executive Board members have been assessed as independent during the year under review.

The CSIR Board, of which the current number of members adheres to the statutory minimum requirements, meets quarterly. For the year under review, the Board met on 29 June 2010, 16 September 2010, 16 November 2010 and 17 February 2011 .The Annual Financial Statements for the 2010/11 financial year were approved on 30 June 2011.

The CSIR Board has the following subcommittees: the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee; the Audit and Risk Committee; and the Strategic Review Committee (see pages 102 to 104). These committees are selected according to the skills sets required for the committees to fulfil their functions.

For the 2010/11 year, the committees complied with their respective Terms of Reference.

The CSIR Board has adopted formal Terms of Reference reflected in the Board charter, which are annexed in the Shareholder's Compact. For the year under review, the Board has assessed its performance and that of its committees. There are no issues of concern in this regard.

Board member	Board meetings (4)	Audit and Risk Committee (2)	Human Resources and Remuneration Committee (3)	Strategic Review Committee (2)
Petersen	4			2
Behrens	4] *		1
Benadè	3] * *] •
Hall	2			
Knott-Craig	4		3	2•
Sibanda	4	2	3] •
Silinga	3	2		
Thoka	3		3	
Wingfield	4			2
Sibisi	4	2ª		2

Schedule of attendance of the CSIR Board and CSIR Board Committee meetings (1 April 2010 - 31 March 2011)

* Replaced by Benadè

** Appointed to the CSIR Board with effect 1 September 2010; Replaces Behrens on the Audit and Risk Committee ° Attends in capacaty as President and CEO

• Attendance as per invitation

CSIR Board Members (1 April 2010 - 31 March 2011)

The Board and all its committees were appointed on 1 January 2009. The following changes occurred during the year under review:

- Phillip Benadè appointed to the Board and as Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee with effect from 1 September 2010.
- Prof Denis Hall resigned from the Board with effect from 21 March 2011.



Professor Francis Petersen (Chair), Dean: Faculty of Engineering and the Built Environment, University of Cape Town



Professor Mike Wingfield, Director: Forestry and Agricultural Biotechnology Institute, University of Pretoria



Mr Alan Knott-Craig, Director of Companies



Mr Pepi Silinga, Chief Executive Officer, COEGA Development Corporation



Mr McLean Sibanda, Head of Innovation Fund IP Management Office



Mr Phillip Benadè, retired



Mr Norbert Behrens, Group General Manager: Strategy and Planning, Sasol Limited



Ms Khomotso Thoka, Managing Executive, The Talent Hub



Dr Sibusiso Sibisi, CSIR President and CEO

Executive Management Committee

The Executive Management Committee has executive responsibility for the CSIR and consists of the following Executive members:

- President and CEO: Dr Sibusiso Sibisi
- Group Executive, Operations: Dr Hoffie Maree
- Group Executive, R&D Outcomes and Strategic Human Capital Development: Khungeka Njobe
- Group Executive, Research and Development: Dr Thulani Dlamini
- Chief Financial Officer: Chris Sturdy
- Executive Director, Services: Raynold Zondo

All Executives are employed on a five-year contract basis.



CSIR Executive Management Committee

Back row from left: Raynold Zondo, Executive Director: Services; Dr Sibusiso Sibisi, CSIR President and CEO; and Dr Hoffie Maree, Group Executive: Operations

Front row from left: Chris Sturdy, Chief Financial Officer; Khungeka Njobe, Group Executive, R&D Outcomes and Strategic Human Capital Development; and Dr Thulani Dlamini, Group Executive: R&D

CSIR leadership team

The CSIR management is responsible for strategy implementation and managing the day-to-day affairs of the CSIR and its operating units in accordance with the policies and objectives approved by the CSIR Board. This leadership team comprises the members of the CSIR Executive Management Committee and operating unit executive directors and centre managers.

Other internal structures that contribute to governance at the CSIR include the Executive, Operations and Service Committees, the Strategic Research and Contract Research & Development Forums, and the Research Advisory Panels.

Board of Directors and Group companies

The CSIR Executive appoints the boards of the various subsidiary companies.

Board and Executive Management remuneration

Details of the CSIR Board are set out on pages 98 to 100 of the Corporate Governance Report. The membership and Terms of Reference of each Board committee are further described on pages 102 to 103.

Remuneration of Board members and the Executive Management is set out in Note 19 of the Annual Financial Statements.

Remuneration of Executive Management is in accordance with the remuneration policy which has been approved by the CSIR Board.

General

The CSIR acknowledges that systems of corporate governance should be reviewed continuously to ensure that these are sound and consistent with world-class standards relevant to the operations of the Group and the evolution thereof.

We shall continue to comply with all major recommendations of the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as set out in the King Report on Corporate Governance.

Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)

The PFMA came into effect on 1 April 2000 and has had an impact on governance matters in terms of the regulation of financial management in the public sector. The Group complies, in all material aspects, with the Act.

Materiality framework

The materiality framework for reporting losses through criminal conduct and irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as well as for significant transactions envisaged per section 54(2) of the PFMA, has been finalised and incorporated into the Shareholder's Compact. No material losses through criminal conduct and irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure were identified as having been incurred during the year.

CSIR Board Committees 2010/11

Audit and Risk Committee

e PFMA and the King
on;
• work of the CSIR
e of the organisation

The Audit and Risk Committee has adopted formal Terms of Reference and is satisfied that it has complied with its responsibilities as set out in the Terms of Reference.

Human Resources and Remuneration Committee

Chairperson	Mr A Knott-Craig
Members	Ms K Thoka
	Mr M Sibanda
Meetings	22 April 2010
	29 June 2010
	15 September 2010
Purpose	To provide a vehicle for the CSIR Board to influence and control human resources and
	remuneration in the organisation;
	To determine human resources policy and strategy and review remuneration against industry
	benchmarks; and
	To approve remuneration changes and bonus payments; in addition, it reviews the
	remuneration and expenses of the Executive Management.

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee has adopted formal Terms of Reference and is satisfied that it has complied with its responsibilities as set out in the Terms of Reference.

Strategic Review Committee

Chairperson	Prof F Petersen
Members	Prof M Wingfield
	Mr N Behrens
	Dr S Sibisi

Meetings	7 October 2010
	24 March 2011
Purpose	To provide guidance and advice on the long-term trajectory and composition of the CSIR's
	science and technology portfolio in the context of the needs of the country; and
	To ensure that key innovation and research processes are conducted effectively and
	benchmarked against international best practice, and that research outputs, organisational
	climate and credibility remain congruent with the role and objectives of the institution.

The Strategic Review Committee has adopted formal Terms of Reference and is satisfied that it has complied with its responsibilities as set out in the Terms of Reference.

Board and committee meeting attendance (1 April 2010 - 31 March 2011)

Board meetings

	29/06/10	16/09/10	16/11/10	17/02/11
Petersen	Present	Present	Present	Present
Behrens	Present	Present	Present	Present
Benadè		Present	Present	Present
Hall	Apology	Present	Apology	Present
Knott-Craig	Present	Present	Present	Present
Sibanda	Present	Present	Present	Present
Silinga	Present	Present	Apology	Present
Thoka	Present	Apology	Present	Present
Wingfield	Present	Present	Present	Present
Sibisi	Present	Present	Present	Present

Audit and Risk Committee meetings

	29/06/10	10/02/11
Benadè		Present
Silinga	Present	Present
Sibanda	Present	Present
Behrens	Present	

Human Resources and Remuneration Committee meetings

	22/04/10	29/06/10	15/09/10
Knott-Craig	Present	Present	Present
Sibanda	Present	Present	Present
Thoka	Present	Present	Present

Strategic Review Committee meetings

	07/10/10	24/03/11
Petersen	Present	Present
Behrens	Present	Apology
Wingfield	Present	Present
Sibisi	Present	Present
Knott-Craig	Present	Present
Benadè	Present	
Sibanda		Present

Strategic Review Committee meeting held on 7 October 2010 – all Board members were invited to attend. Strategic Review Committee meeting held on 24 March 2011 – Sibanda and Knott-Craig attended by invitation.

Report of the Audit and Risk Committee

Year ended on 31 March 2011

Report of the Audit and Risk Committee as required by Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10 and S(51) (1)(a) (ii) of the Public Finance Management Act (No 1 of 1999), as amended by Act 29 of 1999.

The committee is pleased to present its report for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

Committee members and attendance

The committee consists of the members as stated on page 102 of this report. In accordance with its approved Terms of Reference, the committee met twice during the year under review (i.e. 29 June 2010 and 10 February 2011). Schedule of attendance is shown on page 103 of this report.

The committee's responsibility

The committee has adopted formal Terms of Reference in its charter in line with the requirements of S(51) (1) (a) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10 and has discharged all of its responsibilities for the year, in compliance with the charter.

The effectiveness of internal control

Through the review of the internal audit activity, the committee is

satisfied that an adequate system of internal control is in place to mitigate risks to an acceptable level. These controls have been effective during the period under review. The system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure and to maximise opportunities to achieve business objectives. This can provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance.

Internal audit

The committee has evaluated the internal control environment and based on the information provided has assessed the internal controls as effective to mitigate related risks.

Risk management

The committee is satisfied that the CSIR has an ongoing risk management process, focused on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of significant risks across all operations and Group companies. This has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual Financial Statements.

Evaluation of financial statements

The committee has evaluated the Annual Financial Statements of the CSIR Group for the year ended 31 March 2011, and based on the information provided to the Audit and Risk Committee considers that it complies, in all material respects with the requirements of the various Acts governing disclosure and reporting on the Annual Financial Statements. The committee therefore recommends the adoption of the Annual Financial Statements and the associated reports by the CSIR Board.

Phillip Benadè Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee Date: 30 June 2011

Report of the Auditor-General

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research for the year ended 31 March 2011

Report on the consolidated and separate financial statements

Introduction

1. I have audited the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements of the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research, which comprise the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 123 to 168.

Accounting authority's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (SA Statements of GAAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999 (PFMA), and for such internal control as management determines necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General's responsibility

3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996) and, section 4 of the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements.

6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

 In my opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2011, and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (SA Statements of GAAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act No. 1 of 1999.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

8. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I include below my findings on the annual performance report as set out on pages 112 to 117 and material non-compliance with laws and

Auditor - General

Pretoria 29 July 2011



Auditing to build public confidence

regulations applicable to the public entity.

Predetermined objectives

9. No material findings to report on the report on predetermined objectives as set out on pages 112 to 117.

Compliance with laws and regulations 10. No material findings to report on non-compliance with laws and regulations.

Internal control

11. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements and the report on predetermined objectives and compliance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, but not for the purposes of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. There are no matters to report in this regard.

Other reports

Agreed upon procedures engagements 12. The following agreed-upon procedures were performed:

- Water Research Commission projects: Agreed upon procedures on the income and expenditure reports for the periods ending 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2011.
- National Research Foundation projects: Agreed upon procedures on the income and expenditure reports for the period ending 31 March 2010.

Executive Report

Introduction

On behalf of the CSIR Board, we take pleasure in submitting to Parliament, through the Minister of Science and Technology, this report and the audited Annual Financial Statements of the CSIR Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

In the opinion of the CSIR Board, the financial statements fairly reflect the financial position of the CSIR Group as at 31 March 2011 and the results of its operations for the year then ended.

Statutory basis

As a statutory research council established by government, the CSIR is governed by the Scientific Research Council Act (No 46 of 1988), as amended by Act 71 of 1990. The organisation is listed as a Public Business Enterprise in terms of the PFMA Act (No 1 of 1999), as amended by Act 29 of 1999.

The CSIR mandate

The CSIR's mandate is as stipulated in the Scientific Research Council Act, section 3.

Extract from Scientific Research Council Act (No 46 of 1988), as amended by Act 71 of 1990:

"The objects of the CSIR are, through directed and particularly multidisciplinary research and technological innovation, to foster, in the national interest and in fields which in its opinion should receive preference, industrial and scientific development, either by itself or in co-operation with principals from the private or public sectors, and thereby to contribute to the improvement of the quality of life of the people of the Republic, and to perform any other functions that may be assigned to the CSIR by or under this Act."

Income sources

The CSIR derives income from baseline and ring-fenced grants from the Department of Science and Technology (DST); Contract R&D income from local and international public and private sectors; and income from intellectual property exploits and technology transfer efforts. Grant funding is invested in research programmes and research infrastructure as well as R&D skills development. Processes, policies and guidelines underpin the effective utilisation of grant funding.

Figure 1: The CSIR's role within the National System of Innovation



Role in the National System of Innovation (NSI)

The CSIR conducts research across the R&D value chain, a role that distinguishes it from higher education institutions (HEIs) and private sector R&D players (see Figure 1). The CSIR conducts a degree of basic research, but focuses mainly on directed research, development and technology or knowledge transfer for commercial or social benefit.

The CSIR strategy is guided by the strategic goals established in 2005. Key principles are the need to elevate the scientific capabilities of the organisation, enhance human capital development and focus on innovation. This requires an appropriate balance between strategic basic and applied research; technology development; and technology transfer and implementation, as depicted in Figure 1. At the same time, the excellent business and other organisational capabilities are to be maintained and enhanced.

The international strategic review of the CSIR in 2009 continues to guide organisational endeavours. The review confirmed the existing CSIR strategic goals, highlighting the need to:

- Achieve more focus in our research;
- Ensure increased impact of our work and improve the communication about impact;
- Continue with the development of significant numbers of highlyskilled people;
- Consider more partnering with the private sector and increase

Contract R&D income from this sector and international funding sources; and

 Safeguard financial sustainability and our good corporate governance record.

Responding to national imperatives

The CSIR's research agenda is influenced by national priorities, as identified by government, the private sector and society. Government priorities are defined by the various national departments and CSIR units keep in close touch with departments to support the development and implementation of policy. The Medium Term Strategic Framework (MTSF) for 2009 to 2014 identified strategic priorities for South Africa (see Table 1).

Table 1: CSIR relevance	e to	South	African	strategic	priorities
-------------------------	------	-------	---------	-----------	------------

Priority	MTSF National priorities	Level of CSIR relevance to the priority
1	Speeding up growth and transforming the economy to create decent work and sustainable livelihoods	High
2	Massive programme to build economic and social infrastructure	High
3	Comprehensive rural development strategy linked to land and agrarian reform and food security	Medium
4	Strengthen the skills and human resource base	High
5	Improve the health profile of all South Africans	Medium
6	Intensify the fight against crime and corruption	Low
7	Build cohesive, caring and sustainable communities	Low
8	Pursuing African advancement and enhanced international cooperation	Medium
9	Sustainable resource management and use	High
10	Building a developmental state including improvement of public services and strengthening democratic institutions	Low-Medium

In January 2010, cabinet identified 12 outcomes that will reflect progress in achieving national priorities, and which form the basis for ministerial performance agreements and direct departmental and interdepartmental activities. The CSIR contributes extensively to the attainment of 11 of the outcomes in line with its role in the NSI, and in collaboration with implementing partners such as line departments, state-owned enterprises and the private sector.

The CSIR's role in job creation

The January 2011 Cabinet Lekgotla identified the creation of jobs as the key driver to underpin achieving many social and economic objectives. In line with its mandate, the CSIR engages with government and the private sector to assist in maintaining employment through a competitive South African economy and to stimulate economic development through technology leading to the creation of new employment opportunities. The role of the CSIR is to undertake R&D and transfer technology that stimulates future industrial activity and job creation, in the short-, medium- and long-term. This role supports the New Growth Path approved by cabinet in 2010. Further, the CSIR's investment in human capital development contributes towards the creation of skilled workforce, with better prospects for employment and creation of entrepreneurs.

The CSIR's role in infrastructure and service delivery

Cabinet has identified the upgrading of social and economic infrastructure as a major area of focus. The CSIR has a wide range of activities that support infrastructure development and maintenance. Research activities usually support longer-term objectives and include advanced materials for building construction, cement and bitumen replacements and advanced road building materials. The CSIR is developing advanced methods for the optimisation of infrastructure planning, design, construction and operation (including infrastructure investment decision support). R&D is undertaken for short-term application in infrastructure development, which often addresses job creation.

The CSIR has made progress in defining its role in supporting service delivery and developed a framework to enhance the impact of the organisation on service delivery in the shorter term, focusing on:

- Support for integrated planning and resource allocation;
- Support for sustainable implementation, and monitoring and evaluation in the fields of roads, housing, water supply and sanitation and waste water treatment; and
- Support for extension of service reach and access.

CSIR partnerships

The CSIR engages with a number of government departments in support of technology development, policy development and advice as well as providing thought leadership on technology related matters. These engagements are positioning the CSIR as a preferred and key partner for the delivery of government's mandate.

State-Owned Enterprises (SOEs) support the implementation of government strategies, and the CSIR in turn supports SOEs with R&D and technologies. In 2010, the CSIR signed a Memorandum of Agreement with Eskom to collaborate in areas of mutual interest and national importance. The CSIR is engaging with Transnet and the Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) with a view to establishing similar strategic relationships. The CSIR undertakes R&D and technology development for Denel on an ongoing basis. The CSIR has a long history of relevance to and partnership with the South African private sector. The relationship with the private sector will be enhanced through development of sector-based value propositions aimed at increasing partnering and collaboration, focusing on aerospace, automotive, chemicals, mining, textiles, defence, forestry, health and built environment sectors.

The CSIR's strategic partnership with HEIs is a key component of its human capital development and R&D strategies. Currently, the CSIR has Memoranda of Agreement on research collaboration with 11 HEIs in South Africa. Particular attention is paid to developing partnerships with previously-disadvantaged HEIs. New agreements are being developed with the Universities of the Free State, KwaZulu-Natal and Venda.

The partnerships with HEIs involve almost all of the CSIR units and centres. Twenty projects were implemented with these institutions in 2010/11, supported by seed funding from the CSIR Cooperation Fund. The outputs arising from these partnerships are monitored and show significant numbers of joint publications and joint projects with students, who are exposed to CSIR work. CSIR staff members are enrolled as students at these universities and there are various modalities for sharing human resources, for example, appointments to committees, and lecturing and co-supervision of students. Discussions are being held with several universities with respect

to accessing each other's research facilities, and possibly establishing joint facilities.

Numerous international research partnerships provide additional capacity to support national priorities and ensure world-class R&D standards.

The CSIR has developed an Africa strategy that aims to contribute to Africa's development, and which will be implemented in the coming year. Implementation will build on current CSIR activities in Africa such as infrastructure development; Information and Communications Technology (ICT) development; environmental issues; human capital development; and support to peace-keeping missions. The strategy will be implemented in collaboration with regional institutions such as the World Association of Industrial and Technological Research Organisations (WAITRO) and the Regional Research Alliance (RRA).

The CSIR will seek to increase its networks in Africa through mechanisms similar to the NEPAD Southern African Network for Biosciences (SANBio) hosted at the CSIR and the NEPAD Water Centres of Excellence, in which the CSIR is a partner. The CSIR signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the Uganda Industrial Research Institute (UIRI) recently, with an emphasis on assisting UIRI in business incubation in the agroprocessing sector, and human capital development.

Overview of 2010/11 performance

Despite a challenging economic

environment, the CSIR performed very well in attaining the objectives set in its annual Strategic and Operational Plan. Once again, the organisation has demonstrated a balance between high standards of science and high standards of corporate governance.

The CSIR has delivered positive financial results, with total turnover continuing to grow and the net margin exceeding target. There was a pleasing increase of 28% in South African private sector income compared with 2009/10. The CSIR maintained a customer satisfaction index better than 80%.

Attraction and retention of suitably qualified and capable staff members is becoming an overarching challenge. The target total size of the SET base was not quite achieved, and this had a knock-on effect on transformation of the SET base. However, the CSIR approach to human capital development and human resources management ensured that other relevant targets were met or very nearly met. The Human Capital Development (HCD) pipeline has grown significantly in terms of the number of studentships supported.

Strategic research alliances also increased. The value of capital investment in scientific equipment and facilities was deliberately curtailed in response to the economic climate. Despite this, the CSIR made an impressive investment of almost R119 million. Research outputs in terms of publication equivalents increased considerably yet again. The target of a level 2 Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE) contributor was not achieved. However, although the measures are not directly comparable, the CSIR B-BBEE score would benchmark favourably within the top 20 South African private listed companies. Employment Equity will receive focussed attention in 2011/12.

The CSIR energy utilisation was reduced by over 20% from the previous year. A renewed focus on employee safety has improved the injury index substantially.

The CSIR has maintained its record with an unqualified audit report. No material findings on CSIR Key Performance Indicators were identified by the auditors.

Setting of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and performance reporting

The CSIR enters into a Shareholder's Compact Agreement annually with the DST. The compact comprises a rolling three-year strategic plan and an operational plan with very specific KPIs. Strategic planning in the CSIR is supported by ongoing benchmarking against similar research organisations, and trend analysis of KPIs. Quarterly reports and the annual Science, Engineering and Technology Institution (SETI) scorecard report to the department address performance in terms of KPIs. The CSIR has a proud record of attaining KPI targets over the past few years.

Organisational priorities

The CSIR's strategy is translated into organisational priorities as the

Figure 2: Organisational priorities

Building and transforming human capital

Strengthening the SET base and performing relevant R&D

Transferring technology and skilled human capital

Addressing priority issues that contribute to the national programme of development for the benefit of all South Africans

Maintaining financial sustainability and good governance

framework for the annual operational plan. Organisational priorities have remained consistent over the past few years and have allowed for cumulative performance and entrenchment of strategy. The organisational priorities are reflected in Figure 2. Portfolio offices exist to coordinate and support strategic priorities such as those of the R&D, Human Capital Group; the Intellectual Property Management and Technology Transfer Support Unit; the Contract R&D office; and the Strategic Initiatives Implementation Unit. Organisational support units form a CSIR Shared Services grouping and render transactional or specialist strategic support and administrative services to the rest of the organisation.

Priority area: Building and transforming human capital

Human capital development is essential to achieving the CSIR strategic goals. The CSIR strategic goals require transformation of the profile of CSIR staff in line with the needs of a research organisation. Progress has been made through the establishment of career ladders for researchers and technical staff, and in improving the qualification profile of staff. HCD remains essential to organisational success, and is being achieved in line with the CSIR Human Resources (HR) strategy that was approved in 2008 (see Table 2). To date, significant progress has been made in the following areas:

- A revised remuneration strategy, including the bonus and incentive scheme;
- Establishing a centralised recruitment office staffed by specialists;
- Continued exploration of new recruitment territories such as international sources, cross-over industries and learnerships;
- A re-engineered new employee induction process; and
- Continued assurance of excellence in HR administration, systems and service.

Evidence of the progress made in human capital was provided by the Best Employer status awarded to the CSIR by the CRF Institute in 2010.

Table 2 shows performance against the targets set for human capital development and human resource management Key Performance Indicators. Figure 3 illustrates the five year trend in growing the staff complement with doctoral degrees.

Strategic Focus Area	Key Performance Indicator	2010/11 Target	2010/11 Actual
Human capital development	Number of permanent CSIR staff studying towards Master's and PhD degrees	220	226
	Number of studentships supported	210	246
	Number of interns supported	125	124*
	Number of bursars appointed	165	160*
Human resource management	Total size of SET base (Number, %)	1 575 (65.5%)	1 560** (64.5%)
	% of SET base who are black	54.4	52.6***
	% of SET base who are female	33.3	33.2*
	Number of staff with PhD-level gualifications	303	299*

* The numbers of interns, bursars and staff with PhD qualifications, and the percentage of the SET base that are female are for all practical purposes on target.

** The total size of the SET base is slightly less than target, reflecting the challenge of sourcing sufficient suitable skills for the CSIR.

*** The transformation of the SET base continues to improve, but was slower than expected owing to the shortfall in the total SET base and challenges in the retention and attraction of highly-qualified black SET staff.

Figure 3: Five-year trend of CSIR staff with doctoral degrees



Priority area: Strengthening the SET base and performing relevant R&D

The CSIR continues to fulfil an increasingly important role in support of sustainable socio-economic development in South Africa in satisfaction of its mandate, by making science and technology of the highest quality available to markets and society. The overall strategic intent of this organisational priority is to continue to strengthen the capability to perform relevant research and innovation, and to achieve socioeconomic impact in support of national priorities. Greater impact can be achieved through better focus of the organisation's R&D portfolio. To ensure that the R&D portfolio is focused on key areas that align with South Africa's priorities, the CSIR has identified the Research Impact Areas (RIAs) depicted in Figure 4. The RIAs form the basis for the CSIR's R&D strategy.

Figure 4: CSIR Research Impact Areas in support of our mandate



The strategic intent of each RIA is presented in Table 3.

Table 3: CSIR Research Impact Areas (RIAs)

Research I	mpact Area	Strategic intent	
Health		To apply multi-disciplinary innovation to the design of effective and efficient health care systems, and to develop affordable preventative, diagnostic and treatment solutions to address the priority diseases in South Africa	
Energy		develop, implement and demonstrate renewable and alternative energy technology ons; and provide decision support to achieve an energy-secure, low-carbon national nomy with reduced water impact	
Defence & Security		contribute scientific and technological solutions towards the achievement of a eaceful, safe and secure South Africa and the region through better safe-guarding of ifrastructure, borders, territorial waters and making South Africa an informed buyer and ser of technology in defence and national security	
Built Environment		To contribute technological innovations that support planning, design, construction, maintenance and management of the built environment and its interaction with human activities	
Natural Environment		To develop decision-support tools, capabilities to monitor the state of the natural resource base and to apply environmental engineering to provide technological innovations to address key resource base issues that support a resilient South African economy	
Industry Advanced		To develop and transfer new technologies and technology-based solutions that will	
	Manufacturing	improve the size, competitiveness and sustainability of the South African manufacturing industry	
	Mining	To develop technological innovations that support a healthy, safe, smart, innovative, efficient and sustainable mining industry	

The CSIR achieved outstanding performance with regard to its objective of strengthening the SET base, when measured against targets set for its Key Performance Indicators (see Table 4). Significant progress was made with both the quality and quantity of research outputs. The success in this area was supported by numerous active and successful research partnerships.

Strategic Focus Area	Key Performance Indicator	2010/11 Target	2010/11 Actual
R&D outputs	Publication equivalents	466	576
	New technology demonstrator equivalents	31	37
Strategic research alliances	Value and number of collaborative R&D	R226.0m	R242.7m
	activities with a value exceeding KT.Shi		70
	Value and number of collaborative research	R133./m	R186.3m
	projects with TEIs	110	150

Research productivity

The total number of publication equivalents increased by nearly 15% in 2010/11 compared to the previous year. Figure 5 shows the consistent growth of publication equivalents output over the past five years. The CSIR continues to place emphasis on the quality and quantity of research outputs, especially in scientific journals that undergo a rigorous peer-review process and have good citation indices. The number of articles published in accredited journals has shown a steady increase over the years and in the last year increased by nearly 12%; from 266 in 2009/10 to 297 in 2010/11. Similarly, articles published in ISI journals with an impact factor greater than 2 increased to 42.5% of all published articles.

Figure 5: Five-year trend of publication equivalent output



The CSIR continues to make information available to decision makers and society in various ways. The CSIR Researchspace has become a popular source of information, and over 47 000 items were downloaded monthly in 2010/11. Figure 6 shows the trend of annual downloads since Researchspace was launched in 2007.





Priority area: Transferring technology and skilled human capital

The CSIR R&D capacity provides value to society through the Contract R&D it undertakes and through the commercialisation of formally protected intellectual property.

The CSIR has provided significant value in terms of support to national priorities.

Examples include:

 The development of the South African Risk & Vulnerability Atlas, which translates global change science to information to support planning and decisionmaking at national, provincial and municipal levels;

- Publication of the Municipal Waste Management Guidelines, providing good practice in waste service delivery;
- Publication of a technical guide on causes, identification and repair of potholes and a non-technical guide on causes and prevention of potholes in support of an improved road network infrastructure;
- Emergency response doctrine development and implementation to support improved effectiveness and efficiency of Joint National Emergency Response teams in support of the 2010 FIFA World Cup;
- Enterprise creation for development; supporting more than 460 project beneficiaries in 2010/11; and

 Implementation of a new TB facility design to reduce the risk of crossinfection and counter the growing TB epidemic.

The CSIR Intellectual Property (IP) strategy focuses on:

- Intellectual property management: To ensure the effective identification, disclosure, protection and management of discoveries and inventions and other IP, to be able to make deliberate choices as to how to benefit society and the economy with this intellectual property; and
- Technology transfer: To develop practical applications from the results of scientific research and transfer these applications for the benefit of the economy and society.

Significant progress was made in 2010/11 in identifying 13 priority commercialisation priorities for the CSIR and developing rigorous, peer-reviewed plans to execute them over the next three years.

Table 5 shows the excellent performance in exceeding all R&D outcomes and Contract R&D targets. The continued growth in Contract R&D illustrates customer confidence in the CSIR ability to deliver value.

Strategic Focus Area	Key Performance Indicator	2010/11 Target	2010/11 Actual
R&D outcomes	New international patents granted	11	14
	Number of new technology packages available for transfer	16	29
	Royalty and licence revenue	R8.3m	R8.62m
Contract R&D	Contract R&D income	R1 093.0m	Rl 175.1m
	Value of Contract R&D formally recognised as supporting national strategies	R603.0m	R671.9m
	Customer satisfaction	80%	80.19%

Table 5: Transferring technology and skilled human capital

Priority area: Financial sustainability, good corporate governance and citizenship

The CSIR continues to maintain an excellent record in corporate governance, and special mention was made in Parliament of the exemplary CSIR performance. External benchmarking showed the CSIR procurement capabilities to be one of the best in South Africa.

Table 6: Financial sustainability, good corporate governance and citizenship

Strategic Focus Area	Key Performance Indicator	2010/11 Target	2010/11 Actual
Financial sustainability	Value of investment in property, plant and equipment	R140.9m	R118.8m*
	Total income	R1.64 billion	R1.72 billion
	Net profit	R33.Om	R35.5m
Corporate governance and citizenship	B-BBEE rating	Level 2 contributor	Level 3 contributor **
	Energy efficiency	Achieve 1.2% reduction in energy consumption on previous year	Achieved 21.4% reduction in energy consumption on previous year
	Environmental stewardship: ISO 14001	Compliance to ISO 14001	Compliance maintained
	Disabling injury frequency rate (DIFR)	<0.3 disabling injuries	0.12

* During the financial year management curtailed investment in property, plant and equipment due to the economic conditions facing the organisation at the time.

** The new B-BBEE audit will take place later in 2011. However, the CSIR expects the score to be approximately 2 points less than that required for Level 2 status owing to a lower than expected employment equity score.

Financial performance overview

A Income

The total operating income of the CSIR increased by 2.6% to an amount of R1 723.6 million (2009/10: R1 680 million). The CSIR Group's total operating income amounted to R1 735.8 million (2009/10: R1 697.5 million).

The Parliamentary Grant recognised as income in 2010/11 amounted to R535.3 million, an increase of 5.1% from the prior year amount of R509.1 million.

The CSIR's total Contract R&D income increased marginally by 1.3% to R1 175.1 million (2009/10: R1 159.8 million). This includes R64.9 million (2009/10: R99.5 million) ring-fenced funding from the DST. The CSIR Group's total Contract R&D income increased to an amount of R1 187.2 million (2009/10: R1 176.8 million).

A strategy to increase income from the South African private sector resulted in growth of this income stream of 28% from 2009/10. Income from the South African private sector amounted to R193.3 million (2009/10: R151.3 million). The CSIR's continued alignment with national strategic priorities ensured that a significant part of the contract income was received from the South African public sector, amounting to R820.7 million (2009/10: R848.8 million). International contract income increased marginally due to the slow economic recovery in international markets. Contract income from the international sector amounted to R161 million (2009/10: R159.6 million).

The continued investment in scientific infrastructure and equipment remains a priority to ensure that world-class facilities and equipment are acquired and maintained. Over the past four financial years R572 million has been invested in property, plant and equipment.



B Five-year review of income and expense indicators

	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007
	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000
Total income	1 776 827	1 748 848	1 554 910	1 271 062	1 150 467
Parliamentary Grant recognised as income	535 357	509 122	480 320	429 013	428 055
Contract income, royalty income, other income and net finance income	1 241 470	1 239 726	1 074 590	842 049	722 412
Local private sector	193 362	151 339	147 752	137 683	134 647
Local public sector	820 705	848 846	661 682	508 779	435 391
International sector (including Africa)	161 027	159 610	142 002	119 584	106 027
Royalties and other income	13 197	11 168	40 516	22 908	17 321
Net finance income	53 179	68 763	82 638	53 095	29 026
Total expenditure	1 741 317	1 695 419	1 495 442	1 219 665	1 125 588
Employees' remuneration	940 776	873 445	763 867	619 529	579 035
Operating expenses	759 048	779 832	694 435	572 454	496 752
Depreciation	41 493	42 142	37 140	27 682	49 801

C Net profit and cash flow

The net profit of the CSIR amounts to R35.5 million (2009/10: R52.4 million). The net profit for the CSIR Group was R33.8 million (2009/10: R57.6 million).

The reduction in net profit for the CSIR is attributable to an increase in employee remuneration in excess of operating income growth and reduced net finance income.

Cash flow generated from operating activities for the CSIR for the year under review is R298.6 million (2009/10: R25.9 million). The cash and cash equivalent holdings, including long-term fixed deposits of the CSIR increased to R975.7 million (2009/10: R766.2 million). The current ratio remains the same as the previous financial year at 1.1.

D Five-year ratio analysis

	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007
	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000
Operating expenses					
Remuneration as a percentage of total income (excluding finance income)	54.6%	52.0%	51.9%	50.9%	51.6%
Remuneration as a percentage of total operating expenditure	54.0%	51.5%	51.1%	50.8%	51.2%
Asset management					
Investment in property, plant and equipment (Rm)	118.8	179.0	188.3	85.9	79.2
Investment in property, plant and equipment as a percentage of revenue	6.9%	10.7%	13.0%	7.1%	7.1%
Net asset turn	3.3	3.4	3.4	3.2	3.2
Current ratio	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.2	0.9
Cash flow					
Net cash from operating activities	298 668	25 967	285 546	167 307	341 357
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (including long-term fixed deposits)	975 755	766 278	834 830	673 309	557 529

Definitions

Net asset turn: Total revenue (including finance income) divided by net assets

Current ratio: Current assets divided by current liabilities

The post-retirement medical benefit expense and liability and the effects of the adoption of SA GAAP, AC133: Financial instruments - recognition and measurement have been excluded for the comparison of financial indicators.

EXECUTIVE REPORT

CSIR ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statements of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2011

	GROUP		CSIR	
	2011	2010	2011	2010
Notes	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
Paranua	1 721 174	1 606 550	1 710 047	1 670 125
	1/311/4	1 090 336	1 / 19 00/	1 0/ 9 433
	4 372	1 607 550	1 702 4 40	1 600 005
lotal operating income	1/33/00	1 04/ 334	1 / 23 048	1 080 083
Expenditure				
Employees' remuneration	946 485	880 745	940 776	874 458
Depreciation and amortisation 6&7	42 067	42 787	41 493	42 142
Operating expenses 3	768 176	787 400	759 048	779 832
Total operating expenditure	1 756 728	1 710 932	1 741 317	1 696 432
Finance income 4	58 861	78 468	57 243	75 921
Finance expense 4	(4 063)	(7 152)	(4 063)	(7 152)
Share of profit/(loss) of joint ventures and associates 8	119	(214)		
Profit for the year before income tax	33 955	57 729	35 511	52 422
Income tax expense 5	(60)	(122)		
Profit for the year	33 895	57 607	35 511	52 422
Other comprehensive income				
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations	(17)	50		
Other comprehensive income for the year	(17)	50	-	-
Total comprehensive income for the year	33 878	57 657	35 511	52 422
Profit attributable to:				
Stakeholders of the parent	33 895	57 607	35 511	52 422
Total comprehensive income attributable to:				
Stakeholders of the parent	33 878	57 657	35 511	52 422

Statements of financial position as at 31 March 2011

		GRC	OUP	CSIR	
		2011	2010	2011	2010
	Notes	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
ASSETS					
Non-current assets		394 317	351 994	419 677	378 211
Property, plant and equipment	6	392 480	350 203	392 105	349 183
Intangible assets	7	18	46	-	-
Interest in joint ventures and associates	8	1 419	1 487	1 376	1 499
Interest in subsidiaries	9			26 196	27 529
Other investments	10	-	-	-	-
Deferred tax asset	13	400	258		
Current assets		1 312 351	1 104 552	1 280 194	1 070 078
Trade and other receivables	11	118 509	128 752	123 631	130 086
Inventory and contracts in progress	12	89 549	80 928	85 918	78 824
Cash and cash equivalents	24	1 009 403	799 982	975 755	766 278
Non-current asset held for sale	6.1	94 890	94 890	94 890	94 890
TOTAL ASSETS		1 706 668	1 456 546	1 699 871	1 448 289
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES					
Reserves		541 030	507 152	534 221	498 710
Retained earnings		540 267	506 372	534 221	498 710
Non-distributable reserve:					
Foreign currency translation reserve		763	780		
Non-current liabilities		10 142	9 875	10 142	9 875
Post-retirement medical benefits	18.4	10 142	9 875	10 142	9 875
Current liabilities		1 155 496	939 519	1 155 508	939 704
Advances received	14	628 626	493 943	628 626	493 943
Trade and other payables	15	526 542	445 195	526 882	445 761
Provisions	16	328	381	-	-
		1 706 668	1 456 546	1 699 871	1 448 280
					20/

Statements of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 March 2011

	Retained earnings	Self- insurance reserve	Non- distributable reserve*	Total
	R′000	R'000	R'000	R′000
GROUP				
Balance at 31 March 2009	438 015	10 750	730	449 495
Total comprehensive income	57 607	-	50	57 657
Profit for the year	57 607	-	-	57 607
Other comprehensive income for the year: Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations	-	-	50	50
Transfer of self-insurance reserve to retained earnings	10 750	(10 750)	-	-
Balance at 31 March 2010	506 372	-	780	507 152
Total comprehensive income	33 895	-	(17)	33 878
Profit for the year	33 895	-	-	33 895
Other comprehensive income for the year: Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations	-	_	(17)	(17)
Balance at 31 March 2011	540 267	-	763	541 030
CSIR				
Balance at 31 March 2009	435 538	10 750	-	446 288
Total comprehensive income	52 422	-	-	52 422
Profit for the year	52 422	-	-	52 422
Transfer of self-insurance reserve to retained earnings	10 750	(10 750)	-	-
Balance at 31 March 2010	498 710	-	-	498 710
Total comprehensive income	35 511			35 511
Profit for the year	35 511	-	-	35 511
Balance at 31 March 2011	534 221	-	-	534 221

*The non-distributable reserve consists of a foreign currency translation reserve. The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations as well as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Group's net investment in a foreign subsidiary, if applicable.

Statements of cash flows

for the year ended 31 March 2011

		GRC	OUP	CSIR	
		2011	2010	2011	2010
N	otes	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000
Cash flows from operating activities					
Cash receipts from external customers		1 210 338	1 208 457	1 189 047	1 190 502
Parliamentary Grant received		550 305	510 951	550 305	510 951
Cash paid to suppliers and employees		(1 514 505)	(1 778 483)	(1 493 863)	(1 744 249)
Cash generated/(utilised) from operating activities	23	246 138	(59 075)	245 489	(42 796)
Finance income	4	58 861	78 468	57 243	75 921
Finance expense	4	(4 064)	(7 158)	(4 064)	(7 158)
Income taxes paid		(202)	(122)		
Net cash from operating activities		300 733	12 113	298 668	25 967
Cash flows from investing activities					
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	6	(90 450)	(95 624)	(90 311)	(95 056)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment		654	1 299	397	1 222
Decrease/(increase) in subsidiary loans				1 365	(685)
Decrease in investments			100 000	-	100 000
Acquisition of intangible assets	7	(858)	(406)	-	-
Net cash (utilised)/generated in investing activities		(90 654)	5 269	(88 549)	5 481
Cash flows from financing activities					
Decrease in long-term liabilities		(642)	-	(642)	-
Net cash utilised in financing activities		(642)	-	(642)	-
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		209 437	17 382	209 477	31 448
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year		799 982	782 528	766 278	734 830
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes		(16)	72	-	-
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year	24	1 009 403	799 982	975 755	766 278

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The CSIR is a parastatal (enacted by The Scientific Research Council Act, Act 46 of 1988) domiciled in the Republic of South Africa. The address of the CSIR's principal place of business is Meiring Naudé Road, Brummeria, Pretoria.

The consolidated Annual Financial Statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments held for trading and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale, which are stated at fair value. The consolidated Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with statements of South African Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (SA GAAP) and the Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999. The following principal accounting policies have been consistently applied by group entities in all material respects.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which forms the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

The consolidated Annual Financial Statements are presented in South African rand (R), which is the CSIR's functional currency, and are rounded off to the nearest thousand.

Basis of consolidation

Interest in subsidiaries

The consolidated Annual Financial Statements incorporate the Annual Financial Statements of the CSIR and the Annual Financial Statements of the entities under its control from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Control exists when the CSIR has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable are taken into account.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant subsidiaries

are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Non-controlling interests are stated at the noncontrolling interests' proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised. The operating results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the reporting period are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition up to the effective date of disposal. All significant intercompany balances between group entities are eliminated on consolidation.

Where a group enterprise transacts with a subsidiary company, unrealised gains and losses are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Any excess of net assets of a subsidiary over the cost of an acquisition is treated in terms of the Group's accounting policy on goodwill.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the CSIR's Annual Financial Statements.

Interest in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control, through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Interest in associates (continued)

the investee. The Group's share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates is incorporated in the consolidated financial statements, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases, using the equity method of accounting. The carrying amount of such interests is reduced to recognise any impairment, other than a temporary impairment, in the value of individual investments.

Where a group enterprise transacts with an associate company, unrealised gains and losses are eliminated to the extent of the group's interest in the relevant associate company, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

Any excess of net assets of an associate over the cost of an acquisition is treated in terms of the Group's accounting policy on goodwill.

Investments in associates are measured at cost less accumulated

impairment losses in the CSIR's Annual Financial Statements.

Interest in joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the CSIR and other parties undertake economic activity, which is subject to joint control.

The Group's share of the total recognised gains and losses of jointlycontrolled entities is incorporated in the consolidated financial statements, from the date that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases, using the equity method of accounting. The carrying amount of such interests is reduced to recognise any impairment, other than a temporary impairment, in the value of individual investments.

Where a group enterprise transacts with a joint venture, unrealised gains and losses are eliminated to the extent of the group's interest in the relevant joint venture, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an investee, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee

Any excess of net assets of a joint venture over the cost of an acquisition is treated in terms of the Group's accounting policy on goodwill. Investments in joint ventures are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the CSIR's Annual Financial Statements.

Foreign currencies

Foreign operations

All foreign subsidiaries of the CSIR are foreign operations.

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into South African rand as follows:

- Assets and liabilities, including goodwill and fair value adjustments on consolidation, at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting entities' financial year-end;
- Revenue, expenditure and cash flow items at the average rates of exchange during the relevant financial year (the average rates approximate fair value).

Differences arising on translation are reflected as non-distributable reserves called a foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR). When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the FCTR is transferred to profit or loss.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign operations (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in other comprehensive income in the FCTR.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to South African rand at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are stated in South African rand using the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities stated at fair value are translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was determined.

Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets

Land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Buildings, plant, equipment and vehicles are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure directly attributable to acquisition. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which these are located and an appropriate proportion of production overheads.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, these are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the cost of replacing a part of such an item when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on cost less

residual value and is calculated on the straight-line method from the day the assets are available for use, at rates considered appropriate to write off carrying values over the estimated useful lives of the assets, except for assets specifically acquired for a contract, which are depreciated over the life of the contract.

The estimated lives of the main categories of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

- Buildings: 40 years
- Equipment: 3 to 10 years
- Vehicles: 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and current residual values, if not insignificant, are reassessed annually.

Intangible assets

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially-improved products and processes. Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Research and development (continued)

the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group's interest in the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, associate or joint venture at the date of the acquisition (refer to basis of consolidation). All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of a joint venture or an associated company is included within the carrying amount of the joint venture or associated company. Goodwill arising from a subsidiary is presented separately in the statement of financial position and tested annually for impairment and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associated company, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

When an excess arising on an acquisition is negative (negative goodwill), it is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is expensed as incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is based on cost and calculated on the straight-line method at rates considered appropriate to write off carrying values over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets with definite useful lives. Intangible assets are amortised from the day they are available for use.

The estimated lives of intangible assets with definite useful lives are as follows:

- Investment in technology: 3 to 10 years
- Development expenditure and intellectual property: 1 to 3 years

Impairment

Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss in respect of an available-forsale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value.

Individually-significant financial assets and those that have been identified as impaired are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset recognised previously in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) Financial assets (continued)

to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. For available-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, the reversal is recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cashgenerating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cashgenerating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets (or components of a disposal group) are remeasured in accordance with the Group's accounting policies. Thereafter, the assets (or disposal group) are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

Retirement benefits Pension fund

The Group operates a defined contribution plan, the assets of which are held in a separate trusteeadministered fund. The benefits payable by the fund in the future, due to retirements and withdrawals from the fund, are contributions to the fund together with fund interest at a rate determined by the valuator with the consent of the trustees. The rate is so determined that the value of the total of the fund shall not exceed the value of the total assets of the fund. The Group's contribution to the plan is charged to the statement of comprehensive income when due.

Post-retirement benefits other than pensions

The Group provides post-retirement

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Post-retirement benefits other than pensions (continued)

medical benefits to qualifying employees, which is deemed to be a defined benefit plan. The expected costs of these benefits are determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each reporting date. Contributions are made to the relevant funds over the expected service lives of the employees entitled to those funds. The estimated cost of providing such benefits is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a systematic basis over the employees' working lives within the Group.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the statement of comprehensive income in the year when actuarially determined. The amount recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the post-retirement medical aid contribution reduced by the fair value of the plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to actuarial losses and the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Inventory and contracts in progress

Raw materials and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventory is determined by the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in selling.

Contracts in progress are stated as a percentage of the sales value of work completed, after provision for losses relating to the stage of completion and any foreseeable losses to completion of the contract, less progress billings.

Income tax

The CSIR is exempt from South African income tax. The income tax expense of subsidiary companies is reflected on Group level.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. The charge for taxation is based on the profit or loss for the year as adjusted for items that are non-taxable or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of the taxable profit. Where the tax effects of temporary differences, including those arising from tax losses, give rise to a deferred tax asset, the asset is recognised only if it is probable that future taxable profits will be sufficient to allow the tax benefit of the loss to be realised.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right and when these relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax is charged to the statement of comprehensive income Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) Income tax (continued)

except to the extent that it relates to a transaction that is recognised directly in equity. The effect on deferred tax of any changes in tax rates is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited directly to equity.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.

Government grants

Government grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income on a systematic basis over periods necessary to match the assistance with the related expenses it is intended to compensate. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted in arriving at the carrying amount of the acquired asset.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to work performed as at the reporting date.

Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus

any variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that these will result in revenue and can be measured reliably. As soon as the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses are recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract.

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to work performed as at reporting date. When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The annual Parliamentary Grant is adjusted for the grant received for projects started before year-end, but not completed as detailed above (refer to Government grants).

Royalties are accrued based on the stipulations of the applicable contracts.

Finance income/expense

Finance income/expense comprises interest receivable on funds invested, dividend income, fair value adjustments on investments and interest payable on borrowings. Interest income is recognised in the

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Finance income/expense (continued)

statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method.

Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on the date that the entity's right to receive payments is established (which is when the dividend is declared). Interest payable on borrowings is calculated using the effective interest rate method.

Expenses

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Finance lease payments

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs, when the Group has become a party to contractual provision of the instrument. Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as set out below.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment losses, which approximate the fair value of these due to the shortterm nature thereof.

Receivables originated by the Group and not held for trading are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment losses if these have a fixed maturity.

Investments and loans

Investments, other than in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, are recognised at fair value. Dividends are accounted for on the last day of registration in respect of listed investments and when declared in respect of unlisted investments. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to the statement of comprehensive income.

Loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment losses if they have a fixed maturity, or at cost if there is no fixed maturity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand is stated at amortised cost, which is its fair value. Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances, cash on deposit and cash on hand.

Forward exchange contracts

Forward exchange contracts are fair valued and gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Hedge accounting is not applied.

Trade and other payables and advances received

Trade and other payables and advances received are stated at amortised cost, which approximates the fair value of these due to the shortterm nature thereof.

De-recognition

Financial assets (or a portion thereof) are de-recognised when the Group realises the rights to the benefits specified in the contract, the rights expire or the Group surrenders or otherwise loses control and does not retain substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. On de-recognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and proceeds receivable is included in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities (or a portion thereof) are de-recognised when the obligation specified in the contract

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

De-recognition (continued)

is discharged, cancelled or expires. On de-recognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the amount paid for it is included in the statement of comprehensive income.

Fair value methods and assumptions

The fair value of financial instruments traded in an organised financial market is measured at the applicable quoted prices necessary to realise the asset or settle the liability.

The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an organised financial market is determined using a variety of valuation methods and assumptions that are based on market conditions and risk existing at the reporting date, including independent appraisals and discounted cash flow methods.

Related parties

The Group operates in an economic environment currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South African government. As a result of the constitutional independence of all three spheres of government in South Africa, only parties within the national sphere of government will be considered to be related parties.

Key management is defined as being individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. All individuals from the level of Group Executive up to the Board of Directors are regarded as key management.

Close family members of key management are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by key management individuals or other parties related to the entity.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Standards and interpretations issued, not yet effective At the date of authorisation of the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011, the following standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:

Standard/Interpretation	Description	Effective date
IFRS 1 (AC 138) amendment	Limited exemption from comparative IFRS 7 disclosures for first-time adopters.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010
	This amendment will not affect the Group's results.	
IFRIC 19 (AC 452)	Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments. IFRIC 19 is not expected to have an impact on the Group's results.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010
11 individual amendments to 6 standards	Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards 2010. The impact of these amendments on the Group's results cannot be determined at this stage.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010 or for annual periods commencing on or after 1 July 2011
Revised IAS 24 (AC 126)	Related party disclosures. The amendments will have an impact on the Group's disclosure for significant related party transactions.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011
IFRIC 14 (AC 447) amendment	Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement. The impact of this amendment on the Group's results cannot be determined at this stage.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011
IFRS 1 amendment	Severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates for first-time adopters. This amendment will not affect the Group's results.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 July 2011
IFRS 7 (AC 144) amendment	Disclosures - Transfers of financial assets. The impact of this amendment on the Group's results cannot be determined at this stage.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 July 2011
IAS 12 amendment	Deferred tax: Recovery of underlying assets. The amendment is not expected to affect the Group's results.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2012
IFRS 9 (AC 146)	Financial instruments. The impact of this amendment on the Group's results cannot be determined at this stage.	Annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2011

	GROUP				CS	IR		
	2011		2010		2011		2010	
	R′000	%	R'000	%	R′000	%	R'000	%
REVENUE								
Parliamentary Grant	535 357	31	509 122	29	535 357	31	509 122	29
Parliamentary Grant received	550 305	32	510 951	30	550 305	32	510 951	30
Less: Grant received for projects started before year-end but not completed	(57 365)	(3)	(42 417)	(3)	(57 365)	(3)	(42 417)	(3)
Add: Grant received in prior year for projects completed in this year	42 417	2	40 588	2	42 417	2	40 588	2
Contract R&D income	1 187 201	69	1 176 895	70	1 175 094	69	1 159 795	71
Local private sector	185 781	11	148 802	9	193 362	11	151 339	9
Local public sector	820 705	48	848 846	50	820 705	49	848 846	52
International sector (including Africa)	180 715	10	179 247	11	161 027	9	159 610	10
Royalties	8 616	-	10 541	1	8 616	-	10 5 1 8	-
	1 731 174	100	1 696 558	100	1 719 067	100	1 679 435	100

Contract R&D income is disclosed after taking into account the effect of the time value of money (the value of discounting) in terms of SAICA's Circular 9 of 2006: Transactions giving rise to adjustments to revenue/purchases. The value is R7,969 million (2010: R13,324 million) and is included in finance income (note 4).

Included in public sector Contract R&D income is R64,97 million (2010: R99,58 million) ring-fenced allocation from the Department of Science and Technology for specific initiatives managed through memorandums of agreement.

Included in Contract R&D income is rental income amouting to R24,45 million (2010: R25,84 million).

Estimates on Parliamentary Grant recognition are based on cost to completion, budgets and percentage of completion.

(GROUP		CSIR
2011	2010	2011	2010
R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000

OPERATING PROFIT

The net operating profit is arrived at after taking the following items into account:

Audit fees	3 501	4 225	3 423	4 157
Fees for services	4 829	6 108	4 530	5 491
Patent costs	4 611	5 660	4 312	5 043
Legal costs	218	448	218	448
Operating leases	16 036	16 169	14 988	15 057
Buildings	8 839	8 944	7 791	7 832
Equipment	4 357	4 639	4 357	4 639
Vehicles	2 840	2 586	2 840	2 586
Net realised foreign exchange (gain)/loss	(5 060)	2 684	(5 194)	3 510
Net unrealised foreign exchange loss	1 619	7 254	1 676	8 411
Board members' and Executive Management's emoluments (note 19)	19 513	17 995	17 525	15 898
Impairments/(reversals of impairments)	187	(6 944)	(813)	(7 252)
Impairment on subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates	187	464	18	461
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables	(831)	(7713)	(831)	(7713)
Impairment on intangible assets	831	305	-	-
Provision for warranty	(53)	(1 046)	-	-
Bad debt written off	544	3 558	544	3 558
Write-down of inventory to net realisable value	230	-	230	-
Loss/(profit) on disposal and write-off of property, plant and equipment	5 506	(647)	5 499	(658)
Profit on disposal of interests in joint ventures and associates	-	(559)		-
Lost and/or stolen equipment and vehicles*	800	937	800	937
Losses incurred	2 419	1 464	2 419	1 464
Losses recovered	(1 619)	(527)	(1 619)	(527)

* These are losses incurred in the normal course of the CSIR's business and are covered by the CSIR's insurance policy. The net losses incurred on these are included in the loss/(profit) on disposal and write-off of property, plant and equipment amounts.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2011

	GR	OUP	CS	IR
	2011	2010	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
FINANCE INCOME/EXPENSE				
Finance income	58 861	78 468	57 243	75 921
Interest on bank balances and investments	50 892	65 144	49 274	62 597
Adjustment on initial recognition of Contract R&D income*	7 969	13 324	7 969	13 324
Finance expense	(4 063)	(7 152)	(4 063)	(7 152)
Fair value adjustment on trade and other receivables	1	6	1	6
Adjustment on initial recognition of operating expenses*	(4 064)	(7 158)	(4 064)	(7 158)
	54 798	71 316	53 180	68 769

*These adjustments are due to the effect of the time value of money (the value of discounting) in terms of SAICA's Circular 9 of 2006: Transactions giving rise to adjustments to revenue/purchases.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The CSIR is exempt from South African income tax in terms of section 10(1)(t)(i) of the Income Tax Act, Act No 58 of 1962.

60	122
202	122
(142)	-
60	122
28%	28%
(29%)	(25%)
1%	(3%)
0%	0%
	60 202 (142) 60 28% (29%) 1% 0%

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

		2011		2010		
	Cost	Accumulated depreciation	Carrying value	Cost	Accumulated depreciation	Carrying value
	R′000	R′000	R′000	R'000	R'000	R'000
GROUP						
Land	5 549	-	5 549	5 549	-	5 549
Buildings	277 842	70 850	206 992	249 665	77 463	172 202
Equipment	630 098	453 314	176 784	608 025	438 645	169 380
Vehicles	7 426	4 271	3 155	7 154	4 082	3 072
	920 915	528 435	392 480	870 393	520 190	350 203
CSIR						
Land	5 549	-	5 549	5 549	-	5 549
Buildings	277 842	70 850	206 992	249 665	77 463	172 202
Equipment	627 767	451 358	176 409	605 351	436 991	168 360
Vehicles	7 426	4 271	3 155	7 154	4 082	3 072
	918 584	526 479	392 105	867 719	518 536	349 183

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2011

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

	Land	Buildings	Equipment	Vehicles	Total
	R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000
GROUP					
Carrying value 31 March 2009	5 549	137 197	152 042	3 187	297 975
Additions	-	35 207	60 132	285	95 624
Disposals and write-offs	-	-	(652)	-	(652)
Depreciation	-	(202)	(42 120)	(400)	(42 722)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations	-	-	(22)	-	(22)
a the set of the set o			· · · · ·		· /
Carrying value 31 March 2010	5 549	172 202	169 380	3 072	350 203
Additions	-	40 138	49 773	539	90 450
Disposals and write-offs	-	(5 146)	(982)	(32)	(6 160)
Depreciation	-	(202)	(41 386)	(424)	(42 012)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations	-	-	(1)	-	(1)
Carrying value 31 March 2011	5 549	206 992	176 784	3 1 5 5	392 480
CSIR					
Carrying value 31 March 2009	5 549	137 197	150 900	3 187	296 833
Additions	-	35 207	59 564	285	95 056
Disposals and write-offs	-	-	(564)	-	(564)
Depreciation	-	(202)	(41 540)	(400)	(42 1 4 2)
Carrying value 31 March 2010	5 549	172 202	168 360	3 072	349 183
Additions	-	40 138	49 634	539	90 311
Disposals and write-offs	-	(5 146)	(718)	(32)	(5 896)
Depreciation	-	(202)	(40 867)	(424)	(41 493)
Carrying value 31 March 2011	5 549	206 992	176 409	3 1 5 5	392 105
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Land and buildings are unencumbered and full details of the titles are available at the registered office of the CSIR.

A change in the depreciation estimate due to a change in the useful lives of equipment resulted in a R1,6 million (2010: R3,4 million) decrease in the depreciation amount for the current financial year.

Included on the previous page are assets with a cost of R306,1 million (2010: R301,5 million) that are fully depreciated as the remaining useful life is incidental.

During the current financial year, assets to the value of R28,5 million (2010: R83,9 million) were purchased with government grant funds. At year-end the cumulative value of assets purchased with government grant funds and shown at a nil cost is R244,2 million (2010: R216,9 million).

6.1 Non-current asset held for sale

A building of R94,89 million is in the process of being transferred to the Department of Public Works.

The sale of the building is subject to the finalisation of all conveyancing documentation and registration of the transfer by the relevant authorities.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

		2011			2010	
	Cost	Accumulated amortisation & impairment	Carrying value	Cost	Accumulated amortisation & impairment	Carrying value
	R′000	R′000	R′000	R'000	R'000	R'000
GROUP						
Investments in technology	10 555	10 537	18	9 697	9 65 1	46

	GROUP
	R'000
Carrying value 31 March 2009	10
Additions	406
Impairment	(305)
Amortisation	(65)
Carrying value 31 March 2010	46
Additions	858
Impairment	(831)
Amortisation	(55)
Carrying value 31 March 2011	18

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

	GRC	OUP	CS	IR
	2011	2010	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
Cost of investments less impairment losses	1]	1]
Loans to joint ventures and associates	33 937	33 937	33 937	33 937
Share of post-acquisition losses	(18 463)	(18 582)	-	-
	15 475	15 356	33 938	33 938
Impairment of joint ventures and associates	(14 056)	(13 869)	(32 562)	(32 439)
	1 419	1 487	1 376	1 499

The loans to joint ventures and associates are interest free, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Agreements have been entered into between the CSIR and certain joint ventures and associates to subordinate the loans made to those joint ventures and associates. The subordination agreements will remain in force for as long as the liabilities of the relevant joint ventures or associates exceed their assets, fairly valued.

Details of the joint ventures and associates at 31 March 2011 are as follows:

Name of	Place of	Portion of	Portion of	Principal	Carryin	g value	Financial
joint venture/ associate	incorporation	ownership interest	voting power	activity	2011	2010	year-end
			held		R'000	R′000	
Joint ventures							
Sera (Pty) Ltd	South Africa	50%	50%	Commercialisation and licensing of patents	14 056	13 869	31 March
Ellipsoid Technology (Pty) Ltd	South Africa	50%	50%	Development of encapsulation technology	1 419	1 487	31 March
Associates Eyeborn (Pty) Ltd	South Africa	26%	26%	Holding, licensing and exploitation of intellectual property technology	-	-	31 March

144

15 475 15 356

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following are details of the significant joint ventures' and associates' assets, liabilities, income and expenses:

	JOINT VENTURES GROUP		ASSO GRC	CIATES DUP
	2011	2010	2011	2010
	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000
Current assets	28 229	30 020	16	113
Non-current assets	22 593	1 076	-	-
Current liabilities	42 564	366	16	113
Non-current liabilities	48 232	67 874	-	-
Income	1 775	1 834	142	245
Expenses	3 752	2 367	142	245

INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES	CS	IR
	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000
Shares at cost less impairment losses	5 108	5 003
Indebtedness	21 088	22 526
- by subsidiaries	37 727	39 165
- impairment of loans	(16 639)	(16 639)
	26 196	27 529

Details disclosed in Addendum A.

The loans to subsidiaries are interest free, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Agreements have been entered into between the CSIR and certain subsidiaries to subordinate the loans made to those subsidiaries. The subordination agreements will remain in force for as long as the liabilities of the relevant subsidiaries exceed their assets, fairly valued.

					GR	OUP	CS	IR
					2011	2010	2011	2010
					R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
OTHER INVESTM	ENTS							
	% hald	Number of s	hares held	Class of				
	∕₀ neia	2011	2010	shares				
Unlisted shares					-	-	-	-
Breathetex (Pty) Ltd	20,1	12 000	12 000	Ordinary	11 025	11 025	11 025	11 025
		11 680	11 680	Preference				
Accumulated impairment losses					(11 025)	(11 025)	(11 025)	(11 025)
					-	-	-	-
TRADE AND OTI	HER RE	CEIVABLES						
Trade receivables					92 752	112 847	99 089	115 015
Prepaid expenditure	è				24 157	14 945	24 156	14 945
Other receivables					1 600	960	386	126
					118 509	128 752	123 631	130 086

Trade receivables are shown net of impairment losses. Refer to note 22 for more detail on trade receivables.

INVENTORY AND CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS

Contracts in progress less provision for losses	85 713	76 868	84 796	76 821
Raw materials and consumables	2 906	4 060	1 122	2 003
Work in progress	735	-	-	-
Finished goods	195	-	-	-
	89 549	80 928	85 918	78 824

Estimates on contract in progress recognition are based on cost to completion, budgets and percentage of completion. The write-down of inventory to net realisable value amounted to R230 154 (2010: R nil).

1 1

Unlisted shares				
Breathetex (Pty) Ltd	20,1	12 000	12 000	Ordinary
		11 680	11 680	Preference
Accumulated				

	GROUP		CSI	R
	2011	2010	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
DEFERRED TAX ASSET				
Balance at the beginning of the year	258	258		
Movement for the year:				
Accelerated capital allowances	32	78		
Provisions	24	21		
Impairment on trade receivables	-	(99)		
Income received in advance	86	-		
	400	258		

Two subsidiaries in the Group are in assessed loss positions and no deferred tax assets were raised for these assessed losses due to the uncertainty of the recoverability in future periods in respect of: - deductible temporary differences, and

- the carry forward of unused tax losses.

Opening balance	4 380	9 604
Assessed tax loss generated/(utilised) for the year	1 764	(5 224)
Assessed tax loss carried forward	6 1 4 4	4 380



Advances on contracts received f	from clients and stakeholders
----------------------------------	-------------------------------

Included in advances received is an amount of R116,8 million excluding VAT (2010: R116,8 million excluding VAT) that relates to the transfer of the building to the Department of Public Works (refer note 6.1).

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accounts payable and accruals	402 014	305 847	402 879	306 413
Salary related accruals	124 528	139 348	124 003	139 348
	526 542	445 195	526 882	445 761

PROVISIONS	2011					
	Opening balance	Additional provisions	Utilised & reversed	Closing balance		
GROUP	R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000		
Warranty provision The warranty provision relates to goods sold under a 12 month warranty. The provision amount is determined based on a percentage of the replacement value of all sales made within the current financial year. This percentage is management's estimate of the likely returns of goods under warranty for repairs.	381	328	(381)	328		
-	381	328	(381)	328		

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

GR	OUP	CSIR	
2011	2010	2011	2010
R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000

Financial commitments under non-cancellable operating leases will result in the following payments falling due:

Within one year:	5 938	6 701	5 817	6 21 1
Land and buildings	4 311	4 670	4 1 9 0	4 180
Vehicles	1 627	2 031	1 627	2 031
Within two to five years:	2 442	6 868	2 442	6 868
Land and buildings	1 485	5 039	1 485	5 039
Vehicles	957	1 829	957	1 829

Agreements relating to operating lease payments for vehicles vary from 12 to 60 months and payments are fixed for the term of the agreements.

The CSIR leases buildings under operating leases. The lease periods vary from 24 to 60 months. Lease payments are increased with a fixed annual escalation percentage to reflect market rentals. None of the leases include contingent rentals.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS OF EMPLOYEES

18.1 CSIR Pension Fund

The fund is registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 1956, and is a defined contribution plan. The CSIR's liability to the fund is limited to paying the employer contributions. Life cover and dependants' pensions are fully secured by a continued income and life insurance policy. All the CSIR's permanent employees are members of the fund.

Employer contributions of R63,5 million (2010: R56,1 million) and employee contributions of R37,2 million (2010: R32,9 million) were paid over during the year. Employer contributions are charged against income when incurred.

18.2 Mine Officials Pension Fund and Sentinel

At the time of the merger with the Chamber of Mines Research Organisation (COMRO) in 1993, certain COMRO (Sentinel Mining) employees elected to remain members of the Mine Officials Pension Fund and Sentinel (previously Chamber of Mines Pension Fund). In terms of the agreement with the Chamber of Mines, this election holds no liability for the CSIR other than paying the monthly employee contributions. The funds are defined benefit plans.

On 1 March 2001 the members of the Chamber of Mines Pension Fund moved to Sentinel.

In respect of the two employees (2010: two employees) who had formally converted their secondment to a CSIR appointment, employer contributions of R92 222 (2010: R107 781) and employee contributions of R50 966 (2010: R59 437) were paid over during the year. Employer contributions are charged against income when incurred.

18.3 Associated Institutions Pension Fund (AIPF)

The fund is a defined benefit plan. The formula used to determine pensions is based on the pensionable earnings of the final year, and the aggregate period of uninterrupted membership.

The CSIR has one employee (2010: two employees) who is a member of the AIPF as at 31 March 2011. The fund is controlled by the state, which has assumed responsibility for the unfunded portions of these funds.

Employer contributions of R9 847 (2010: R12 577) and employee contributions of R6 154 (2010: R7 860) were paid over during the year to the AIPF.

18.4 Post-retirement medical benefits

The CSIR has a post-retirement medical benefit obligation to certain qualifying retired CSIR employees (pensioners) that joined the CSIR prior to 30 September 1996. An offer was made to qualifying pensioners in December 2005 to accept an annuity, payable from an independant source, equivalent to the value of their medical subsidy. The pensioners who accepted the offer are no longer entitled to a subsidy from the CSIR.

The accumulated benefit obligation and the annual cost of accrual of benefits are assessed by independent, qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The estimated present value of the anticipated expenditure for the remaining 24 continuation members (2010: 26 continuation members) was recalculated by the actuaries as at 31 March 2011 and will be funded through cash and cash equivalents. These cash and cash equivalents have not been set aside specifically for this benefit.

GR	OUP	CS	IR
2011	2010	2011	2010
R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000

RETIREMENT BENEFITS OF EMPLOYEES

18.4 Post-retirement medical benefits (continued)

The amount included in the statement of financial position arising from the CSIR's obligation in respect of post-retirement medical benefits is as follows:

Present value of obligations	10 142	9 875	10 142	9 875
Net liability on statement of financial position	10 142	9 875	10 142	9 875

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of the scheme are as follows:

Interest cost	860	709	860	709
Actuarial loss recognised during the year	49	304	49	304
	909	1 013	909	1 013

Movement in the net liability recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows:

Net liability at the beginning of the year	9 875	8 862	9 875	8 862		
Movement for the year	267	1 013	267	1 013		
Net expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income Settlements	909 (642)	1 013	909 (642)	1 013		
Net liability at the end of the year	10 142	9 875	10 142	9 875		

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:

Discount rate at 31 March	9.00%	8.00%	9.00%	8.00%
Medical inflation costs	4.80%	3.85%	4.80%	3.85%

The above results are sensitive to changes in the assumed future rate of medical inflation.

The effect of a one percent increase in the as	ssumed future rate c	of medical inflation	would have the follo	wing effects:
Effect on defined benefit obligation	755	749	755	749

The effect of a one percent decrease in the assumed future rate of medical inflation would have the following effects:

Effect on defined benefit obligation	(664)	(6	557)	(664)	(657)
Historical information	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007
Present value of the defined benefit obligation	10 142	9 875	8 862	8 595	12 751
Deficit in the plan	10 142	9 875	8 862	8 595	12 751

REMUNERATION OF BOARD MEMBERS, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

				Managerial Se	rvices	
	Entity	Fees for services as director	Basic salary	Bonuses and performance- related payments	Retirement fund and medical aid contributions	Total
		R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000
Board members and Executive Directors						
Dr S Sibisi	CSIR	-	2 720	1 678	452	4 850
Foreign subsidiaries						
Mr AA Davidson	Quotec Limited (UK)	-	917	-	16	933
Dr A Hickman	Quotec Limited (UK)	-	1 040	-	15	1 055
Remunerated in British pound						
Non-executive Board members						
Mr N Behrens	CSIR	47	-	-	-	47
Mr P Benadè (from Sept 2010)	CSIR	42	-	-	-	42
Professor DR Hall (until March 2011)	CSIR	16	-	-	-	16
Mr A Knott-Craig	CSIR	79	-	-	-	79
Professor F Petersen	CSIR	64	-	-	-	64
Mr M Sibanda	CSIR	79	-	-	-	79
Mr M Silinga	CSIR	42	-	-	-	42
Ms KL Thoka	CSIR	47	-	-	-	47
Professor M Wingfield	CSIR	47	-	-	-	47
Executive Management						
Dr T Dlamini	CSIR	-	1 587	648	137	2 372
Dr JH Maree	CSIR	-	1 646	778	242	2 666
Ms K Njobe (until March 2011)	CSIR	-	1 621	662	200	2 483
Mr CR Sturdy	CSIR	-	1 555	716	264	2 535
Mr RM Zondo	CSIR	-	1 422	591	143	2 156
2011	-	463	12 508	5 073	1 469	19 513

REMUNERATION OF BOARD MEMBERS, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT (continued)

	Managerial Services					
	Entity	Fees for services as director	Basic salary	Bonuses and performance- related payments	Retirement fund and medical aid contributions	Total
		R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000
Board members and Executive Directors						
Dr S Sibisi	CSIR	-	2 504	1 861	419	4 784
Foreign subsidiaries						
Mr AA Davidson	Quotec Limited (UK)	-	938	-	12	950
Dr A Hickman	Quotec Limited (UK)	-	1 134	-	13	1 147
Remunerated in British pound						
Non-executive Board members						
Mr N Behrens	CSIR	30	-	-	-	30
Professor DR Hall	CSIR	37	-	-	-	37
Mr A Knott-Craig	CSIR	67	-	-	-	67
Professor F Petersen	CSIR	60	-	-	-	60
Mr M Sibanda	CSIR	69	-	-	-	69
Mr M Silinga	CSIR	35	-	-	-	35
Ms KL Thoka	CSIR	52	-	-	-	52
Professor M Wingfield	CSIR	15	-	-	-	15
Executive Management						
Dr T Dlamini	CSIR	-	1 259	421	101	1 781
Dr JH Maree	CSIR	-	1414	813	209	2 436
Ms K Njobe	CSIR	-	1 424	730	173	2 327
Mr CR Sturdy	CSIR	-	1 355	744	210	2 309
Mr RM Zondo	CSIR	-	1 221	551	124	1 896
2010		365	11 249	5 1 2 0	1 261	17 995

	GROUP		CSIR	
	2011	2010	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND FACILITIES				
Facilities of subsidiaries guaranteed by the CSIR	20 000	20 000	20 000	20 000

Legal costs and litigation:

In the nature of the CSIR's business, agreements with complex deliverables may be entered into. All necessary steps are taken to manage the risks inherent to these transactions. If and when it is evident that there is a reasonable probability that a dispute on a transaction could lead to costs against the CSIR, such costs will be disclosed.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Property, plant and equipment	9 337	7 770	9 337	7 770
This capital expenditure is to be financed from internal sources.				

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- market risk
- credit risk
- liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks and the Group's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group's risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group Audit and Risk Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 22.1 Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily the rand, and on investments in foreign operations. The Group enters into forward exchange contracts to buy specified amounts of foreign currencies in the future at a predetermined exchange rate.

Forward exchange contracts are entered into mainly to cover import orders. The Group has no policy to enter into forward exchange contracts for anticipated foreign receipts. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows:

	31 March 2011					
	Total	ZAR	EURO	USD	GBP	Other
	R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000	R'000	R′000
Trade receivables	92 752	77 860	2 950	10 491	1 088	363
Bank accounts	179 663	92 143	17 336	68 378	1 745	61
Trade payables	(526 542)	(518 275)	(2 349)	(4 903)	(996)	(19)
Gross statement of financial position exposure	(254 127)	(348 272)	17 937	73 966	1 837	405
Forward exchange contracts	(1 109)	-	-	-	-	(1 109)
Net exposure	(255 236)	(348 272)	17 937	73 966	1 837	(704)

			31 Marc	h 2010		
	Total	ZAR	EURO	USD	GBP	Other
	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000
Trade receivables	112 847	96 869	4 397	9 293	1 268	1 020
Bank accounts	87 764	24 646	8 586	53 658	697	177
Trade payables	(445 195)	(443 283)	-	-	(1912)	-
Gross statement of financial position exposure	(244 584)	(321 768)	12 983	62 951	53	1 197
Forward exchange contracts	(2 564)	-	(2 564)	-	-	-
Net exposure	(247 148)	(321 768)	10 419	62 951	53	1 197

GROUP				
2011	2010			

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 22.1 Market risk (continued)

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

	R	R
Average rate of forward exchange contracts		
Euro	-	9.9392
CHF	7.4239	-
Year-end spot rate		
Euro	9.6418	9.9426
USD	6.8387	7.3926
GBP	10.9642	11.1420

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the rand against the following currencies at 31 March would have decreased profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

	R′000	R'000
Euro	(1 794)	(1 042)
USD	(7 397)	(6 295)
GBP	(184)	(5)
Other	70	(120)

A 10% weakening of the rand against the above currencies at 31 March would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate exposure and investment strategies are evaluated by management on a regular basis. Interest-bearing investments are held with several reputable banks in order to minimise exposure.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments was as follows:

Fixed rate instruments: Carrying amount	R′000	R'000
Financial assets: Fixed deposits	567 795	518 115

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 22.1 Market risk (continued)

	GROUP	
	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000
Variable rate instruments: Carrying amount		
inancial assets: Call deposits	261 289	193 724
-inancial assets: Bank balances	179 663	87 764
	440 952	281 488

Sensitivity analysis

An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010.

4 4 1 0

2815

Variable rate instruments

A decrease of 100 basis points would have had the equal but opposite effect to the amounts shown above.

22.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's bank balances and deposits, trade and other receivables and loans to joint ventures, associates and subsidiaries.

Trade and other receivables and loans to joint ventures, associates and subsidiaries

Trade and other receivables and loans to joint ventures, associates and subsidiaries are presented net of impairment losses. Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Group's customer base and their dispersion across different industries and geographical areas. Accordingly, the Group does not have a significant concentration of credit risk.

The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the statement of financial position represent the Group's exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty.

Bank balances and deposits

The Group's bank balances and cash are placed with high credit, quality financial institutions.

Guarantees

Refer to note 20 for details on bank guarantees issued with respect to facilities.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 22.2 Credit risk (continued)

GROUP				
2011	2010			
R′000	R'000			

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Held-to-maturity investments:		
- Current fixed deposits	567 795	518 115
Other cash and cash equivalents:		
- Call deposits	261 289	193 724
- Bank balances	179 663	87 764
- Cash on hand and cash deposits	656	379
Loans and receivables:		
- Trade and other receivables	118 509	128 752
- Contracts in progress less provision for losses	85 713	76 868
	1 213 625	1 005 602

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was:

Local public	76 253	71 173
Local private	727	22 611
International	15 772	19 063
	92 752	112 847

The Group's most significant customers are government institutions.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

22.2 Credit risk (continued)

	2011		2010	
	Gross	Impairment	Gross	Impairment
	R′000	R′000	R'000	R'000
The aging of the Group's trade receivables at the reporting date was:				
Not past due	54 021	387	82 305	1 909
Past due 0 - 30 days	19 748	342	19 059	1 935
Past due 31 - 120 days	18 965	807	15 060	3 205
Past due more than 120 days	10 285	8 731	7 521	4 049
	103 019	10 267	123 945	11 098

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

	GROUP	
	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000
Relence et 1 April	11 009	10 011
	(021)	10 011
Impaiment loss reversed	(031)	(/ / 13)
Balance at 31 March	10 267	11 098

The allowance account in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against the financial asset directly.

The movement in the impairment allowance account is due mainly to the following: recoveries of R7,6 million (2010: R11,7 million), utilisation of R2,6 million (2010: R6,3million) and new impairment allowances of R9,4 million (2010: R10,3 million).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 22.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as these fall due. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

The Group monitors its cash flow on a daily basis. Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot be predicted reasonably, such as natural disasters.

The CSIR has a short-term general banking facility of R500 000 (2010: R500 000) available.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements for the Group:

		2011			2010	
	Carrying amount	Contractual	cash flows	Carrying amount	Contractual	cash flows
		6 months or less	6 - 12 months		6 months or less	6 - 12 months
	R′000	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000	R'000
Non-derivative financial liabilities Trade and other payables	(526 542)	(526 542)	-	(445 195)	(445 195)	-
Derivative financial liabilities	(20)	(1.107)		(115)	10 6701	
Forward exchange contracts	(28)	(36)	-	(CII)	(20/9)	-
	(526 570)	(527 678)	-	(445 310)	(447 874)	-

	GROUP	
	2011	2010
	R	R
Rate of forward exchange contracts:		
Euro	-	10.3849
CHF	7.6104	-

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2011

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

22.4 Fair values

At 31 March 2011 the carrying amount of bank balances and cash, deposits, trade and other receivables, contracts in progress and trade and other payables approximated their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

Basis for determining fair values

Interest free employee loans

The fair value of interest free employee loans is calculated based on the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Trade and other receivables and trade and other payables

The fair value of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables is calculated based on the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the average return on investment rate at the reporting date.

22.5 Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
31 March 2011				
Derivative financial liabilities		(28)		(28)
31 March 2010				
Derivative financial liabilities		(115)		(115)
Derivative financial liabilities		(115)		(11;

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT TO CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

	GROUP		CSIR	
	2011	2010	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
Operating profit for the year before taxation	33 955	57 729	35 511	52 422
Adjusted for:				
Profit on disposal of interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates	-	(559)	-	-
Depreciation and amortisation	42 067	42 787	41 493	42 142
Net unrealised foreign exchange loss	1 619	7 254	1 676	8 411
Net finance income	(54 798)	(71316)	(53 180)	(68 769)
Post-retirement medical benefits	909	1013	909	1013
Straight-lining adjustment of operating leases	(148)	45	(148)	45
Leave accrual and warranty provision	3 912	7 080	3 939	8 126
Impairments/(reversals of impairments)	187	(6 944)	(813)	(7 252)
Loss/(profit) on disposal and write-off of property, plant and equipment	5 506	(647)	5 499	(658)
Share of (profit)/loss of joint ventures and associates	(119)	214	-	-
Bad debt written off	544	3 558	544	3 558
Write-down of inventory to net realisable value	230	-	230	-
Operating profit before changes in working capital	33 864	40 214	35 660	39 038
Decrease in trade and other receivables	10 020	13 444	6 247	38 154
Increase in inventory and contracts in progress	(9 427)	(4 676)	(7 900)	(5 692)
Increase/(decrease) in advances received	134 683	(77 791)	134 683	(77 791)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables and provisions	76 998	(30 266)	76 799	(36 505)
Net working capital changes	212 274	(99 289)	209 829	(81 834)
Cash generated/(utilised) from operating activities	246 138	(59 075)	245 489	(42 796)

GROUP **CSIR** 2011 2010 2011 2010 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 **CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS** Fixed deposits 567 795 518 115 543 000 491 000 Call deposits 193 724 261 289 255 000 189 000 Bank balances 179 663 87 764 177 107 85 903 Cash on hand and cash deposits 656 379 648 375 1 009 403 799 982 975 755 766 278

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The CSIR is one of 29 schedule 3B National Government Business Enterprises in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999, and therefore falls within the national sphere of government. As a consequence, the CSIR has a significant number of related parties, being entities that fall within the national and provincial sphere of government. Amounts due from/(to) these entities are subject to the same terms and conditions as normal trade receivables and trade payables.

In addition, the CSIR has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries (see Addendum A) and joint ventures and associates (see note 8). Unless specifically disclosed, these transactions are concluded at arm's length and the Group is able to transact with any entity.

25.1 Transactions with related parties

The following is a summary of transactions with related parties during the year and balances due at year-end:

Constitutional institutions				
Services rendered	10	-	10	-
Services received	93	335	93	335
Amount due to	(2)	-	(2)	-
Major public entities				
Services rendered	233 232	216 163	233 232	216 163
Services received	25 570	6 7 5 9	25 570	6 759
Amount due from	10 112	16 778	10 112	16 778

	GROUP		CS	IR
	2011 2010		2011	2010
	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 25.1 Transactions with related parties (continued) National public entities				
Services rendered	70 720	61 292	70 720	61 292
Services received	8 334	2 297	8 334	2 297
Amount due from	15 268	7 163	15 268	7 163
National government business enterprises				
Services rendered	2 722	2 302	2 722	2 302
Services received	4 789	3 101	4 789	3 101
Amount due from/(to)	805	(2 478)	805	(2 478)
Provincial public entities Services rendered Amount due from	377	1 421 309	377 -	1 421 309
Provincial government business enterprises				
Services rendered	3 278	2 460	3 278	2 460
Services received	175	10	175	10
Amount due from	421	331	421	331
Government departments				
Services rendered	968 636	924 890	968 636	924 890
Services received	43 251	5 801	43 251	5 801
Amount due from	42 622	84 192	42 622	84 192

	GROUP		CS	IR
	2011	2010	2011	2010
	R′000	R'000	R′000	R'000
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)				
25.1 Transactions with related parties (continued)				
Subsidiaries				
Services rendered			9 580	4 485
Services received			4 703	3 858
Amount due from/(to)			4 017	(212)
Associates				
Services rendered	280	527	280	527
Amount due from	-	80	-	80

25.2 Transactions with key management

Total remuneration of key management is included in employees' remuneration (refer to note 19 for Executive Management'sremuneration).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 26.1 Satellite Application Centre (SAC)

In terms of the South African National Space Agency Act, Act No 36 of 2008, the South African National Space Agency (SANSA) was established as a separate public entity, the Executive Authority of which is the Minister of Science and Technology.

Pursuant to the said Act, all rights, obligations, assets and liabilities acquired or incurred by the Satellite Applications Centre (SAC) are, by agreement, transferred to SANSA as from 1 April 2011 and similarly all employees of the former SAC are transferred to SANSA.

	2011
	R′000
Profit attributable to SAC is as follows:	
Revenue	85 573
Employees' remuneration	(23 701)
Operating expenses	(58 424)
Profit for the year	3 448
Assets and liabilities attributable to SAC are as follows:	
Assets	
Non-current assets	17 965
Property, plant and equipment	17 965
Current assets	20 344
Trade and other receivables	4 036
Inventory and contracts in progress	192
Bank balances and cash on hand	16 1 16
Total assets	38 309
Equity and liabilities	
Reserves	25 693
Retained earnings	25 693
Current liabilities	12616
Advances received	4 930
Trade and other payables	7 686
Total equity and liabilities	38 309

Addendum A: Interest in subsidiaries

	Interests of the CSIR						
Consolidated subsidiaries	Country of incorporation	Issued capital	Effective holding		Financial year-end	Shares at cost less accumulated impairment losses	
			2011	2010		2011	2010
		R′000	%	%		R′000	R′000
Direct investments							
Technology Finance Corporation (Pty) Ltd (Technifin)	South Africa	5 200	100	100	31 March	4 650	4 650
Technovent (Pty) Ltd	South Africa	5 000	100	100	31 March	-	-
Quotec Limited	United Kingdom	20	100	100	31 March	458	353
						5 108	5 003
Indirect investments Included in Technovent (Pty) Ltd carrying value:					-		
Uvirco Technologies (Pty) Ltd*	South Africa	-	100	100	31 March	-	-
Ulwazi Biotech (Pty) Ltd**	South Africa	-	100	100	31 March	-	-

* Issued capital R100 and shares at cost R100

 ** Issued capital R1 and shares at cost R1

The Group has interests in three dormant companies. Details of these interests are available at the CSIR's registered office.

Interests of the CSIR						
Net indebtne	ss less accum	nulated impair	ment losses	Net inve	estment	General nature of business
to subsid	iaries	by subsid	iaries			
2011	2010	2011	2010	2011	2010	
R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000	R′000	
-	-	12 000	13 262	16 650	17912	The acquisition and transfer of technology to industry by licensing new inventions, providing finance to develop technology and venture capital for the exploitation thereof.
-	-	4 361	4 464	4 361	4 464	The company sources technologies and entrepreneurs from the CSIR, other S&T institutions, universities or any developer of technology and develops these into viable businesses with the aim of spinning them off for capital gain and/or public good.
-	-	4 727	4 800	5 185	5 153	The principal activity of the company is that of consulting on technology auditing, technology evaluation and technology transfer on behalf of clients in the public and private sectors.
-	-	21 088	22 526	26 196	27 529	

The company manufactures and distributes high technology cameras for use in detecting faults on overhead electricity distribution lines.

The principal activities of the company are to develop, commercialise and market naturally derived products for the biotechnology and pharmaceutical markets.

Disclosure of expenditure relating to the **2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup**

Details of the distribution of soccer tickets acquired for the 2011 financial year-end are as follows:

	Quantity	R'000
Clients/stakeholders	10	115
Accounting authority: Executive	3	34
Accounting authority: Non-executive	2	23
Senior management	16	97
Other employees	9	45
	40	314

Details of other world cup apparel acquired for the 2011 financial year-end are as follows:

	Quantity	R′000
Shirts	535	273
Makarapas	42	15
Soccer balls	15	1
Vuvuzelas	40	1
Flags	12	1
	644	291

None of the above expenditure was funded from CSIR Parliamentary Grant income.

2010 FIFA SOCCER WORLD CUP

ABBREVIATIONS

ACCESS	Applied Centre for Climate and Earth Systems	GPS	Global Positioning System
	Science	HCD	Human Capital Development
AMD	Acid mine drainage	HEI	Higher education institution
AMESD	African Monitoring of the Environment for	HiMA	High-modulus asphalt
	Sustainable Development	HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
BB4All	Broadband for All	HPN	High performance nodes
B-BBEE	Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment	HR	Human Resources
BMS	Bridge management system	HWIL	Hardware in the Loop
BP5	Bio-prospecting 5	IAM	Immovable asset management
CEO	Chief Executive Officer	ICRA	International Conference on Robotics and
CFD	Computational fluid dynamics		Automation
ChloroGIN	Chlorophyll Globally Integrated Network	ICT	Information and Communications Technology
CO2	Carbon dioxide	IFAC	International Federation of Automatic Control
COH WHS	Cradle of Humankind World Heritage Site	IMT	Institute of Maritime Technology
CSIR	Council for Scientific and Industrial Research	IOCCP	International Ocean Carbon Coordination
CSP	Concentrating solar power		Programme
CUT	Central University of Technology	IP	Intellectual Property
DBSA	Development Bank of Southern Africa	KPI	Key Performance Indicator
DEA	Department of Environmental Affairs	KRA	Key Results Area
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	KZN	KwaZulu-Natal
DRFM	Digital Radio Frequency Memory	MIAS	Mobile Intelligent Autonomous Systems
DST	Department of Science and Technology	MDR	Multi-drug resistant
DWA	Department of Water Affairs	MDR-TB	Multi-drug resistant Tuberculosis
EAMNet	Europe-Africa Marine-Network	MEng	Master of Engineering
EU	European Union	MHSC	Mine Health and Safety Council
EW	Electronic Warfare	MSc	Master of Science
Gbps	Gigabit per second	MTSF	Medium Term Strategic Framework
GDP	Gross Domestic Product	NCNSM	National Centre for Nano-Structured Materials
GEO	Group on Earth Observation	NEPAD	New Partnership for Africa's Development
GEO BON	Group on Earth Observation Biodiversity	NFEPA	National Freshwater Ecosystem Priority Areas
	Observation Network	NIKMAS	National Indigenous Knowledge Management
GEOSS	Global Earth Observation System of Systems		System
GIAMA	Government Immovable Asset Management Act	NLDTF	National Lottery Distribution Trust Fund
GIS	Geographic Information System	NREN	National Research and Education Network

CSIR ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

NSI	National System of Innovation	SASCOC	South African Sports Confederation and Olympic
OEL	Occupational exposure limit		Committee
OGC	Open Geospatial Consortium	SAWS	South African Weather Service
PCI	Peripheral component interconnect	SET	Science, Engineering and Technology
PCT	Patent Cooperation Treaty	SETI	Science, Engineering and Technology Institution
PED	Pin entry device	SEWES	Sensors and Electronic Warfare Engagement
PFMA	Public Finance Management Act		Simulation
PhD	Doctor of Philosophy	Si	Silicon
PIN	Personal Identification Number	SIMRAC	Safety in Mines Research Advisory Council
PNC	Polymer Nano-Composite	siRNA	Small interfering Ribonucleic Acid
POC	Point-of-care	SKA	Square Kilometre Array
PULSE	Public Understanding of Laser Science and	SMS	Short Message Service
	Engineering	SOCCO	Southern Ocean Carbon-Climate Observatory
QR	Quick Response	SOE	State-Owned Enterprise
R&D	Research and Development	SRP	Strategic Research Panel
RAP	Research Advisory Panel	SWEOS	Safe Water Earth Observation System
RCS	Radar Cross Section	ТВ	Tuberculosis
RDI	Research, development and innovation	TEI	Tertiary Education Institution
R, D & I	Research, development and implementation	TENET	Tertiary Education Network
RIA	Research Impact Area	TIA	Technology Innovation Agency
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid	TNPA	Transnet National Ports Authority
ROPS	Roll over protection system	UBRD	Ultrasonic Broken Rail Detector
RRA	Regional Research Alliance	UIRI	Uganda Industrial Research Institute
SA	South Africa	UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific And
SABITA	Southern African Bitumen Association		Cultural Organization
SADC	Southern African Development Community	UP	University of Pretoria
SAIAB	South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity	USA	United States of America
SALT	South African Large Telescope	VO	Village operator
SANAP	South Africa's National Antarctic Programme	WAITRO	World Association of Industrial and
SANBI	South African National Biodiversity Institute		Technological Research Organisations
SANBio	Southern African Network for Biosciences	Wits	Witwatersrand
SANParks	South African National Parks	WMN	Wireless Mesh Network
SANRAL	South African National Road Agency Ltd	WWF-SA	World Wildlife Fund South Africa
SANReN	South African National Research Network	XDR	Extensively drug-resistant
SANSA	South African National Space Agency		

ISBN: 978-0-7988-55-98-3 RP96/2011 Published by CSIR Strategic Communications and Stakeholder Relations Design & Production: BrandBuilders (012 346 3451)

Printed on Hi-Q Titan Plus environmentally-friendly paper.



PO Box 395, Pretoria, 0001, South Africa

Published by: CSIR Strategic Communications and Stakeholder Relations

Enquiries: Tel +27 12 841 2911

E-mail: query@csir.co.za